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CITATION: Cash Store Financial Services (Re), 2014 ONSC 4326
COURT FILE NO.: CV-14-10518-00CL
DATE: 2014-08-05

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO

RE: IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-36 AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES, THE CASH STORE INC.,, TCS CASH
STORE INC., INSTALOANS INC,, 7252331 CANADA INC,, 5515433 MANITOBA
INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD. doing business as “THE TITLE STORE”

BEFORE:

Regional Senior Justice Morawetz

COUNSEL: Jeremy Dacks, for the Chief Restructuring Officer of the Applicants

HEARD:

Introduction

Heather Meredith, for the FTI Canada Consulting Canada Inc., Monitor
Robert W. Staley and Raj S. Sahni and Jonathan Bell, for 0678786 B.C. Ltd.

Alan Merskey and Orestes Pasparakis, for Coliseum Capital Partners LP,
Coliseum Capital Partners II LP, Blackwell Partners LLC, Alta Fundamental
Advisors Master LP and the Ad Hoc Committee of Cash Store Noteholders in
their representative capacities as DIP Lenders, First Lien Noteholders and Holders
of Senior Secured Notes

Brendan O’Neill, for the Ad Hoc Committee of Cash Store Noteholders
Andrew Hatnay, James Harnum and Adrian Scotchmer, for Tim Yeoman,
Brett Harrison, for Trimor Annuity Focus LP, No. 5

June 11 and June 16, 2014

ENDORSEMENT

1] Cash Store (as defined below) is a payday lending company operating under CCAA

protection.

2] Cash Store is not a conventional lender, When operating in the “normal course”, Cash
Store acts as a broker charging a fee of 23% of funds advanced, paid by its customers with the
fee being taken directly off the loan proceeds.
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(3] On paper, Cash Store obtains funding from sources which include a number of third party
lenders (“TPLs™). On paper, these TPLs provide Cash Store with funds which Cash Store, as
broker, then lends to Cash Store customers, On paper, the loans are assigned to the TPLs. On
paper, the TPLs “own” all payments received from the customers. These payments are
comprised of principal and interest. Interest is charged at a rate of 59% per annum. On paper,
Cash Store is required to keep TPL funds segregated. On paper, the operating model leads to a
conclusion that the relationship between TPLs and Cash Store is not a debtor-creditor
relationship, but is one where Cash Store functions as a broker,

[4] However, the manner in which Cash Store business operations were conducted differed
substantially from that set out “on paper”. Specifically, interest payments did not flow to the
TPLs at the contract tate of 59% - or even at 59% less a bad debt expense, or after an allowance
for impaired loans. Rather, Cash Store would make “voluntary payments” or “retention
payments” at the rate of 17.5% (in some cases; 20%) to the TPLs as “an inducement” to ensure
the continued support of the TPLs.

[5] Payments received from Cash Store customers were used in the operations of Cash Store,
Cash Store did not keep payments that it received from its customers in a segregated account for
TPLs. The TPLs did not audit the accounts of Cash Store.

[6] Cash Store breached a number of contractual agreements., Cash Store defaulted on its
obligations, The management team of Cash Store has departed and Cash Store has filed for
protection under the CCAA. The parties that provided Cash Store with funds are now trying to
recover those funds.

[7] At the core of this motion is a dispute over whether these TPLs loaned their funds fo
Cash Store, which in turn made its own loans to its customers; or whether the funds were loaned
by the TPLs fo Cash Store’s clients, with Cash Store merely operating as a broker, If the
conclusion is the formet, the TPLs must stand in line as creditors of Cash Store. If the latter is
true, the TPLs argue they, and not Cash Store, ate the beneficial owners of certain funds in the
possession of Cash Store and of certain outstanding loans.

[8] The circumstances, and the relief sought on this motion, are set out below. I begin with
the relief sought by the various parties on the motion and cross motion. I then set out the relevant
history of the CCAA proceedings, followed by the positions of the respective parties. Finally, I
turn to an analysis of the issues.

I Relief Sought

[9] 0678786 B.C. Ltd. (formerly the McCann Family Holding Corporation) (“McCann®) is a
TPL and brings this motion for a declaration that the following property (collectively, the
“McCann Property”), including, without limitation, the McCann Loans as defined in the order of
April 30, 2014 is owned by McCann free of any interests or claims of any creditor:

a. Any loans made in the name of any third party lender and brokered by the
Cash Store Inc. and 1693926 Alberta Litd. (collectively, “Cash Store”) on
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behalf of their customers (“Customers”) using funds made available by
McCann for that purpose (the “McCann Funds™);

b. Any advances originated by Cash Store and subsequently purchased with
the McCann Funds;

C. Any loans or advances originated by Cash Store and subsequently
assigned to McCann as capital protection or otherwise (together with (a)
and (b) above, the “McCann Loans™);

d. Any amounts received by Cash Store from its customers in repayment of
the McCann Loans (the “McCann Receipts™),

€. Any accounts receivable in respect of the McCann Loans (the “McCann
Accounts Receivable™); and

f. The McCann Funds.

[10] Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership No. 5 (“Trimor”) is also a TPL and brings a
similar motion for a declaration that the following propetty (the “Trimor Property™) is owned by
Trimor free of any interests or claims of any creditor of the Applicants:

a. Any loans made in the name of Trimor and brokered by the Cash Store on
behalf of their Customers using funds made available by Trimor for that
purpose (the “Trimor Funds™);

b. Any advances originated by Cash Store and subsequently purchased with the
Trimor Funds;

c. Any loans and advances originated by Cash Store and subsequently assigned
to Trimor as capital protection or otherwise (together with (a) and (b) above,
the “Trimor Loans™);

d. Any amounts received by Cash Store from its Customers in repayment of the
Trimor Loans (the “Trimor Receipts”); *

e. Any accounts receivable in respect of the Trimor Loans (the “Trimor
Accounts Receivable™); and

f. The Trimor Funds.

[11] The lenders under the Applicams; amended and restated Debtor and Possession Term
Sheet, dated May 16, 2014, (collectively, the “DIP Lenders”) bring a cross-motion for a
declaration that:




- Page 4 -

i, the Applicants are the beneficial owners of funds described as “Trimor
Funds”, “McCann Funds”, “Trimor Receipts” and “McCann Receipts”
(collectively, the “Disputed Post-Filing Receipts”) in the Fresh as
Amended Notice of Motion of Trimor and the Fresh as Amended Notice
of Motion of McCann (collectively, the “TPL Notices of Motion™);

ii. the following transactions constitute preferences under applicable
legislation:

1. the designation by the Applicants of any
advances or loans, including brokered loans, as
advances or loan in the names of Trimor or
McCann; and

2. any assignment, whether as capital protection
or otherwise, by the Applicants to Trimor or
McCann, or in their names, of non-brokered
loans made in the names of the Applicants
(collectively, the “Reviewable Transactions”).

iii, The Reviewable Transactions shall be reversed such that the
Applicants are the beneficial owners of the assets described as “Trimor
Loans”, “Trimor Accounts Receivable”, “McCann Loans” and
“McCann Accounts Receivable” in the TPL Notices of Motion;

iv. Neither Trimor nor McCann shall take any steps to collect any
advances ot loans made to the Applicants’ Customers, irrespective of
whether such loans or advances have been designated in the name of
Trimor or McCann or otherwise assigned to Trimor or McCann by the
Applicants, and any recoveries or collections on such advances or
loans by Trimor or McCann shall be deemed to be held in trust for the
Applicants;

V. In the alterhative to (ii) through (iv) above, declaring that no steps be
taken by Trimor or McCanmn to assert an interest in, collect, or
otherwise recover any of the advance or loans made to the Applicants’
Customers, whether in the names of Trimor or McCann or otherwise,
unless the Monitor determines not to challenge the Reviewable
Transactions.

(18 Backeground of CCAA Proceedings

[12] On April 14, 2014, an initial order (the “Initial Ordet™) was granted pursuant to the
Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-36 (“CCAA”), to the Cash Store
Financial Services Inc., (“CSF”), Cash Store Inc., TCS Cash Store Inc., Instaloans Inc., 7252331
Canada Inc., 5515433 Manito Inc. and 1693926 Alberta Lid. doing business as “The Title Store”
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(collectively, the “Applicants” or “Cash Store”), providing protections to the Applicants under
the CCAA, and appointing FTT Consulting Canada Inc. as monitor (the “Monitor”).

[13]  On April 15, 2014, an amended and restated Initial Order (the “Amended and Restated
Initial Order”) was granted, which, among other things, approved an interim CCAA credit
facility (the “Initial DIP”) by Coliseum Capital LP, Coliseum Capital Partners IT LP, and
Blackwell Partners LLC (collectively, “Coliseum™), and appointed Blue Tree Advisors Inc. as
Chief Restructuring Officer of the Applicants (the “CRO”™).

[14]  On April 20, 2014, an order was granted providing certain protections for third party
lenders (“TPLs”) (McCann and Trimor are TPLs) specifically relating to repayments of loans
bearing the name of, attributable to, or assigned to, McCann and Trimor and requiring the
Applicants to maintain the $3 million minimum cash balance (the “Additional TPL Protection
Order™).

[15] On May 13, 2014, the court granted an order (the “May 13 Order”), which extended the
stay to May 16, 2014, approved a key employee retention plan and related charge, approved the
cessation of the Applicants’ brokered-loan business (the “Broker Business™) in all jurisdictions in
which it was then carried out, and authorized the CRO, in consultation with the Monitor, to
conduct an orderly cessation of such business.

[16] On May 17, 2014, an order was granted extending the stay and approving an amended
and restated term sheet providing for a DIP Facility by the following lenders (together, the “DIP
Lenders™): Coliseum, Alta Fundamental Advisors, LLC, and certain members of the Ad Hoc
Committee (the “Ad Hoc Committee”) of the Applicants” 11%% Senior Secured Notes (the
“Notes™). : ‘

[17] The TPL protections and provisions of the Additional TPL Protection Order provide as
follows:

a. A charge in favour of the TPLs (the “TPL Charge”) in the amount of Cash
Store’s cash on hand as of the effective time of the Initial Order, as security
for any valid trust or other proprictary claim of a TPL to such cash on hand,

b. A declaration that the TPLs’ entitlement to TPL brokered loans in existence at
the effective time of the Initial Order (the “TPL Brokered Loans™) is to be
determined based on the legal rights as they existed immediately prior to the
effective time, and that post-filing treatment of receipts is not relevant to
determination of the TPLs alleged entitlement to or ownership of and will not
prevent the TPLs from arguing that segregation would have been required by
them, but for the Initial Order; and

¢. Restrictions on the treatment of post-filing receipts and new TPL Brokered
Loans and requirements to keep certain minimum cash balances.
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II1. Facts

a. Monitor’s Reports

[18] As the Monitor noted in the pre-filing report, according to the Applicants the TPLs had
provided approximately $42 million of funding (the “TPL Funds”) over time in relation to
various brokered loans, The original $42 million could be accounted for as follows:

a. Restricted cash (TPL Funds received by Cash Store that are not redeployed to
other broker customers as referenced on Cash Store’s financial statements),
estimated to be approximately $14.7 million as at March 31, 2014; and

b, Amounts on loan to Customers pursuant to the Broker Agreements (defined
therein) of which approximately $8.5 million were “historic bad loans” which
the Monitor understood were outstanding since at least 2012, unlikely to be
recovered and all brokered with Trimor.

[19] The Monitor is of the understanding that the relief sought by Trimor and McCann relates
specifically to TPL, Brokered Loans that existed immediately prior to the commencement of the
CCAA proceedings and amounts collected by Cash Store in relation to the Brokered Loans after
the commencement of the CCAA proceedings (the “TPL Post-Filing Receipts™),

[20] The Monitor also noted that the question of ownership of the TPL Brokered Loans and
the specific relief sought on this motion may have broader implications on the question of
compliance with regulatory restrictions and on potential class action claims arising therefrom.

[21] The Monitor compiled and updated data relevant to these foregoing issues.

[22] As of April 13, 2014 (the day before the Initial Order), TPL Brokered Loans in the
following value were recorded in the Applicants’ books and records:

a. $5.7 million of McCann loans, which included:

i, 673 loans with a total face value of $449,000 that were written off prior to
April 13, 2014 all of which had been Cash Store direct loans that had been
assigned to McCann; and

it. 7,855 line of credit loans in Ontario with a face value of $5.26 million, all of
which had been written in Trimor’s name and subsequently transferred to
McCann

b, $16.8 million of Trimor loans, which included:

1. $4.4 million in loans that were written off prior to April 13, 2014, which included
$2,155,464 of loans that had been Cash Store direct loans that had been assigned to
Trimor;
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i, $12.4 million of brokered 1 oans that had not been wiitten off that had been written in
Trimor's name;

c. $799,114 in loans in the name of other TPL Lende1s of which $292,021 were written
off prior to April 13, 2014.

[23]  The brokered line of credit product was discontinued in Ontario as at February 12, 2014
and no TPL Brokered Loans were made in Ontatio during the CCAA proceedings.

[24] New TPL Brokered Loans were made by the Applicants outside Ontario after the Initial
Order (pursuant to the Amended and Restated Initial Order and additional TPL Protections
Order) until May 12, 2014 when the Applicants ceased the broker business, The Monitor
understands that, during this time, TPL Brokered Loans totalling $5,911,141 were made in the
name of Trimor, with no new TPL Brokered Loans made in the name of McCann,

[25] As at May 31, 2014, TPL Brokered Loans in the following value were recorded in the
Applicants’ books and records.

a. McCann: $4,274,924 of which $242,614 have been written off}
b. Trimor: $13,288,913 of which $3,059,224 have been written off;,
¢. Other TPL: $649,060 of which $266,823 have been written off,

[26] Trimor post-additional TPL Protection Order loans (i.e. loans made after the date of the
additional TPL Protection Order and before the business broker ceased in the name of Trimor for
which a declaration had been made that Trimor is the owner) totalled $2,520,540,

TPL Posi-Filing Receipts

[27]  After the additional TPL Protection Order was issued, segregated accounts were opened
to maintain the McCann Post-Filing Receipts and the Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts, After
the broker business ceased, the Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario Receipts were also deposited
into the Trimor account for post-filing receipts,

[28] The Monitor reported the following amounts in the segregated accounts as of May 6,
2014; '

a. McCann Post-Filing Receipts of $699,558
b. Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts of $690,380.
[29] = The balances in the segregated accounts as of May 27, 2014 were as follows:

a. McCann Post-Filing Receipts of $927,774
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b. Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipfts 4nd Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario Receipts of
$2,092,824. ’

[30] The balances in the segregated accounts as of June 4, 2014 were as follows:
a. McCann Post-Filing Receipts of $1,236,053

b, Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts and Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario Receipts of
$2,686,089 ‘

¢. Other TPL Lender Receipts of $175,788.
The Monitor’s Position on the Reviewable Transactions

[31] The cross motion by the DIP Lenders seeks a declaration that any designation of TPL
Brokered Loans in the name of Trimor or McCann and any assignment of non-brokered loans to
Trimor or McCann ate preferences pursuant to the CCAA and/or provincial legislation.

[32] The Monitor has advised the DIP Lenders that it is of the view that it is the Monitor who
has standing to proceed with such a challenge using the provisions of the CCAA (absent an order
equivalent to a Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act s. 38 Order authorizing the DIP Lenders to do so)
and that, at this time, the Monitor is not bringing a preference or transfer at under value
application. The Monitor advised that it continues to investigate relevant facts and is evaluating
the merits of such an application, together with its assessment of other transactions made prior to
the Initial Order.

[33] The Monitor does not take a position on the DIP Lenders’ motion pursuant to provincial
reviewable transaction legislation.

[34] McCann has requested that its legal and other professional fees incurred in or in
connection with the CCAA proceeding be paid by the Applicants and be included in the
Administration Charge. The Monitor notes that Trimor (which has not made a similar request
for relief) does not have its legal or professional fees listed in the Administration Charge
although Trimor’s legal counsel (McMillan LLP) is listed in the Amended and Restated Initial
Order among counsel whose reasonable fees and disbursements the Applicants “shall also be
entitled to pay”. The Monitor is of the understanding that this was included on the understanding
that the Applicants would not fund any Trimor fees for challenges made by Trimor against the
Applicants.

[35] The Monitor notes that it is mindful of the limited resources available in the CCAA
proceedings and that any party requesting coverage of fees pursuant to the Administration
Charge must establish that such coverage would be necessary for their effective participation in
proceedings under s. 11.52 of the CCAA.
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b. Submissions of TPLs

[36] McCann and Trimor take the position that they entrusted millions of dollars to the
Applicants for the sole purpose of brokering loans between the TPLs and Borrowers and at all
times, the TPLs retained ownership of their funds and of all the loans ultimately brokered with
those funds or otherwise purchased by or assigned to the TPLs. They also take the position that
they own any accounts receivable in respect of their loans in any amounts actually received by
the Applicants from their customers in repayment of the loan. The TPLs take the position that
this arrangement was memorialized in wiritten broker agreements.

[37] The fundamental problem with this position, as I discuss in the next section, is that the
written agreements did not accord with reality.

i

[38] McCann requests a declaration that, among other things, McCann is the sole legal and
beneficial owner of these funds, loans and receivables, as reflected in its broker agreement.
Trimor takes the same position with respect to the funds it made available to the Applicants
under its broker agreement,

[39] The TPLs take issue with the position being taken by the DIP Lenders to declare that the
TPLs’ property belongs to the Applicants. The TPLs submit that the DIP Lenders do not
articulate any plausible legal theory in support of their request but rather, they simply insist that
the TPLs are mere unsecured creditors.

[40] TFurther, the TPLs take issue with the DIP Lenders’ preference arguments which they say
are intended to attack ordinary course transactions between the Applicants and the TPLs.
McCann subniits that this issue is not properly before the Court as the right to impugn a
transaction as a preference or transfer at undervalue belongs to the Monitor, and the Monitor has
not challenged any of the transactions in question, The TPLs also take the position that the
petiod for reviewing transactions as possible preferences has lapsed and, in any event, the
evidence makes clear that the impugned transactions do not constitute preferences or transfers at
undervalue. Rather, the TPLs take the position that TPL property is, and always has been,
understood and intended to be, the property of the TPLs. They take the position that the
transaction were not intended to prefer, defraud or otherwise hinder the Applicants’ other
creditors and the TPLs did not knowingly patticipate in any fraudulent scheme or preference.

The Broker Agreements

[41] The position of the TPLs is founded on various broker agreements,

[42] On June 18, 2012, McCann and Cash Store executed a broker agreement (“Broker
Agreement”). McCann takes the position that, as financier, it made $13,350,000 in funds
available (the “McCann Funds) to Cash Store, as broker, for the sole purpose of Cash Store
brokering loans (the “MecCann Loans”) between McCann and Cash Store’s customers (the
“Customers™). ’
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[43]  Before the McCann Funds could be loaned out, the Broker Agreement provided that Cash
Store was required to ensure that extensive loan criteria were met or to obtain specific approval
from McCann. Further, the McCann Funds were to be used for no other purpose. This
requirement is set out in Article 2.10 of the Broker Agreement:

2.10  Usage of Loan Advances

For greater certainty, funds, from time to time, advanced to broker from financier
are solely intended to be utilized for the purposes of making advances to broker
customers on financiers’ behalf as contemplated hereunder. The broker agrees
that any funds not otherwise being held by the broker as a “float” in anticipation
of loan approvals shall not, without the consent of financier, be advanced or
utilized for any other purpose.

Representations Allegedly Made to McCann

[44] McCann contends that in discussions leading up to the Broker Agreement’s execution,
and while Cash Store was administering the McCann Funds on McCann’s behalf, it was
expressed to be important to McCann that its funds be kept separate and apart from Cash Store
Financial’s general operating funds in accordance with the Broker Agreement. McCann takes
the position that Cash Store Financial assured it that the McCann Funds were — and. could
continue to be — segregated at all times. McCann alleges that Cash Store represented to McCann,
and it was a term of the Broker Agreement, that all of the McCann Funds would be placed in a
“designated broker bank acgount”, which would be separate and apart from Cash Store
Financial’s general operating account,

[45] McCann also takes the position that it understood McCann owned both the McCann
Funds and the McCann Loans and that its accounts would be administered on a segregated basis
from Cash Store’s funds and be pooled safely with other “broker only” monies.

[46] In his affidavit, Mr, Murray McCann, former president of McCann, states that a number
of account statements were received from Cash Store and that the “funding excess/deficiency”
on the statements provided a summary of the McCann Loans. Mr, McCann goes on to state that
when the McCann Funds exceeded the amount deployed as loans to customers, Cash Store
described the undeployed monies as the “funding excess/deficiency”. MecCann states that at all
times he understood this amount to be held separate and apart from Cash Store’s other accounts
in accordance with the Broker Agreement and McCann’s instructions, Further, he states that
Cash Store’s public disclosure always showed the McCann Funds as McCann’s property, not the
property of Cash Store or Cash Store Financial.

[47]  As recently as mid-March 2014, Mr. McCann states that Mr, Carlstrom, Vice President,
Financial Reporting for Cash Store Financial, provided assurances to McCann that undeployed
portions of the McCann Funds were secure and remained available to McCann and that Cash
Store was administering McCann’s property in agcordance with the Broker Agresment.

10
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Additional Submissions of McCann

[48] McCann takes the position that under the Broker Agreement, McCann owned loans made
in the name of TPLs which were brokered by Cash Store on behalf of the customers using funds
made available by McCann, In addition, McCann takes the position that it also owned advances
originated by Cash Store which were subsequently purchased with the McCann Funds, and
certain loans and advances originated by Cash Store which were subsequently assigned to
McCann as capital protection or otherwise. McCann takes the position that it was entitled to
receive a stated rate of 59% interest under these loans from the customers,

[49] MecCann acknowledges that the McCann Loans were, by their nature, rvisky and
accordingly, Cash Store historically made inducement payments to TPLs — referred to by Cash
Store as “retention payments” — to induce TPLs to continue to make their funds available to Cash
Store, which, in turn, enabled Cash Store to earn Broker Fees. In other words, these payments
were intended to ensure that the TPLs were receiving a return commensurate with the
considerable risk they were assuming. These “inducement payments” or “retention payments”
were made by Cash Store on a monthly basis.

[50] Until March 2014, McCann states that it received monthly statements indicating the cash
that McCann had made available to Cash Store and the amount that was deployed in loans to
cusfomers,

[51] In the Carlstrom affidavit, Mr. Carlstrom acknowledged that the so-called “restricted
cash” in Cash Store’s bank accounts totalled $12,961,000 as at February 28, 2014, However, by
close of business on April 11, 2014, this amount had dwindled to approximately $2.9 million,

[52] McCann takes issue with Cash Store’s disclosure of events when they moved for the
Initial Order, Specifically, McCann contends that Mr, Carlstrom did not disclose in his affidavit
that, in breach of the Broker Agreement and without the knowledge or consent of McCann, and
contraty to the multiple representations made to McCann, Cash Store had misappropriated the
TPLs monies and spent them on the Applicants’ operating and professional costs leading up to
the CCAA filing.

[53] McCann takes the position that the Special Committee must have made the decision to
use the McCann Funds knowing that Cash, Store and Cash Store Financial were acting in breach
of the Broker Agreement and that they had mijsrepresented that McCann’s monies had been
propetly segregated.

[54] McCann states that it is undisputed that Cash Store received approximately $42 million
of TPL monies to broker but, in the Monitor’s pre-filing report, the Monitor reported that only
$18.66 million of brokered loans were outstanding and that Cash Store had only $2.94 million
cash on hand. Combined, these two figures equal $21.6 million, which results in the remaining
$20.4 million being misappropriated.

11
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Tncreased Risk Created by the May 13 Order

[55] Subsequent to the granting of the Initial Order, McCann complains that the order of May
13, 2014 (the “May 13" Order”) put the TPLs at further risk. The May 13" Order approved the
cessation of the Applicants brokered loan business in all jurisdictions in which they operated that
business. Also, the Chief Restructuring Officer (the “CRO”), in consultation with the Monitor,
was authorized to take steps to conduct an orderly cessation of that business.

[56] The TPLs contend that not only did they not agree to allow their monies and receivables
to be held and used by an insolvent Cash Store, the May 13™ Order puts the TPLs in even greater
jeopardy as it purports to create charges against the TPLs’ property and treat it as if it is the
Applicants’ property. '

[57] Paragraph 13 of the May 13" Order provides that the TPL charge is capped at $2.94
million and ranks third (pari passu the DIP Lenders) after the Administration Charge and the
Director’s Charge (up to a maximum of $1,250,000). They contend that this increases the risk
that the costs of these proceedings would be paid out of the TPLs’ remaining monies, after many
millions of dollais of TPL Funds were already misappropriated by Cash Store for payment of
costs not authorized by the TPLs leading up to the CCAA filing.

Trimor’s Submissions

[58] Counsel to Trimor supported the submissions of counsel to McCann, as applicable to
Trimor.

[59] Trimor transferred funds totalling $27,002,000 to Cash Store under the DBroker
Agreements for the sole purpose of brokering loans to customers (the “Trimor Funds”).

[60] Trimor is a party to the following broker agreements with Cash Store (the “Broker
Agreements”):

a. Broker Agreement between Trimor and Cash Store dated February 1, 2012
and made as of June 5, 2012,

b, Broker Agreement between Trimor and 1693926 Alberta Ltd. dated
September 24, 2012 and made as of June 5, 2012.

[61] The Broker Agreements are similar (if not identical) to the broker agreements that Cash
Store enteted into with other TPLs, including McCann.

[62] Trimor takes the position that when Trimor funds were deployed as loans to customers,
the creditor or lender is Trimor and Cash Store takes a brokerage fee. The supporting
agreements and disclosure statements signed by customers named Trimor as the credit grantor

and the customer as the borrower for the Trimor Loans,
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[63] Trimor contends that the TPLs, including Trimor, only made the TPL Funds available as
a result of representations that the Funds were segregated, held in trust, and used only for a
specific purpose.

[64] Trimor contends that if the interest received by the TPLs was less than 17% of the TPL
Funds, Cash Store would make a payment to bring cash received up to 17.5% (a “Retention
Payment”) and that Cash Store made the Retention Payments as an inducement to ensure that
TPLs were receiving a return that was commensurate with the risk of lending.

[65] In January 2012, Cash Store offered $132.5 million in Senior Secured Notes due in 2017
through a private placement (the “Secured Note Offering”). Cash Store’s offering circular dated
January 12, 2012 (the “Circular) for the Secured Note Offering advised potential investors that
Cash Store “currently acts primarily ‘as a broker of short-term advances between our customers
and third party lenders, the effect of which is that the loan portfolio we service is not financed on
our balance sheets”.

[66] These statements were repeated in financial statements. Trimor further contends that in
its Circular, Cash Store advised potential purchasers of its bond that “we have made the decision
to voluntarily make retention payments to the third party lenders as consideration for continuing
to advance funds to our customers” and that “the decision has been made to voluntarily make
retention payments to the Lenders to lessen the:impact of loan losses experienced by the third
party lenders”.

[67] Trimor further contends that the DIP Lenders/Bond Holders were well aware of this
practice and took no issue with it. However, this statement, which was made at paragraph 27 of
the Factum, is not referenced to the evidence in the record.

[68] Similar to McCann, the Broker Agreements for Trimor provide that all funds advanced
by Trimor were to be held in a designated broker bank account, which is a Cash Store bank
account that is “designated by [Cash Store] for the purposes of temporarily receiving funds from
[Trimor] ... before they are advanced to a [customer]”. Trimor further contends that until
Januaty 2014 a separate bank account was used for the deposit of TPL Funds, including the
Trimor receipts and the payment of Retention Funds,

[69] Trimor also contends that it received assurances from Cash Store that it would treat the
Trimor Funds as being held in trust for Trimor’s benefit.

[70] Trimor takes the position that since the CRO has determined, in consultation with the
Monitor, that it is necessary and appropriate to implement a cessation of the brokered loan
business and cease brokering new loans in all jurisdictions in which Cash Store operates, that
Cash Store’s intention to cease all brokered loan operations effectively terminates the Broker
Agreements. In turn, Trimor now has the option to allow the Applicants to continue to administer
the Trimor Loans, transfer their administration to a new service provider, or sell the Trimor
Loans to a third party. '
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[71] Trimor contends that they will be seriously prejudiced if the Trimor Loans are not
transferred to their control.
[72] On this motion, Trimor asks the Cowrt to confirm Trimor’s ownership of the Trimor
Loans and receipts and to allow Trimor or its agent to assume administration of the Trimor

Loans to maximize realizations in accordance with Trimor’s contractual rights.

¢. Submissions of the DIP Lenders

[73] Not surprisingly, the DIP Lenders, supported by the Ad Hoc Committee of Cash Store
Noteholders (the “Committee”) disagree with the position being taken by both McCann and
Trimor. The TPLs base their claim upon the framework of the Broker Agreements. The DIP
Lenders take the position that the TPLs’ actual: practices with Cash Store established that the
TPSs varied the Broker Agreements, and in fact, entered into a debtor/creditor, or lending
relationship with Cash Store. The focus of the inquiry is, in my view, whether the actual
practices followed by the parties had the effect of varying the Broker Agreements.

[74] The DIP Lenders point out that the TPLs received a fixed rate of return on funds provided
to Cash Store and did not directly bear the collection risk of any individual customer loan made
by Cash Store.

[75] In addition, the DIP Lenders take the position that the funds advanced by the TPLs were
comingled with Cash Store’s general operating cash from which customer loans were made and
there was no way to determine which funds belonged to the TPLs or which loans were made
with funds advanced by the TPLs. The DIP Lenders take the position that it is uncontradicted
that the funds were comingled and used from general operating accounts.

[76]  Simply put, the position of the DIP Lenders is that of the TPLs became creditors and
consented to Cash Store having use of all funds received back from customers and they became,
in fact, lenders to Cash Store. As a result, Cash Store continues to be entitled to all funds
received back from customers, The DIP Lenders contend that the TPLs sought and received the
benefit of gratuitous retention payments and capital protections paid by Cash Store and, in so
doing, they avoided the risk of their putative broker relationship. They also became creditors.
Consequently, the TPLs are not entitled to disavow that creditor relationship and return to the
status of broker,

[77] The DIP Lenders recognize that an imderstanding of the true nature of the relationship
between Cash Store and the TPLs starts with the Broker Agreements. However, from their
standpoint, it is necessary to review actual practice.

[78] The DIP Lenders concede that had the TPLs chosen to strictly follow their Broker
Agreements, they could have had the benefit of specific fund recognition,

[79] The Broker Agreements contain a section entitled “Loan Funding by Financier” that
details the means by which the financier (the TPL) can provide the money used by Cash Store to
make loans to customers. Those means include payments made:
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a. By wire transfer of funds to the designated broker bank account (for
redirection/payment to, or for the benefit of, the broker customer); and

b. By cheque drawn by finahcier payable'to broker (Cash Store) for deposit to
the designated broker bank account (for redirection/payment to, or for the
benefit of the, the broker customer).

[80] Further, the Broker Agreements go on to define “designated broker bank account” as:

... the bank account of broker designated by broker for the purposes of
temporarily receiving funds from financier (if loans are made by financier
way [sic] of cash advaices) before they are advanced to a broker customer

(o)

[81] With respect to receipts, the Broker Agreements entitle the TPL to designate a bank
account for receipt of funds directly from Cash Store customers:

“Designated financier bank account” means, the bank branch and account
designated by financier from time to time where (and into which) deposits of cash
and cheques received from broker customers, in respect of such financier funded
loans, are to be cleared (deposited) from time to time ...”

[82] The Broker Agreements also grant the TPLs the opportunity to audit the records of Cash
Store. The DIP Lenders take the position that the TPLs did not exercise those rights. Instead,
they chose to accept variations to these agreements by which they benefited.

[83] As detailed in their factum at paragraph 16, the DIP Lenders describe the basis on which
the third party lending business of Cash Store actually functioned:

a. The TPLs provided Cash Store with initial tranches of funds;

b, The funds were lent to Cash Store fc_:ustomers, in the name of the TPL (in
Trimor’s case, but not McCann’s);

¢. Cash Store customers, if not in default, repaid the botrowed funds to Cash
Store, together with interest of 59%;

d. Cash Store deposited the returned funds and interest to a general account;

e. Cash Store made voluntary payments to the TPLs from Cash Store general
yevenue, in order to ensure that the TPLs received a fixed 17.5% return;

f, Cash Store provided voluntary “capital protection” to the TPLs, insulating
them for customer credit risk;
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g. Cash Store made new loans to customers, from the general account, in the
name of the TPL; and

h. Cash Store recorded a receivable for the TPL, with respect to the re-lent
funds.

[84] The DIP Lenders point out that Trimor and McCann were treated differently under the
loan documentation, Specifically, when a customer took out a loan that was to be designated as
being made on behalf of Trimor, the loan documentation explicitly stated that Trimor was the
lender, When a customer took out a loan that was designated as being made on behalf of
McCann, the documentation made no such specification. Rather, the loans listed another party
as lender, and were then transferred into McCann’s name.

[85] The DIP Lenders also point out that each of the processes described above were accepted
by the TPLs, with the disputed exception of the general account comingling,

[86] The DIP Lenders recognize that on their surface the Broker Agreements contemplate a
pass-through principal-broker arrangement. However, the practices adopted by the parties with
regard to payments made by Cash Store to the TPLs reflected a different reality. The DIP
Lenders reference Mr, McCann’s email couespondenoe to Cash Store in which, from their
standpoint, it was recognized that the TPLs, in substance, loaned funds to Cash Stmc and the
TPLs were creditors of Cash Store. In anemail dated March 14, 2014, Mr. J, Murray McCann
stated to Mr, Gordon Reykdal as follows: '

Good morning Gord,
I look forward to our call today and our visit in about a week.

You mentioned that you were meeting with Steve and Craig this morning to
discuss our loan to back stop Ontario payday loan customers and the requirements
for funds in regulated provinces. We have attempted to redeploy the funds in
Ontario since they are no longer being used to backstop payday loans there but so
far with no success. Those funds are no longer secured by the payday creditors
and the funds from those accounts collected were to be credited to us, It appears
that those funds were credited to the account of Cash Store in contravention of our
mutual understanding and agréement,

Because the funds we have loaned are from a foundation it is even more important
that we not place those funds at risk. As you know we went to considerable effort
and legal cost to get the opinion and comfort that we required to assure that funds
loaned to Cash Store were an ok investment because they were secured by loans
and the promise of Cash Store for proper accounting of those loans, Now that the
loans that supported out loans were collected we must ask for repayment. Should
Cash Store require further loans as backup to payday loans in regulated provinces
and secure those loans with payday loans, as in the past, we will be happy to make
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funds available, We are happy with the return received from Cash Store and look
forward to continuing our relationship for a very long time,

Please be assured that the interest Cash Store is paying us is going to very
worthwhile causes that rely on our funding. We can never let them down. That is
the main reason that we make sure that any agreements we enter into on their
behalf is never at risk. On the-other hand we will always live up to our side of the
agreement.

[ look forward to our call later today.

Cheers,
Murray

[87] On April 12, 2014, Mr. J. Murray McCang sent another email to Mr, Reykdal as follows:
Good afternoon Gord,

I have attempted to contact you on numerous occasions and have left messages on
your cell, office phone with Sandy. Attempting to keep a creditor and friend in
the dark by ceasing all communication is neither the way to treat a friend nor a
creditor, As mentioned to you, on more than one occasion, the funds Rent Cash is
improperly holding are used to support a large school, orphanage and girls
residence in Zambia. Without those funds teachers, caregivers, food suppliers ete.
cannot be paid and our school of 400 students will have to close. I told you this
before and you assured me that Rent Cash was looking after our money diligently
and there was no need to woiry,

Please Gord do what you know is right and release our funds so that they can
continue to be used for the good purposes they have been used for. You know
that the money is not Rent Cash’s and have stated that on many occasions and
even as late as 2 weeks ago when we visited at your club and your home in
Scottsdale. You, as president, promised and assured that all was well and our
funds were being held by Rent Cash for our benefit.

Please contact me,

Sincerely,
Murray

[88] The DIP Lenders contend that, in reality, the TPLs were effectively guaranteed a rate of
return of 17.5% of the advances (though it appears that Trimor carned interest at a rate of 20%
prior to May 2011). Further, notwithstanding the actual fluctuations of payments of interest and
principle seen by Cash Store’s customers, the monthly reconciliations and interest schedule
forwarded by Cash Store to each TPL calculate a simple return of 17.5% on the total principal
advanced by each TPL.

17




18

- Page 18 -

[89] . In order to make this guarantee possible, the DIP Lenders contend that Cash Store made
“vetention payments” each month. The retention payments effectively made up any shortfall
between actual amounts recovered from customers and the 17.5% interest owed to the TPLs.
They reference comments of Ms, Erin Armstrong, former Chief Operating Officer of Trimor
who stated that these retention payments were in fact a “top up” to make sure Trimor received its
expected interest payment each month,

¢

[90] Up to April 2014, Cash Store’s retention payments or “top up” ensured that McCann
received total interest payments of $3,353,696.92 and Trimor received total interest payments of
$7,839,676.14. : (

[91] The DIP Lenders also argued that in addition to compensating the TPLs with routine
retention payments, Cash Store indemnified the TPLs for customer loan losses through use of a
capital protection scheme to help the TPLs maintain the broad principal behind their loan
portfolios. They contend that that scheme had two components:

a. An expensing mechanism, whereby Cash Store would credit the TPLs with a
book entry in the amount of any losses suffered by the TPLs on brokered
loans that remain unpaid after 90 days. This protected the TPLs’ advances of
principal from being eroded by bad loans; and

b. A purchasing mechanism (in Ontario and Manitoba), whereby Cash Store
purchased past-due brokered loan fees at face value from the TPLs.

[92] As referenced in the PwC Report, in the summary of Trimor’s holdings, the lines of
credit assigned to Trimor were broken up by length outstanding, and with zero percent of
Trimor’s loans having been held for longer than 90 days. As such, the DIP Lenders contend that
Cash Store had acquired all of Trimor’s bad debt, insulating it completely from the credit risk of
the PayDay lending products. The DIP Lenders contend that instead, the TPLs took on the risk
of Cash Store’s insolvency, and the concomitant effect on these gratuitous mechanisms.

[93] According to the DIP Lenders the simple fact is that in each and every month of the
TPLs’ relationship with Cash Store, each TPL earned its constant rate of return and experienced
little or no erosion of its “restricted cash”. In so doing, they converted their Broker Agreements
into lending agreements. ‘

[94]  Further, the DIP Lenders point out that it was always Cash Store’s practice to hold funds
related to third party lending activities in its own corporate accounts, comingled with all of its
other cash. The DIP Lenders note that this practice was, in Cash Store’s view, well known to the
TPLs and fully disclosed to the Court on the CCAA filing. The DIP Lenders point out that the
TPLs first claimed to believe that the funds were held in accounts designated to be used solely to
receive each individual TPL’s advances as set out in the Broker Agreements — notwithstanding
that the TPLs were aware of and benefited from other “extra contractual” arrangements. The
DIP Lenders point out that that evidence varied somewhat under cross-examination and in light

of contemporaneous documentary evidence.
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[95] For example, in her affidavit, Ms. Fawcett stated that a segregated bank account was
represented to be in use:

As indicated in my prior Affidavit, it was represented to me and Mr. McCann at
the time the Broker Agreement was entered into, and it is a term of the Broker
Agreement, that all Restricted Cash would be placed in a Designated Broker Bank
Account, which would be separate and apart from Cash Store Financial’s general
operating account.

[96] However, as pointed out by the DIP Lenders, Ms, Fawcett was aware that McCann Funds
had been comingled with other funds. They referenced an email sent by Ms. Fawcett to M.
Michael Zvonkovie, former CFO of Cash Store on July 19, 2012 where Ms. Fawcett asked
whether McCann’s Funds were actually maintained in an individual segregated account:

On the Broker Agreement funds, so you keep a separate “designated broker bank
account” for each financier such that all of the loans made using our funds are
paid from and returned to that account, as well as all related interest and fees?

[97] Inresponse, Mr. Zvonkovic stated:

In the new agreement, we've tried to combine all these accounts and not to have a
designated broker bank account. Your funds specifically would be tracked
separately via our accounting system.’

[98] The DIP Lenders point out that Ms. Fawcett, on cross-examination, stated that it was
always her understanding that the designated broker bank account was to be used to hold the
funds provided by or received by all TPLs, and not merely those related to MecCann.

[99] The DIP Lenders point out that Trimor, for its pait, asserted that it was assured its funds
would be held in trust:

... [Cash Store] consistently assured Trimor that Trimor’s funds were not used for
any purpose other than advancing loans in accordance with the Broker
Agreement. In addition [Cash Store] assured Trimor that it would treat the Trimor
funds as being held in trust for Trimor’s benefit,

[100] On cross-examination, Ms. Armstrong stated that:

a. This statement was made regarding an earlier form of broker agreement which
did contain trust language; and

b. The current Broket Agreement contained no such trust language whatsoever.
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Restricted Cash and Assigned Loans

[101] The DIP Lenders also contend that-a review of the monthly reconciliation process
undertaken by Cash Store for the benefit of the TPLs suggested that the funds advanced by the
TPLs were not segregated from Cash Store’s general funds.

[102] The affidavit of Mr. Carlstrom points out that if the overall cash balance in Cash Store
accounts fell below the recorded balance of theoretical restricted cash, Cash Store would assign
its non-brokered loans to the TPLs to offset this deficiency. When made, these offsets were set
out in each of the monthly reconciliations provided by Cash Store, and were distinguished from
purchases of loan portfolios or other loans designated to the TPLs.

[103] Accordingly, from the standpoint of the DIP Lenders, the TPLs understood ot ought to
have understood that Cash Store would sometimes assign receivables for the benefit of the TPL
rather than use TPL advances to actually make or purchase customer loans.

IV.  Analysis
The Preference Issue and Cash Store”s Insolvency

Cash Store’s Insolvency

[104] The DIP Lenders contend that based upon book values, the value of Cash Store’s
liabilities exceeded the value of Cash Store’s assets as at September 30, 2013 and the insolvency
became increasingly severe and by December 31, 2013, Cash Store’s liabilities exceeded assets
on a book value basis by over $8 million.

[105] The DIP Lenders raise the issue of whether the designation or assignment of loans in the
name of the TPLs was a preference,

[106] In iy view, these issues are not properly before the court at this time, The issue properly
before the court is the question of ownership of the funds advanced by the TPLs.

[107] In arriving at this conclusion, I am in agreement with the submissions put forth by
counsel to McCann, .

[108] Under ss. 95 and 96 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (“BIA”), a trustee in
bankruptey has the right to challenge a payment or transaction as a preference or transfer under
value. Section 36.1 of the CCAA extends this right to a CCAA monitor. It does not extend it to
individual creditors of the CCAA debtor.

[109] At this point, the Monitor is currently reviewing transactions involving the TPLs. The
Monitor has not reported its findings in this regard. The right of the Monitor to challenge these
transactions has not been the subject of any assignment to a specific creditor of the type
contemplated by s. 38 of the BIA.
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[110] In the absence of some form of assignment of the Monitor’s rights, which has yet to take
place, I have reached the conclusion that the DIP Lenders are not in a position to challenge
transactions as preferences or transfers at under value pursuant to the provisions of the CCAA.

[111] With respect to the potential challenge under the Fraudulent Conveyances Act, or
Assignments and Preferences Act, there is a degree overlap with respect to the statutory test and
the remedies provided by these statutes and the use of the preference and transfer at undervalue
provisions of the BIA and the CCAA., '

[112] With respect to challenges under the Assignments and Preferences Act, an inquiry has to
be undertaken as to whether or not the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transaction. The
specific date of insolvency of Cash Store has not, in my view, been fully explored in the record.
Rather, the record has focussed on the nature of the relationship between the TPLs and Cash
Store which will be the subject of further discussion below. It seems to me that if the DIP
Lenders wish to pursue the issue of ‘whether certain transactions were preferential in nature, a
formal trial of the issue will have to be directed on this point.

[113] Similarly, in considering whether a designation or assignment of loans in the names of
the TPLs were fraudulent conveyances, the focus of the inquiry has to be on the intention of the
parties, I am not satisfied that the record before me would enable such an inquiry to be
undertaken. Again, it would seem more appropriate to address this issue through the direction of
a formal trial of the issue. )

[114] Tn summary, the Monitor can report further with respect to its inquiries on this issue and
the DIP Lenders shall have the opportunity to revisit the issues arising out of the Assignments
and Preferences Act and the Fraudulent Conveyances Act at a future date.

[115] The cross-motion of the DIP Lenders is accordingly dismissed, without prejudice for the
DIP Lenders to renew their motion taking into account the foregoing comments.

Status of and Funds Advanced by McCann/Trimor

[116] Both McCann and Trimor made significant amounts of money available to the
Applicants. The Broker Agreements expressly provides that McCann and Trimor own the funds,
loans and receivables, McCann and Trimor requested declarations in respect of the funds each
made available to the Applicants, that McCann and Trimor are the legal and beneficial owners of
these funds, loans and receivables, as reflected in the Broker Agreements.

[117] The DIP Lenders take the position that the TPLs do not have a proprietary right to the
funds, but rather, the TPLs are creditors of Cash Store.

[118] In order to determine the issue, it is necessary to examine the relationship as originally set
out in the Broker Agreements and to trace the relationship between the Applicants and the TPLs
subsequent to the execution of the Broker Agreements.
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[119] The Broker Agreements expressly recognize that ownership of TPL property was
intended to remain with the TPLs.

[120] The TPLs advanced funds to Cash Store for the purpose of enabling Cash Store to broker
loans to its customers. At the outset, the TPLs understood that their funds were segregated from
Cash Store’s operating funds. This was provided for in the Broker Agreements and was
confirmed in certain representations made by Cash Store and Cash Store Financial that TPL
Funds would be maintained in a designated TPL account,

[121] The TPLs take the position that even if the Funds had been co-mingled with Cash Store’s
operating funds in breach of the Broker Agreement and without their knowledge, the TPL Funds
have always been accounted for separately. Further, they take the position that Cash Store’s
creditors could always discern the amount of the TPL Funds that were deployed as loans to
customers ot held as a float for future loans. '

[122] However, in practice, the Funds were not segregated from Cash Store’s operating funds.
The funds were co-mingled with Cash Store’s operating funds. The TPLs may disagree based on
the documents and what they were led to believe, but the TPLs’ internal knowledge and belief
does not determine the issue. Rather, the determining fact is that the Funds were co-mingled
with Cash Store funds in the operating account. As such, regardless of what the TPLs believed,
there was one account and it is not possible to identify the source of the funds,

[123] It is also necessary to look at the basis upon which the relationship between the TPLs and
Cash Store developed, Pursuant to the Broker Agreements, the TPLs would provide funding to
Cash Store and Cash Store would broker loans to its customers. The customers would pay a rate
of interest of $9%. The interest payments were to flow through to the TPLs. However, in
reality, this did not happen. By their nature, the type and quality of the loans made to Cash Store
customers would be characterized as high-tisk loans. There was a significant default rate. The
practice developed that Cash Store would effectively provide a rate of return equivalent to 17.5%
per annum to the TPLs and Cash Store made “voluntary payments” to the TPLs in this amount.

[124] It is also clear that the TPLs were aware that they were receiving this 17.5% payment.
Indeed, such a payment was expected. The TPLs received monthly payments at a 17.5% rate of
return and regardless of the status of the brokered loans obtained by Cash Store, the TPLs
received their 17.5% and were insulated from any credit risk as a result of the capital protections
used by Cash Store.

[125] During the period of time that Cash Store was making these payments of 17.5% to the
TPLs, there is no evidence of any complaint being made by the TPLs to Cash Store. Rather,
these payments were accepted by the TPLs and for all intents and purposes, gave the appearance
of an “ordinary course” payment, There is no evidence that the TPLs ever took steps to
challenge why interest at 59% was not being received. To state the obvious, this interest rate
differential of 41.5% (less an amount to be written off as bad loans) is significant. It raises a
question for which there is no recorded explanation, namely why were the TPLs apparently
content to receive a return of 17.5%, when customers of Cash Store, borrowing funds supposedly
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belonging to the TPLs, were paying 59% interest, in addition to Cash Store’s brokerage fee. The
inescapable conclusion is that the relationship as between the TPLs and Cash Store was such that
the 59% interest payments were never expected to flow through to the TPLs, It also raises
another question, namely whether the operations of Cash Store complied with payday loan
regulations generally. Inote, however, that this question is not before me on this motion.

[126] From the standpoint of the DIP Lenders, this ongoing payment equivalent to 17.5% of
outstanding amounts is significant and leads me to a finding that the relationship between the
TPLs and Cash Store was debtor-creditor relationship and that the payments which are
equivalent to 17.5% of outstanding funding'reflect a payment of interest. A payment of interest is
clearly inconsistent with the position being put forth by the TPLs, namely that there was no
debtor-creditor relationship.

[127] In this case, I have reached the conclusions that the parties did alter the relationship from
what was set out in the Broker Agreements, I am satisfied that the evidence establishes that, in
practice, the TPL business of Cash Store involved:

a. making of loans by Cash Store to retail customers that were either
designated as being made on behalf of a TPL or assigned to a TPL (see
references at footnote 59 of DIP Lenders Factum);

b. receipt of repaid retail loans and interest back into Cash Store’s
general accounts (see references at footnote 60); and

¢. ' Cash Store paying the. TPLs a guaranteed interest rate of 17.5% (see
references at.-footnote 61).

[128] The presence of an “entire agreement” clause in the Broker Agreement does not assist the
TPLs. The “entire agreement” clause has application with respect to various arrangements and
agreements entered into by parties up to the time of entering into an agreement with such a
clause. However, it does not follow that the parties cannot modify their arrangements
subsequent to the execution of the Broker Agreement.

[129] As noted in the submissions of counsel to the DIP Lenders, notwithstanding the presence
of a “non-waiver” clause in the contract, parties can still waive their contractual rights by
election. Specific reference was made to Barkley’s Bank PLC v. Devonshire Trust (Trustee of),
2011 ONSC 5008, where Newbould I, explained the presence of an non-waiver clause is “not the
end of the matter”, going on {o quote Swinton I.’s reasons in Fitkid (York) Inc. v. 1277633
Ontario Limited (2002), O.J. No. 3959 (SCJ) as follows:

Even where there is a term in the lease governing waiver, the cases on waiver
indicate that courts look at the conduct of the landlord to determine whether it has
elected not to terminate the lease in the circumstances after the right of forfeiture
arises.
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\'2 Disposition

[130] T conclude that the relationship as between the TPLs and Cash Store is one of debtor and
creditor.

[131] The consequences of this finding is that the motion of the TPLs is dismissed. The TPLs
are creditors of Cash Store.

[132] An order shall issue that the Applicants are the beneficial owners of funds described as
the Disputed Post-Filing Receipts in the TPL Notices of Motion and neither Trimor nor McCann
shall take any steps to collect any advances or loans made to the Applicants’ customers,
irrespective of whether such loans or advances have been designated in the name of Trimor or
McCann or otherwise assigned to Trimor or McCann by the Applicants, and any recoveries or
collections on such advances or loans by Trimor or McCann shall be deemed to be held in trust
for the Applicants.

[133] With respect to McCann’s request that its professional fees in connection with the CCAA
proceeding be paid by the Applicants ‘and be included in the Administration Charge, the
treatment accorded to Trimor outlined in [34] should also be provided to McCann,

§

F
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MORAWETZ R.S.J.

Date:  August 5, 2014
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE REGIONAL ) TUESDAY, THE 15™
)
SENIOR JUSTICE MORAWETZ ) DAY OF APRIL, 2014

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL
SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., TCS CASH STORE
INC., INSTALOANS INC., 7252331 CANADA INC,, 5515433
MANITOBA INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD. DOING
BUSINESS AS “THE TITLE STORE”. (each one and all of the
above, collectively, the “Applicants”)

AMENDED AND RESTATED INITIAL ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicants, pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors
Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”) was heard this day at 330

University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of Steven Carlstrom sworn April 14, 2014 and the Exhibits
thereto (the “Carlstrom Affidavit”) and the affidavits of Patrick Riesterer and the Exhibits
thereto, and on being advised that the secured creditors who are likely to be affected by the
charges created herein were given notice, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the
Special Committee, the DIP Lenders (as defined in the Term Sheet (as defined herein)), the ad
hoc committee of holders of the Applicants’ 11 %% senior secured notes (the “Ad Hoc
Committee”), FTI Consulting Canada Inc. (“FTI”) in its capacity as Monitor (the “Monitor”)
and such other counsel present, no other person appearing although duly served as appears from

the affidavit of service of Karin Sachar sworn April 14, 2014 and on reading the Pre-Filing
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Report of the Monitor dated April 14, 2014, the consent of FTT to act as the Monitor and the First
Report of the Monitor dated April 15, 2014,

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the
Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Application is properly

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.
APPLICATION

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicants are companies to whichr
the CCAA applies.

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall have the authority to file and may,
subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or arrangement

(hereinafter referred to as the “Plan”).
POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS

4, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall remain in possession and control of
their current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever,
and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof, and including for greater certainty all cash
held in the Applicants’ accounts (the ‘Property”), subject to paragraphs 30 to 35. The
Applicants shall continue to carry on business and use the Property, the Filing Date Cash (as
defined below), and the TPL Funds (as defined in the Carlstrom Affidavit) in a manner
consistent with the preservation of its business, including the making of brokered loané pursuant
to the Applicants’ past practices as modified by paragraphs 30 to 35 (the “Business”), and
Property. The Applicants are authorized and empowered to continue to retain and employ the
employees, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, counsel and such other persons
(collectively “Assistants”) currently retained or employed by it, with liberty to retain such
further Assistants as it deems reasonably necessary or desirable in the ordinary course of

business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order.



27

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall be entitled to continue to utilize the
central cash management system currently in place as described in the Carlstrom Affidavit or,
with the consent of the Monitor and the DIP Lenders, replace it with another substantially similar
central cash management system (the “Cash Management System”) and that any present 6r
future bank providing the Cash Management System shall not be under any obligation
whatsoever to inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of any transfer, payment, collection
or other action taken under the Cash Management System, or as to the use or application by the
Applicants of funds transferred, paid, collected or otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management
System, shall be entitled to provide the Cash Management System without any liability in respect
thereof to any Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the Applicants, pursuant to the terms of
the documentation applicable to the Cash Management' System, and shall be, in its capacity as
provider of the Cash Management System, an unaffected creditor under the Plan with regard to
any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the provision of the Cash

Management System.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall be entitled but not required to pay the

following expenses whether incurred prior to or after this Order:

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and pension benefits, vacation
pay (excluding any change of control or similar termination payments without the
consent of the DIP Lenders) and reasonable employee expenses (the reasonableness
of which will be determined by the CRO (as defined herein)) payable on or after the
date of this Order, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business and

consistent with existing compensation policies and arrangements; and

(b) subject to the terms and conditions of the debtor-in-possession loan facility (the “DIP
Facility”) as provided for in the Term Sheet, including the applicable terms therein
that refer to the cash flow projections approved by the DIP Lenders pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the DIP Facility (the “Cash Flow Projections”), the
reasonable fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the

Applicants in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to the terms and conditions of and availability
under the DIP Facility and the Term Sheet, including the applicable terms therein that refer to the



Cash Flow Projections, and except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the Applicants

shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the Applicants in

carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the date of this Order, and in carrying out

the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation:

(a)

(b)

(©)

8.

all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the
Property or the Business including, without limitation, payments on account of
insurance (including directors and officers insurance), maintenance and security

services;

payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicants following the date
of this Order; and

payments to critical vendors with the consent of the Monitor.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall remit, in accordance with legal

requirements, or pay:

(a)

(b)

(©)

any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of
any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be
deducted from employees’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of
(i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, (iii) Quebec Pension Plan, and

(iv) income taxes;

all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, “Sales Taxes”)
required to be remitted by the Applicants in connection with the sale of goods and
services by the Applicants, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or collected
after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or collected prior
to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after the date of
this Order, and

any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or
any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of
municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any

nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured
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creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business

by the Applicants.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed in accordance with
the CCAA, the Applicants shall pay all amounts constituting rent or payable as rent under real
property leases (including, for greater certainty, common area maintenance charges, utilities and
realty taxes and any other amounts payable to the landlord under the lease) or as otherwise may
be negotiated between the Applicants and the landlord from time to time (“Rent”), for the period
commencing from and including the date of this Order, twice-monthly in equal payments on the
first and fifteenth day of each month, in advance (but not in arrears). On the date of the first of
such payments, any Rent relating to the period commencing from and including the date of this
Order shall also be paid.

10 THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicants are
hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest
thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicants to any of their creditors as
of this date, other than interest payments under the Credit Agreement (as defined in the
Carlstrom Affidavit) and the retention payments to TPLs (as described below), both as set out in
the Cash Flow Projections; (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or
encumbrances upon or in respect of any of their Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur

liabilities except in the ordinary course of the Business.
RESTRUCTURING

11.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall, subject to such requirements as are
imposed by the CCAA and such covenants as may be contained in the term sheet governing the
DIP Facility (the “Term Sheet”) and the Definitive Documents (as hereinafter defined), have the
right to:

(@) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of their business or
operations and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding $25,000

in any one transaction or $75,000 in the aggregate;

(b)  terminate the employment of such of their employees or temporarily lay off such of

their employees as they deem appropriate on such terms as may be agreed upon
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between the applicable employer and such employee or, failing such agreement, to

deal with the consequences thereof in accordance with applicable law;

(c) pursue all avenues of refinancing of their Business or Property, in whole or part,
subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material refinancing;

and

(d) in consultation with the Monitor, solicit non-binding letters of intent for the sale of
the Business by May 15, 2014 (or such later date as the Applicants, with the consent
of the Monitor, shall determine) through Rothschild Inc. (“Rethschild”), in
furtherance of the mergers and acquisitions process described in the Carlstrom
Affidavit,

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicants to proceed with an orderly restructuring of the

Business (the “Restructuring”).

12.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall provide each of the relevant landlords
with notice of the Applicants’ intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least
seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The relevant landlord shall be entitled
to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the
landlord disputes the Applicants’ entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of
the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any
applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Applicant, or by further Order of this Court
upon application by the Applicants on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such
secured creditors. If the Applicants disclaim the lease governing such leased premises in
accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA, they shall not be required to pay Rent under such lease
pending resolution of any such dispute (other than Rent payable for the notice period provided
for in Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the disclaimer of the lease shall be without prejudice to
the Applicants’ claim to the fixtures in dispute.

13.  THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer is delivered pursuant to Section 32
of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time of the disclaimer, the
landlord may show the affected leased premises to prospective tenants during normal business

hours, on giving the Applicants and the Monitor 24 hours’ prior written notice, and (b) at the
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effective time of the disclaimer, the relevant landlord shall be entitled to take possession of any
such leased premises without waiver of or prejudice to any claims or rights such landlord may
have against the Applicants in respect of such lease or leased premises, provided that nothing
herein shall relieve such landlord of its obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection
therewith.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that the engagement of (i) Rothschild as financial advisor
pursuant fo the engagement letter dated February 20, 2014 and (ii) Conway MacKenzie
(“Conway”) as financial advisor pursuant to the engagement letter dated January 29, 2014 are

hereby approved.

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that Rothschild is authorized to continue the mergers and

acquisitions process as described in the Carlstrom Affidavit, in consultation with the Monitor.
NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANTS OR THE PROPERTY

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including May 14, 2014, or such later date as this
Court may order (the “Stay Period”), no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or
tribunal {each, a “Proceeding”) shall be commenced or continued against or in respect of the
Applicants, the CRO, or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, except with the
written consent of the Applicants and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all
Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Applicants or affecting the Business

or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.
NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

17.  THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any
individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the
foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person”) against or in respect of the
Applicants, the CRO, or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, are hereby stayed
and suspended except with the written consent of the Applicants and the Monitor, or leave of this
Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall (i) empower the Applicants to carry on any

business which the Applicants are not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) affect such investigations,
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actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA,
(iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent

the registration of a claim for lien.
NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS

18.  THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail to
honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right,
contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicants, except with the

written consent of the Applicants and the Monitor, or leave of this Court.
CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

19.  THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written
agreements with the Applicants or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods
and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other
data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services,
utility or other services to the Business or the Applicants, are hereby restrained until further
Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of
such goods or services as may be required by the Applicants, and that the Applicants shall be
entitled to the continued use of their current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers,
internet addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for
all such goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the Applicants in
accordance with normal payment practices of the Applicants or such other practices as may be
agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and each of the Applicants and the Monitor, or as

may be ordered by this Court.
NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person
shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or
licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor
shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or re-
advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicants. Nothing in this Order

shall derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA. For greater
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certainty, nothing in this Order shall prejudice the rights of the TPLs under their broker
agreements (the “Broker Agreements”) with the Applicants, or their right to assert any

arguments in this proceeding in relation to the matters contemplated hereby.
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST CRO, DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

21.  THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by
subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any
of the former, current or future directors or officers of the Applicants with respect to any claim
against the directors or officers that arose before the date hereof and that relates to any
obligations of the Applicants whereby the directors or officers are alleged under any law to be
liable in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of such
obligations, until a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicants, if one is filed, is

sanctioned by this Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicants or this Court.

22.  THIS COURT ORDERS that no member of the Special Committee nor the CRO shall
have any liability with respect to any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, of any nature or kind,
to any Person from and after the date of this Order except to the extent such losses, claims,
damages or liabilities result from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of such

member of the Special Committee or the CRO, as the case may be,

23,  THIS COURT ORDERS that BlueTree Advisors Inc. be and is hereby appointed Chief
Restructuring Officer of the Applicants (“CRO”). The CRO shall have the authority to direct the
operations and management of the Applicants and the Restructuring, and the officers (including
the executive management team of the Applicants) of the Applicants shall report to the CRO. For
greater certainty, the CRO shall be entitled to exercise any powers of the Applicants set out
herein, to the exclusion of any other Person (including any board member of the Applicants).

The CRO shall provide timely updates to the Monitor in respect of its activities.

24, THIS COURT ORDERS that the CRO shall not be or be deemed to be a director, officer
or employee of any of the Applicants.

25.  THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) any indemnification obligations of the Applicants in
favour of the CRO and (ii) the payment obligations of the Applicants to the CRO shall be

entitled to the benefit of and shall form part of the Administration Charge set out herein.
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26.  THIS COURT ORDERS that any claims of the CRO shall be treated as unaffected in any
plan of compromise and arrangement filed by the Applicants under the CCAA, any proposal
filed by the Applicants under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act of Canada (the “BIA”) or any

other restructuring.
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall indemnify their directors and officers
‘against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the Applicants
after the commencement of the within proceedings, except to the extent that, with respect to any
officer or director, the obligation or liability was incutred as a result of the director’s or officer’s

gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

28.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors and officers of the Applicants shall be entitled
to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Directors’ Charge”) on the Property,
which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $2,500,000 as security for the indemnity
provided in paragraph 27 of this Order. The Directors’ Charge shall have the priority set out in
paragraphs 53 and 55 herein.

29.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable insurance
policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the benefit of
the Directors’ Charge, and (b) the Applicants’ directors and officers shall only be entitled to the
benefit of the Directors’ Charge to the extent that they do not have coverage under any directors’
and officers’ insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage is insufficient to pay amounts

indemnified in accordance with paragraph 27 of this Order.
THE THIRD PARTY LENDERS

30.  THE COURT ORDERS that the TPLs (as defined in the Carlstrom Affidavit) shall be
entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “TPL Charge”) on the Property,
which charge shall equal the amount of the Applicants’ cash-on-hand as of the effective time of
the Initial Order granted in these proceedings (the “Filing Date Cash”). The TPLs shall only be
entitled to the benefit of the TPL Charge in the event that this Court determines that the TPLs
were entitled to the Filing Date Cash in priority to any other Person, or that the Filing Date Cash

was not Property as of the effective time of the Initial Order granted in these proceedings.
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Notwithstanding the granting of the TPL Charge, subject to the reservation of rights in paragraph
20, above, nothing in this order shall grant the TPLs any new, additional, or greater rights to the
Filing Date Cash than the TPLs would have had immediately prior to the effective time of the
Initial Order granted in these proceedings.

31.  THIS COURT ORDERS and directs that the Applicants shall keep records of all receipts
and disbursements in connection with the TPL brokered loans (the “TPL Brokered Loans”) and
any amounts received by the Applicants in respect of same subsequent to the effective time of
the Initial Order granted in these proceedings (the “TPL Post-Filing Receipts”), separate and
apart from the Applicants’ direct loans, and shall report to the TPLs with respect to the TPL
Post-Filing Receipts in a manner and on a basis as agreed upon by the relevant TPL, the
Applicants and the Monitor, or as subsequently ordered by this Court. The Applicants shall
provide informaﬁon reasonably requested by a TPL in respect of its TPL Brokered Loans and
funds paid to the Applicants by the TPLs, in each case whether before or after the effective time
of the Initial Order granted in these proceedings and shall give the TPLs or their agents
reasonable access to their records for the purpose of preparing an accounting of such TPL
Brokered Loan and funds and monitoring the Applicants’ compliance with the Broker
Agreements. In both cases the reasonableness of such requests shall be determined by the CRO

and the Monitor.

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall continue to receive amounts in
connection with the repayment of TPL Brokered Loans and shall be entitled to use such TPL
Post-Filing Receipts for the sole purpose of brokering new TPL Brokered Loans. The Applicants
shall be entitled to continue their practice of depositing repayments of TPL Brokered Loans into
the Applicants’ general bank accounts; however, no party (including the Applicants, TPLs and
any lender, including a DIP lender), shall be entitled to rely on such treatment of TPL Post-Filing
Receipts in connection with the determination of the relevant TPL’s entitlement to, or ownership
of, any TPL Post-Filing Receipts, the TPL Net Receipt Minimum Balance (as defined below) or
any TPL Brokered Loans advanced therefrom. Moreover, the treatment of the TPL Post-Filing
Receipts set out in this Order shall be without prejudice to any argument by a TPL that but for
the CCAA Proceedings such TPL would have required the Applicants to physically segregate
such funds.
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33,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall maintain a minimum cash balance in
an amount equal to the aggregate amount of any TPL Post-Filing Receipts less the aggregate
amount of any Post-Filing TPL Receipts subsequently redeployed, from time to time, as new
TPL Brokered Loans (the “TPL Net Receipt Minimum Balance”).

34.  THIS COURT ORDERS that to the extent a TPL claims a priority entitlement to the TPL
Brokered Loans in existence at or after the effective time of the Initial Order granted in these
proceedings and/or to the Post-Filing TPL Receipts, the TPL’s entitlement thereto shall be
determined based on the legal rights as they existed immediately prior to the effective time of the
Initial Order granted in these proceedings, including that each TPL’s entitlement to any portion
of the TPL Net Receipts Minimum Balance will be determined by reference to such TPL's
entitlement to and interest in the TPL Brokered Loans giving rise to such portion of Post-Filing
TPL Receipts. To the extent a TPL is able to establish a trust, ownership or other proprietary
interest in any Post-Filing TPL Receipts and/or any TPL Brokered Loans such that they do not
form part of the Property of the Applicants then, for greater certainty, the Charges (defined
below) shall not apply to such TPL’s portion of the TPL Net Receipt Minimum Balance or such
TPL’s then-existing TPL Brokered Loans to the extent of such established entitlement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this paragraph shall affect the rights of any TPL
arising from or related to any registration to preserve or protect a security interest pursuant to

paragraph 17.

35. THIS COURT ORDERS the Applicants shall continue to ensure that TPLs receive a
return of approximately 17.5% per year (or such lesser amount as may be agreed to) with respect
to TPL Brokered Loans that are repaid and available for redeployment from and after the Initial
Order date and any capital protection (as described in the Carlstrom Affidavit).

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that FTI is hereby appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the
Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial affairs of the Applicants
with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set forth herein and that the Applicants
and their shareholders, officers, directors, and Assistants shall advise the Monitor of all material
steps taken by the Applicants pursuant to this Order, and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor

in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and provide the Monitor with the
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assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry out the Monitor’s

functions.

37.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

©)

®

(2

monitor the Applicants’ receipts and disbursements;

report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate
with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such other matters

as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

assist the Applicants, to the extent required by the Applicants, in their dissemination,
to the DIP Lenders and their counsel at the times required under the DIP Facility, of
financial and other information as agreed to between the Applicants and the DIP
Lenders which may be used in these proceedings, including reporting on a basis as
agreed with the DIP Lenders under the DIP Facility;

advise the Applicants in their preparation of the Applicants’ cash flow statements and
reporting required by the DIP Lenders, which information shall be reviewed with the
Monitor and delivered to the DIP Lenders and their counsel on a periodic basis, as

provided under the DIP Facility;

advise the Applicants in their development of the Plan and any amendments to the
Plan;

assist the Applicants, to the extent required by the Applicants, with the holding and

administering of creditors’ or sharcholders’ meetings for voting on the Plan;

have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, records,
data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the
Applicants, to the extent that is necessary to adequately assess the Applicants’

business and financial affairs or to perform its duties arising under this Order;
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(h)  assist the Applicants, to the extent required by the Applicants, with any and all
restructuring activities and/or any sale of the Property and the Business or any part

thereof;

i) assist Rothschild with respect to the mergers and acquisitions process of the

Applicants’ Business;

) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the Monitor
deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and performance

of its obligations under this Order; and

(k)  perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time to

time.

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property and
shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the
Business and shall not, by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or

maintained possession or control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof.

39, THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or
collectively, “Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated,
might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release
or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the
protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or
relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the
Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario
Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations
thereunder (the “Environmental Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall
exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable
Environmental Legislation. The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in
pursuance of the Monitor’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of
any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in

possession.
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40.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the Applicants
and the DIP Lenders with information provided by the Applicants in response to reasonable
requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor. The Monitor
shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information disseminated by it
pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Monitor has been advised by the
Applicants is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to creditors unless

otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the Applicants may agree.

41.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the
Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or
obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save
and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part., Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any applicable legislation.

42.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to the terms and conditions of and availability
under the DIP Facility and the Term Sheet, including the applicable terms therein that refer to the
Cash Flow Projections, the CRO, the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, counsel to the Applicants,
counsel to the Special Committee and the CRO, Rothschild, Conway, Michele McCarthy (the
“CCRQO”) and counsel to the DIP Lenders and Coliseum Capital Management, LLC (in its
capacity as Agent under the DIP Facility (the “Agent”)) shall be paid their reasonable fees and
disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, by the Applicants as part of the
costs of these proceedings. The Applicants are hereby authorized and directed to pay the
accounts of the CRO, the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, counsel to the Applicants, counsel to
the Special Committee and the CRO, Rothschild, Conway, and counsel to the DIP Lenders and
Agent on a weekly basis, or on such basis as otherwise agreed by the Applicants and the
applicable payee. The Applicants shall also be entitled to pay the reasonable fees and
disbursements of Goodmans LLP, Houlihan Capital LLC and McMillan LLP.

43,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts
from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel are

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

44, THIS COURT ORDERS that the CRO, the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, the

Applicants’ counsel, the Special Committee’s and CRO’s counsel, Rothschild, Conway, the
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CCRO, counsel to the DIP Lenders and Agent, Goodmans LLP and Houlihan Capital LLC shall
be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Administration Charge”) on
the Proﬁerty, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $1,500,000, as security for
their professional fees and disbursements incurred at their standard rates and charges, both before
and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings. The Administration Charge

shall have the priority set out in paragraphs 53 and 55 hereof.
DIP FINANCING

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants are hereby authorized and empowered to
obtain and borrow under the DIP Facility from the DIP Lenders in order to finance the
Applicants’ working capital requirements, other general corporate purposes and capital
expenditures and allow them to make such other payments as permitted under this Order and the
Term Sheet, provided that borrowings under the DIP Facility shall not exceed the amounts

prescribed in the Term Sheet.

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Facility shall be on the terms and subject to the

conditions set forth in the Term Sheet.

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Facility and the Term Sheet be and are hereby
approved and the Applicants are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Term
Sheet.

48. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants are hereby authorized and empowered to
execute and deliver such credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security
documents, guarantees and other definitive documents (collectively, the “Definitive
Documents”), as are contemplated by the Term Sheet or as may be reasonably required by the
DIP Lenders pursuant to the terms thereof, and the Applicants are hereby authorized and directed
to pay and perform all of their indebtedness, interest, fees, liabilities and obligations to the DIP
Lenders under and pursuant to the Term Sheet and Definitive Documents as and when the same

become due and are to be performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order.

49.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lenders shall be entitled to the benefit of and are
hereby granted a charge (the “DIP Priority Charge”) on the Property as security for any and all
obligations of the Applicants under the DIP Facility, the Term Sheet and the Definitive -
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Documents (including on account of principal, interest, fees, expenses and other liabilities) (the
aggregate of all such obligations being the “DIP Obligations”), which DIP Priority Charge shall
be in the aggregate amount of the DIP Obligations outstanding at any given time. The DIP
Priority Charge shall not secure an obligation that exists before this Order is made. The DIP

Priority Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs 53 and 55 hereof.
50.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order:

(a) the DIP Lenders may take such steps from time to time as they may deem necessary
or appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Priority Charge or any of the

Definitive Documents;

(b)  upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Term Sheet, the other Definitive
Documents or the DIP Priority Charge, (A) the DIP Lenders may cease making
advances to the Applicants, (B) the DIP Lenders may (i) set off and/or consolidate
any amounts owing by the DIP Lenders to the Applicants against the obligations of
the Applicants to the DIP Lenders under the Term Sheet, the Definitive Documents or
the DIP Priority Charge, and make demand, accelerate payment, and (ii) following an
Order of the Court, granted on at least two (2) days’ notice to the Applicants and the
Monitor, exercise any and all of their respective rights and remedies against the
Applicants or the Property under or pursuant to the Term Sheet, the other Definitive
Documents, the DIP Priority Charge, or the Personal Property Security Act of
Manitoba, Personal Property Security Act of Alberta, Personal Property Security Act
of Ontario or any other legislation of similar effect applicable, including without
limitation, to apply to this Court for the appointment of a receiver, receiver and
manager or interim receiver, or for a bankruptcy order against the Applicants and for

the appointment of a trustee in bankruptcy of the Applicants; and

(c) the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lenders shall be enforceable against any
trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the

Applicants or the Property.

51. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the DIP Lenders shall be treated as

unaffected in any plan of arrangement or compromise filed by the Applicants under the CCAA,
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or any proposal filed by the Applicants under the BIA (“Proposal”), with respect to any

advances made under the DIP Facility, the Term Sheet and the Definitive Documents.

52.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the obligations under the DIP Facility, Term Sheet and the
Definitive Documents shall be treated as unaffected by any Plan or Proposal and the Applicants
shall not file a Plan in these Proceedings or any Proposal that does not provide for the
indefeasible payment in full in cash of the obligations outstanding in respect of the DIP Facility,
the Term Sheet and the Definitive Documents as a pre-condition to the implementation of any

such Plan or Proposal.
VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER

53. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Directors’ Charge, the Administration
Charge, the DIP Priority Charge, and the TPL Charge as among them, shall be as follows:

First — Administration Charge;

Second — Directors’ Charge (up to a maximum of $1,250,000);

Third — DIP Priority Charge and the TPL Charge on a pari passu basis;
Fourth — the liens securing obligations under the Credit Agreement;

Fifth — Directors’ Charge (for the remaining amount of $1,250,000) (the
“Directors’ Subordinated Charge”).

54. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Directors’
Charge, the Administration Charge, the DIP Priority Charge or the TPL Charge (collectively, the
“Charges”) shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all
purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected
subsequent to the Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file,

register, record or perfect.

55. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors’ Charge, the Administration Charge,
the DIP Priority Charge, and the TPL Charge (all as constituted and defined herein) shall
constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security
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interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or
otherwise (collectively, “Encumbrances”) in favour of any Person, except that the Directors’
Subordinated Charge shall rank behind the liens securing obligations under the Credit

Agreement,

56. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as
may be approved by this Court, the Applicants shall not grant any Encumbrances over any
Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Directors’ Charge, the
Administration Charge, the TPL Charge or the DIP Priority Charge, unless the Applicants also
obtains the prior written consent of the Monitor, the DIP Lenders and the beneficiaries of the

Directors’ Charge and the Administration Charge, or further Order of this Court.

57. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Directors’ Charge, the Administration Charge, the TPL
Charge, the DIP Loan Agreement, the Definitive Documents and the DIP Priority Charge shall
not be rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to
the benefit of the Charges (collectively, the “Chargees’) and/or the DIP Lenders thereunder
shall not otherwise be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings
and the declarations of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s)
issued pursuant to BIA, or any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (c) the
filing of any assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the
provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or (¢) any negative covenants, prohibitions or
other similar provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of
Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other
agreement (collectively, an “Agreement”) which binds the Applicant, and notwithstanding any

provision to the contrary in any Agreement:

(@) neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection, registration
or performance of the Term Sheet or the Definitive Documents shall create or be
deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicants of any Agreement to which they are
a party;

(b)  none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Applicants’ entering
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into the Term Sheet, the creation of the Charges, or the execution, delivery or

performance of the Definitive Documents; and

(c) the payments made by the Applicants pursuant to this Order, the Term Sheet or the
Definitive Documents, and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not constitute
preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or

other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law.

58. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicants’ interest in such real property leases.
SERVICE AND NOTICE

59. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in the
Edmonton Journal, the Calgary Sun and the Globe and Mail a notice containing the information
prescribed under the CCAA, (ii) within five days after the date of this Order, (A) make this
Order publicly available in the manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in the prescribed
manner, a notice to every known creditor who has a claim against the Applicants of more than
$1000, and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of those creditors and the
estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the prescribed manner, all

in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the regulations made thereunder.

60. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List
website at http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-
protocol/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute
an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to
Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of
documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further
orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the

following URL: http://www.cfcanada.fticonsulting.com/cashstorefinancial.

61, THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance

with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicants and the Monitor are at liberty to serve or
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distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other
correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal
delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicants’ creditors or other interested parties at their
respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicants and that any such service or
distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be
received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary

mail, on the third business day after mailing.
GENERAL

62.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants or the Monitor may from time to time apply

to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

63.  THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from acting
as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of the

Applicants, the Business or the Property.

64, THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada, the United Kingdom, or in the
United States, to give effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and their
respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, régulatory and
administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such
assistance to the Applicants and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary
or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the Monitor in any
foreign proceeding, or to assist the Applicants and the Monitor and their respective agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

65.  THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicants and the Monitor be at liberty and is
hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative
body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the
terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act as a representative
in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a

jurisdiction outside Canada.
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66. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicants and the
Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days
notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other
notice, if any, as this Court may order; provided however, that the DIP Lenders shall be entitled
to rely on this Order as issued for all advances made under the Term Sheet, the DIP Priority
Charge and the Definitive Documents up to and including the date this Order may be varied or

amended.
67. THIS COURT ORDERS that the come-back hearing is scheduled for April 28, 2014.

68. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of
12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order.
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE REGIONAL ) WEDNESDAY, THE 30™
SENIOR JUSTICE MORAWETZ ) DAY OF APRIL, 2014

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL
SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., TCS CASH STORE
INC., INSTALOANS INC,, 7252331 CANADA INC., 5515433
MANITOBA INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD. DOING
BUSINESS AS “THE TITLE STORE”. (each one and all of the
above, collectively, the “Applicants’)

ORDER (ADDITIONAL TPL PROTECTIONS)

ON READING the affidavit of William Aziz sworn April 28, 2014 and the Exhibits
thereto, Affidavit of Murray McCann sworn April 22, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the
Affidavit of Sharon Fawcett sworn April 22, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the second report of
the Monitor and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the CRO, the DIP Lenders, the Ad
Hoc Committee, the Monitor, Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership #5 (“Trimor”),
0678786 B.C. Ltd. (“McCann”), such other counsel present, no other person appearing although

duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of Karin Sachar sworn April 30, 2014,




49

DEFINED TERMS

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that all capitalized but undefined terms used in this Order shall
have the meanings given in the amended and restated initial order of the Honourable Mr. Senior

Regional Justice Morawetz in these proceedings dated April 15, 2014 (the “Initial Order”).
ADDITIONAL THIRD PARTY LENDER PROTECTIONS

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that where, from and after the date of the Initial Order, any of
the Applicants receive any amounts in connection with the repayment of any TPL Brokered Loan
(i) for which McCann is listed as the lender; (ii) which is attributable to McCann according to the
Applicants' records; or (iii) which has been assigned to McCann (collectively, the "MeCann

Loans"),

(a) the Applicants shall keep detailed records of all such amounts and identify them as
receipts in respect of TPL Brokered Loans for the McCann Loans (the “Post-Filing
McCann Receipts™);

“(b) pending segregation in accordance with paragraph (c) below, the Post-Filing McCann
Receipts shall be included in, and treated in accordance with the provisions contained

in the Initial Order governing the TPL Net Receipt Minimum Balance;

(©) the Applicants shall, without delay, open a separate bank account, separate and apart
from the Applicants’ operating or other accounts, and, after the account is opened,
shall deposit the Post-Filing McCann Receipts into such account from time to time as

soon as possible after receipt thereof;

(d)  the Applicants shall not be entitled to use such Post-Filing McCann Receipts for the
purpose of brokering new TPL Brokered Loans or for any other purpose without a
furthier Order of the Court or the prior written consent of McCann; and '

(e) none of the charges created by the Initial Order, or otherwise in this CCAA 4
Proceeding, shall apply to the Post-Filing McCann Receipts without a further Order
of the Court.
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THIS COURT ORDERS that where, from and after the date of the Initial Order, any of

the Applicants receive any amounts in connection with the repayment of any TPL Brokered Loan

connected to the Applicants’ Ontario operations (i) for which Trimor is listed as the lender; (ii) '

~ which are attributable to Trimor according to the Applicants' records; or (iii) which has been

assigned to Trimor (collectively, the "Trimor Ontario Loans"),

(2)

(b)

(c)

(D

(e)

4.

the Applicants shall keep detailed records of all such amounts and identify them as
receipts in respect of TPL Brokered Loans for the Trimor Ontario Loans (the “Post-

Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts”);

pending segregation in accordance with paragraph (c) below, Post-Filing Trimor

Receipts shall be included in, and treated in accordance with the provisions contained

in the Initial Order governing the TPL Net Receipt Minimum Balance;

the Applicants shall, without delay, open a separate bank account, separate and apart
from the Applicants’ operating or other accounts, and, after the account is opened,
shall deposit the Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts into such account from time to

time as soon as possible after receipt thereof;

the Applicants shall not be entitled to use such Post-Filing Trimor Ontario Receipts
for the purpose of brokering new TPL Brokered Loans or for any other purpose

without a further Order of the Court or the prior written consent of Trimor; and

none of the charges created by the Initial Order, or otherwise in this CCAA
Proceeding, shall apply to the Post-Filing Trimor Receipts without a further Order of
the Court.

THIS COURT ORDERS from the date of this Order, to the extent any of the Applicants

receive any amounts in connection with the repayment of any TPL Brokered Loan connected to

the Applicants® operations outside Ontario (i) for which Trimor is listed as the lender; (ii) which.

are attributable to Trimor according to the Applicants' records; or (iii) which has been assigned

to Trimor (collectively, the "Trimor Non-Ontario Loans"),
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(a) the Applicants shall keep detailed records of all such amounts and identify them as
receipts in respect of TPL Brokered Loans for the Trimor Non-Ontario Loans (the

“Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario Receipts™);

® such Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario Receipts shall be included in and treated in
accordance with the provisions contained in the Initial Order governing the TPL Net

Receipt Minimum Balance;

(c) the Applicants shall only be entitled to use such Post-Filing Trimor Non-Ontario -
Receipts:

(i)  for the purpose of brokering new TPL Brokered Loans in the name of
Trimor provided that, with effect upon any such new TPL Brokered Loan
being made, it is hereby declared that Trimor shall be the owner of such
new TPL Brokered Loan and all proceeds therefrom and such TPL
Brokered Loan and all proceeds therefrom shall not form part of the
Property and shall not be subject to the Charges; or ' A

(ii)  on any other basis as may be agreed in writing between Trimor, the DIP
Lender, the Applicants and the Monitor.

.

5. THIS COUI}%?RDERS that the Applicants shall maintain a minimum cash balance in
0
$ ,,‘500,000 (in addition to the Post-Filing McCann Re%??ts) subject to

an amount equal to

_ ¢ ,
further Order of the Court or the consent of the Monitor. 7 fnd Hre Poit 'G\"’S Wit

, Ordnto Qecszi?\‘S @7
6. THIS COURT ORDERS that , with the exception of the declaration in paragraph 4(c)(i),
nothing in this Order shall prejudice the rights of any of the parties to assert any arguments in
this proceeding in relation to the matters contemplated hereby, provided however that any such

arguments shall be dealt with on a reasonable timeline to be agreed to by the Monitor or further
ordered by this Court. ‘
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT
OF THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC., THE CASH
STORE INC., TCS CASH STORE INC., INSTALOANS INC.,

7252331 CANADA INC.,
ALBERTA LTD. DOING

e e e e Tt e it P P et o ket o S Pt e

5515433 MANITOBA INC., 1693926
BUSINESS AS "THE TITLE STORE"

This is the Cross-Examination of
ERTN VERONICA ARMSTRONG, on her affidavits sworn April

13, 2014 and May 8, 2014 herein,

Bennett Jones LLP, 1 First Canadian Place, 100 King St
West, Suite 3400, Toronto, Ontario, on Wednesday,

May 21, 2014.

e ot o e o P o e T ot e P

APPEARANCES.:

Alan B. Merskey,
Andrew McCoomb

Cannon G. Beaulne

Sharon A. Kour

Karin Sachar

Brett Harrison

Adrian Scotchmer

taken at the offices of

for DIP Lenders

for 0678786 B.C. Ltd., Formerly
The McCann Family Holding
Corporation

for FTI Consulting, the Monitor

for the Chief Restructuring
Officer of the Applicants

For Trimor Annuity Focus LP #5

for Tim Yeoman, Class Plaintiff

NETWORK REPORTING & MEDIATION (416) 359-0305
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63.

64.

65.

66.

May 21, 2014 ERIN VERONICA ARMSTRONG - 17

was not identical to the current form?

A, That's correct,

Q. And did the previous form contain any
reference to a trust agreement or arrangement?

A, I believe so.

Q. And is it your belief that the
curreﬁt form contains any reference to a trust
agreement or arrangement?

A. Our understanding of the current
agreement is that the processes were to remain
the same.

Q. That wasn't quite my question, Ms.
Armstrong. My question was, 1is it your
understanding that anywhere in the text of the
current agreement there is a reference or a
description of a trust agreement or arrangement?

A. I'd have to review the agreement.

0. Sure. Let's goAto it. It's back at
tab A.

MR. HARRISON: I think, just to shorten
this up, I think we'll agree that we have not
seen the word "trust" in that agreement. If we
come to a different understanding, we'll lef you
know.

MR. MERSKEY: Thank you. That will be

NETWORK REPORTING & MEDIATION (416) 359-0305

54
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COURT FILE NUMBER
COURT '
TUDICTAL CENTRE
PLAINTIFF
DEFENDANTS

DOCUMENT

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE AND
CONTACT INFORMATION OF
PARTY FILING THIS
DOCUMENT

W03 0547 |

02441120 pamy 04-11-2014 212
BEMNETT JONES LLP : PAGE B2/B9
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COURT OF QUEEN'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

EDMONTON
0678786 B.C, Lad.,

THE CASH STORE INC. and THE CASH
STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC,

ABFLDAVIT
RENNETT JONES LLP

Barclsters atd Solicltors
4500, 835~ 2" Stropt BW

- Calgary, Adberty, T2P 4K7

Attenrtion: Toen Lonz

. Telephone No.: (408) 2583317
 Faosimmdle No.: {403) 2657219

Client Fils Mot 9515

AFRIDAVIT OF SHARON FAWCETT

Bwork ont April 11, 2014

1, Sharon Fawoett, Chatterad Acoolntant, of Calgary, Alberts, SWEAR AND BAY THAT:

I8 I e the Secretary of the Plalutiff 0678786 B.O, Lid. ("0678786"), and have a personn]
knowledge of the tudters hereinafter deposed to save Where otherwiss stated to be based

upos nformation and helisf.

2 The Plaintidl 0678786, formarly known s MoCan Family Holding Colpol’aﬂom jg a
British Columbia cozporation extra-provinelally regstersd in Alberta.

WiLogal\00DPs 11000051 10262597v2
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The Cash Store Financial Services Iuc, ("Cagh Store Fipancial") is an Alberta corporation
that is publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The Cash Store Inc, ("Cash
Store") is an Albetta cotporatlon and a subsidiary of Cash Store Finencial. Both
corpotations wete initially established in Edmonton, Alberta.and continue o have their
heag-offices there, Cash Store Financlal and Cash Store are in the business.of acting as a
broker for customers tequiting short-term loans, Cash Store Pinanclal operafes 1n excess
of 500 1etall consumer loan outlets in Canada and the United Kingdom. The Cash Store
owns approximately 300 (of the total Cash Store Financial 500) retail outlets in nine
provinees and two territories, and employs approximately 2,300 people, Attached to this
Affidavit as Bxhibit 1" is an Investor Fact Sheet taken from Cash Store Financial's

wobslto,

Cash Store and Cash Store Financlal appear to have the same officers and present
financial statements on a consolidated basis, I am not awate of whether any separation
between these corporations is maintained, 0678786 has always dealt with Cash Store
Financial and its officers and all COLLesp ondence has been from this entity,

As a result of & court decigion in Ontarlo 1n February 2014, it appears that Cash Store
Pinencial can no longer catry on business in that jurlsdietion, As Cash Store Finencial
had a slgnificant number of leased premises and employees in Ontario, I understand this
has created setious financial distress, A Special Committee of Directots was appointed to
review "statoglc alternatives”. Attached as Exhibit 12! are coples of Pross Releases
dated February 19, February 20 and Maroiiz& 2014 concetning these events. . Slnce
these events, 0678786 has been proactive in meintaining its accounts and has had regular

communications and information from Cash Store Financial,

Pursuant to g Broker Agreement dated June 19, 2012, between 0678786 and Cash Stb.re
(the "Broker Agreement"), a copy of which is aftached to this Affidavit as Exhibit 3",
0678786 placed over time an aggregate of $13,350,000 (the "Restilcted Cash"), ag
Financler, with the Cash Store, as ‘Brokei', for the sole putpose of those funds belng
loaned to customers, Extensive loan selection ctiteria must be met or specific approval
by 0678786 must be obtained, before any Restcted Cash-i§ loaned, Furthermore, the

WSLogal\0D095 [100005\10262097v2
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" Restticted Cash ig to be used for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 2,10 of the

Broker Agreement;

2.10 USAGE OF LOAN ADVANCES

For greater certalnty, funds from time to time advanced to Broker
from Financier are solely Intended to be utilized for the purposes of
making advances 0 Bigker Customers on Financler's behalf ag
contemplated heteunder, Broker agrees that any funds not otherwise
being held by the Broker as a "float" in antloipaiton of Loat approvals
shall not, without the consent of Financier, be advanced or utilized for any
other putpose,

In discussions with Michael Zvonkovie 1eading up to the execution of the Broket
Agreement and throughout adminlstering the funds on behalf of 0678786, it was
expressed to be important to the Plainttffthat its funds were kept separate and apart from
the genetal opetating funds of Cash Store Financial in accordance with the Broker
Agreement. The segregation of funds from genefal operating funds was-at all times

agsured.

Cash Store reptesented-and the Broker Agteement provides that all finds advancoed ateto
he held in a Desi gnéted Broker Bank Account, defined in paragraph 1,1(g) of the Broker
Agteement as follows; "the bank account of Broker designated by Broker for the
putposes of tempotarily recelving funds from Finanoler (if loans are made by Financier
way of cash advance) before they are advanced to a Broker Customet”,

57

1 have administered the accounts of the Plalutiff in connection with fhe Broker -

Agreement primarily through the V.P, Finance of The Cash Store, Mr, Steve Carlsitom,
In Februaty 2014, upon learnlng of the diffioulties of the Cash Store operation in Ontatio,
I requested an updated listing of the Plaintiff's loan portfolio and advised Mz, Cartlstrom

that given the suspension of the line of credit product in Ontario, the Plaintiff would

prefer to reduce its loan portfolio balance ag at Febtuary 12, 2014, and that as amounts
wete collected by the Cagh Stote, funds would be returned to the Plaintiff along with the
unexpended capital balance of the Plaintlffs funds. The Cash Store would not be
obligated to pay 17.5% interest on the returned funds from the date of return, It was my
{nformation and belief that this was the artangetment whicl had been struck by the
Plalntiffs former officer, Mr. Mumay MoCann and the Defendant's President, Gord

_WS8Leyrl\DDDOS 1N00005\] 0262097 v2
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Reykdal, I confirmed these arrangements to Mr, Carlstrom in writing on February 26,

2014, however, funds woere not tepald to the Plaintiff,

Until Mareh 2014, 0678786 recelved monthly statements indicating the cash available
and the amount deploysed, Attached as Txhibit "4" is a copy of the stmement from
Febmaly 2014, This statement shows that as of February 28, 2014 the sum of
$6,449,420 in undeployed cash remained available to 0678786, Subsequent to that
stafement, 1 was advised that a further $831,000 had been dollscted o our third party
loan portfolio durlng the petlod from March 1, 2014 to March 16, 2014, Inoreastng our
undeployed cash balance to $7,280,420, Further collections would have occurred from
March 17, 2014 to date, increasing our undeployed cash balanee accordingly, While I

have requested that informati on, T have not yet tecelved it,

The finaneial statements of Cash Store further reaffirms that the money we advanced was
"Restrioted Cash™. As of Deeember 31, 2013, for example, the Balanoe Sheet of the' Cash
Store indicates $6,408,009 of Restricted Cash, Attached as Exhibit 5! is a copy of the
Decetmber 31, 2013 Balance Sheet-and Note 4 wlnoh pert'uns to this item,

Cash Store has repeatedly, since the Funds wete advanced, confitmed that they were held

in accotdance with the Broker Agr eement in & segregated bank account, but has recently

refused to confirm that they are so segtegated and held,

Approximately 3 —4 weeks ago, and following up on my February 26, 2014 email, I had
a conversation with the Cash Store Financlal Vice-President Steve Carlstrom (previously
notéd above in paragtaph 9) in which he expressed concerns if the monies which wo had
requested to be repaid (and which I undetstood had been agreed to be repaid) thete would
be liquidity issues with Cash Store Financial, Nonetheless, in response to my concern
about the secutity of undeployed oash, I was assured by Mr, Carlstrom that the money
remained available and was belng administered in accordance with the Broker

Agreement,

I am also Cotporate Secretary of 8028702 Canada Ine,, which holds $5,000,000 of Cash
Store Financlal's senior secured debt, On Aptil 1, 2014 Cash Stote Finanoial failed fo

WSLagn\000951100005\10262007v2
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pay the interest on its senior secured indebtedness, which failure constitutes a default

putsuant to the tetms of that indenture if not cured within 30 days.

I believe that the Defendants ate elther insolvent ot near insolyent, and that they Intend to
use the money of 0678786 for general cotporate purposes, when 1t is not their money to
uge and such action would be oont.rérid lto the Crodit Agreement, All of the factors Usted
above ate indications of a seriously distressed company and I feat that unless immediate
action is taken, the money of 0678786 will be conveted of taken in broach in trust,

By letter dated April 4, 2014, 0678786 requested of counsel' fot the Speolal Committee
that there be confirmation that the Restiioted Cash was kept segregated, or for return of
the Funds (attached as Exhibit "6"), A copy of this letter was alse sent to counsel for
Cash Store Financial, The Defendants have tefused to confirm the segtegation of the
Restricted Cash, and instead responded by letter dated April 8, 2014 alleging it is not
trust. money (attached Exhibit "7"), That letter was respended to on Aptil 8, 2014
(Exuibit "'8"), '

The Broker Agreement further provides in paragraph 5.1 as follows:

51  INSPECTIONS & AUDITS
Finanoler shall have the tight, at any time upon written demand -
made by Financier {o Broker, to inspeot, during normal business hours, all
Records (wherever located), Qualified third party consuliants, as
deterfnined by Rinancier at Financier's sole disctetion, may be employed
by Financier for the putpose of any such inspection. Broker shall have the
tight, as a condition of such inspection, to requite any such consuliants to
exeoute, such form of confidentiality agresment as Broket may reasonably
require and in any event such consultants shall be deemed to acting as
agents for and .on behalf of Financlet for purposes of Artlele 4 hereof, The
cost of any such Inspecion shall be the sole responsibility of Financier and
any such consultant so employed will be required to cteate reports, which
are aocessible only to Financler and if permitted by Financler, Broker,

Pussuant to paragtaph 5,1, 0678786 by letters dated April 4, 2014 (Exhibit "6") and Apil
8, 2014 (Bxlxibit "7") requested that PricewatethouseCoopers Ine, ("PWC") be appointed
to Inspect the books and records of the Cash Store, Although PWC prepared Cash Store
Financlal's fax retutns, I am not aware of any conflict or othet reason why they may not
undertake this task, As of the date of this Affidavit, Cash Store, Cash Store Finanolal and

f___, . WSLopa\000RS 1\0000541 02629972
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the Special Committee have refused to permit PWC to investigate the books and records

of the Cash Store as permitted under thie Broker Agreement,

in-and for the Province of Alberta

19,  As a result of the concerns referenced above, the Plaintiff has cancelled the Broker

Agreement in accordance with its terms and requested refurn of its funds, A copy of the
t : ! :
cancellation notlee is attached hereto as Exhibit 19",

20, Unless steps are immediately taken fo permit access by PWC, 0678786 will suffer
irtepatable ham in that its Restricted Cash may be dissipated, without any ability to {race
these funds, '

21, Furthermore, unless the Cash Store {5 testtained fiom using any Restricted Cash which
are ot should be contained in & segrogated account, which are in fact sither the propetty
of the 0678786, ot {rust funds held on its behalf, 0678786 will suffer irreparable harm
due to the financial circumstances of the Defendants,

92,  The Plaintiff undertakes to pay damages associated with any wrongful granting of any
interim relief which it seeks in this ocase,

23, I make this Affidavit in support of the relief requested in the Application.

SWORN BEFORE ME )
at Calgary, Alberta, this 11" )
day of April, 2014, ) )
. v ) A ——
A. Commissioner for Oaths ) SHARONFAWCETT
)
)

DONCNA I\i/l 'KAg"HILER
=xplre
P acombe 24,20.15

AWSLogall00095 11000054 10262997v2
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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT,R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL
SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., ET AL

AFFIDAVIT OF ERIN ARMSTRONG
v  Som
Sworn/Affirnred on April 13, 2014
o SIR

1, Erin Armstrong, of the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, SWEAR/AFFIRNM AND
SAY THAT:

1.

I am a former Chief Operating Officer of 1518534 Alberta' Ltd., the general partner
(“General Partner”) of Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership #5 (“Trimor LP”).
was Chief Operating Officer of the General Partner from June 2012 until I resigned in
January of 2014. I continue to assist the General Partner in an administrative capacity
with respect to Trimor LP’s relationship with The Cash Store Inc. (“TCSI”), as described
below. Accordingly, I have personal knowledge of the facts and matters hereinafter
deposed to, except where the same are stated to be upon information and belief and as to

these last-mentioned matters, I verily believe them to be true.

Trimor LP is a limited partnership registered pursuant to the laws of Alberta, with its
head office in Calgary, Alberta.

The General Partner is an Alberta Corporation with its head office is in Calgary, Alberta.

There are approximately 150 beneficial unit holders in Trimor LP, most of whom are

individuals, trusts, or corporations resident in Alberta.

Trimor LP was created for the purpose of advancing and making loans to customers of

TCSI (the “Customers”) pursuant to an arrangement whereby funds are advanced by
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11.

12.
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Trimor LP, as financier, to TCSI or a TCSI-related entity, as broker, for the purpose of

making loans to the Customers on Trimor LP’s behalf pursuant to broker agreements.

Attached collectively hereto as Exhibit “A” is a copy of the broker agreement between
Trimor LP and TCSI, dated February 1, 2012 and made as of June 5, 2012 (the “TCSI
Agreement”), along with an amendment to the TCSI Agreement, which was executed on
or around April 10, 2013.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “B” is a true copy of the broker agreement between Trimor
LP and 1693926 Alberta Ltd. (169”), dated September 24, 2012 and made as of June 5,
2012 (the “169 Agreement” and with the TCSI Agreement, the “Broker Agreements”).

As set out in greater detail below, the Broker Agreements provide that any funds
advanced to TCSI or 169 (collectively, the “Broker”) by Trimor LP are to be held by the
Broker in a segregated account and that such funds may not be utilized by the Broker for

any purpose other than making loans to the Customers on behalf of Trimor LP.

Pursuant to the Broker Agreements, Trimor LP, as Financier (as that term is defined in
the Broker Agreement), has currently placed with the Broker the amount of $27,002,000
(the “Trimor LP Funds™) for the sole purpose of the Trimor LP Funds being loaned to

the Customers.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “C” is a true copy of a consolidated lender statement of
account for January 2014 with respect to $25,502,000 of the Trimor LP Funds advanced
pursuant to the TCSI Agreement.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “D” is a true copy of a consolidated lender statement of
account for January 2014 with respect to $1,500,000 of the Trimor LP Funds advanced
pursuant to the 169 Agreement.

Pursuant to the Broker Agreements, specific loan selection criteria must be met or
specific approval by Trimor LP must be obtained, before any of the Trimor LP Funds are

loaned.
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13.  Section 2.3 of the Broker Agreements provide that Trimor LP may provide notice to the
Broker that funds held in the “float” should not be advanced by Broker to Customers and

that Trimor LP is under no obligation to approve any particular loan or amount of loans.

It specifically states:

2.3 LOAN SELECTION

Broker shall not present to Financier any proposed loan unless such loan and such
Broker Customer meets the Loan Selection Criteria but Financier shall, subject to
Section 2.2, be deemed to have approved a loan to any Broker Customer meeting
such criteria. For greater certainty, unless and until Broker has received written
notice to the contrary .any of Financier’s funds then being held by the Broker as a
“float” in anticipation of Loans may, where Financier approval is deemed to have
been given hereunder, be advanced by Broker to Broker Customers on Financier’s

behalf in accordance with 2.5.

Financier shall be under no obligation to approve any particular loan or amount of

loans.

14,  Pursuant to the Broker Agreements, the Trimor LP Funds are to be used for no other

purpose than as set out in paragraph 2.10 of the Broker Agreement, which provides as

follows:
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2.10 USAGE OF LOAN ADVANCES

For greater certainty, funds from time to time advanced to Broker from Financier
are solely intended to be utilized for the purposes of making advances to
[Customers] on Financier's behalf as contemplated hereunder. Broker agrees that
any funds not otherwise being held by the Broker as a "float" in anticipation of
Loan approvals shall not, without the consent of Financier, be advanced or

utilized for any other purpose.




15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.
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As of January 2014, approximately $4.7 million of the Trimor LP Funds were not being
used to fund loans to Customers and were therefore as I understand to be held in trust by

the Broker for the benefit of Trimor LP pursuant to the terms of the Broker Agreements.

TCSI has continuously assured Trimor LP that its funds were not used for any other

purpose than advancing loans in accordance with Broker Agreements. A

I have always believed and the Broker Agreements provide that all funds advanced by
Trimor LP are to be held in the Designated Broker Bank Account, defined in paragraph
1.1(g) of the Broker Agreements as follows: "the bank account of Brokei designated by
Broker for the purposes of temporarily receiving funds from Financier (if loans are made

by Financier way of cash advance) before they are advanced to a Broker Customer.”

I have always believed and the Broker Agreements provide that all payments made by
Customers on account of any loans made with the Trimor LP Funds are to be deposited
into the Designated Financier Bank Account, defined in paragraph 1.1(h) of the Broker
Agreements as follows: “the bank branch and account designated by Financier from time
to time where (and into which) deposits of cash and cheques received from Broker
Customers, in respect of such Financier funded loans, are to be cleared (deposited) to

from to time.”

Attached hereto as Exhibit “E” is a copy of a letter from Geoff Whitlam, on behalf of
Trimor LP, to TCSI dated January 24, 2014 providing notice that the amount Trimor is
prepared to fund is reduced to $23,000,000 and requesting confirmation as to when the

principal would be returned.

I understand that as a result of a court decision in Ontario in February 2014, TCSI can no
longer advance payday loans in Ontario and I understand that TCSI has setious liquidity
issues. Attached as Exhibit "F'' are copies of Press Releases dated February 19,
February 20 and March 28, 2014 concerning these events.

TCSI represented to Trimor LP that it would be making a payment to Trimor LP on
March 28, 2014 which as I understand it should have included interest collected on loans

made to Customers with Trimor LP Funds. TCSI has a long history of making such
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23.

24,

25.

payments when it represented it would do so, however the March 28, 2014 payment was

not made to Trimor LP.

On April 4, 2014, Trimor LP sent a letter TCSI requesting an immediate and complete
accounting of all loans facilitated by the Broker on Trimor LP’s behalf and giving formal
notice that Trimor was reducing the amount of funding made available under the Broker
Agreements to zero. Attached hereto as Exhibit “G” is a copy of the letter dated April 4,
2014 from Kurt Soost, president of the General Partner, to TCSL

On April 9, 2014, Trimor LP received a letter from Marc Wasserman of Osler Hoskin &
Harcourt LLP, counsel to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of The Cash
Store Financial Services Inc. (the “Cash Store Financial”) in response to Mr. Soost’s
April 4, 2014 letter. Attached hereto as Exhibit “H” is a copy of Mr. Wasserman’s letter.
The letter is very concerning to Trimor LP in that, contrary to the terms of the Broker
Agreements and Trimor LP understanding and belief that TCSI was acting and always
had acted in accordance with terms of the Broker Agreements, Mr. Wasserman advises

that the funds collected from the Customers are comingled.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “I” is a true copy of an email from Brett Harrison of
McMillan LLP, counsel for Trimor LP, to Mr. Wasserman dated April 12, 2014 stating
that Trimor believes that any proceedings commenced under the Companies Creditors’
Arrangement Act (the “CCAA”) be commenced in Alberta and that any Initial Order

made in such proceedings provide certain protections to Trimor LP.

In light of the Broker’s many connections to Alberta, the Court of Queen’s Bench of
Alberta (the “Alberta Court”) is the most convenient foram for a CCAA proceeding in
respect of TCSI, the Cash Store Financial and any related entities. I am advised by Mr.
Soost and I believe it to be true that:

a. the head office of both TCSI and the Cash Store Financial is in Edmonton,
Alberta;

b. TCSI and the Cash Store Financial have material ongoing operations in Alberta;
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c. the providers of approximately $41 Million in third party debt (including Trimor
LP) are resident in Alberta and have, pursuant to broker agreements (including the

Broker Agreements), attorned to the courts of the province of Alberta;
d. the holder of at least $5 Million of secured debentures is resident in Alberta; and

e. there is a pending application for an injunction against TCSI and the Cash Store
Financial brought by 0678786 B.C. Ltd. before the Alberta Court.

26.  Attached hereto as Exhibit “J” is a copy of a notice dated April 13, 2014 from Trimor
LP to the Brokers notifying the Brokers that:

a. the Broker Agreements will not be renewed at the end of their term; and

b. Trimor LP would no longer be deemed to have approved loans to the Customers

in accordance with section 2.3 of the Broker Agreements.

27.  I'make this affidavit in support of the position of Trimor LP on this application and for no

other purpose.

/ S A
SWORN/AFFRIMED BEFORE ME at the )
City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, )
this 13% day of April, 2014.

—

=Yy e

(Notary. Public in'and for the Province of
o Erin Armstrong O

Alberta)

S N N N N

Mitchell R. Allison
Studeg«t—at—Law

A
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE -
COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED '

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., TCS
CASH STORE INC., INSTALOANS INC., 7252331 CANADA INC,, 5515433
MANITOBA INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD DOING BUSINESS AS “THE TITLE
STORE”

Applicants

SUPPLEMENTARY AFFIDAVIT OF ERIN ARMSTRONG
(sworn May 8, 2014)

I, Brin Armstrong, of the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, SWEAR OATH
AND SAY THAT:

1. I am a former Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) of 1518534 Alberta Ltd., the
general partner (“General Partner”) of Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership #5
(“Trimor”). I was Chief Operating Officer of the General Partner from June 2012 until 1
resigned in January 2014 and I continue to assist the General Partner in an administrative
capacity with respect to Trimor LP’s relationship with The Cash Store Inc. (“TCSI”).
Accordingly, I have personal knowledge of the facts and matters hereinafter deposed to,
except where the same are stated to be upon information and belief and as to these last-

mentioned matters, I verily believe them to be true.

2. I swear this affidavit as a supplement to my affidavit sworn on April 13, 2014
(the “April 13 Affidavit”). Where this affidavit contains capitalized terms that are not

defined herein, those terms have the meaning given to them in the April 13 Affidavit.

TCSI PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF TPL FUNDS

3. TCS] disclosures state that the funds advanced by third party lenders (“TPLs”),
such as Trimor (the “TPL Funds™), for the purpose of making TCSI-brokered loans
(“TPL Brokered Loans”) are not assets of TCSI.



-2

4. In or about January 2012, TCSI offered $132.5 million in senior secured notes
due in 2017 through a private placement (the “Secured Note Offering”). Attached as
Exhibit “A” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI's Confidential Preliminary Canadian
Offering Circular dated January 12, 2012 (the “Preliminary TCSI Circular”) in
support of the Secured Note Offering and the cover email under which it was sent. This
Preliminary TCSI Circular was provided to Trimor by TCSI and at that time it was

indicated to me that it was the final version.

5. The Cash Store Financial Services Inc. is a publically traded company which

prepares and produces publically available anmual audited financial statements and
management’s discussion and analyses. The following publically available audited
financial statements and management’s discussion and analyses of TCSI are attached

hereto:

a. Attached as Exhibit “B” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI’s financial
statements for the fifteen months ended September 30, 2010 and for the
year ended June 30, 2009;

b. Attached as Exhibit “C” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI’s
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the three and twelve months
ended September 30, 2011;

c. Attached as Exhibit “D” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI’s
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the three months and year

ended on September 30, 2012;

d. Attached as Exhibit “E” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI’s
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the three months and year
ended September 30, 2013; and

e. Attached as Exhibit “F” to my affidavit is a copy of TCSI’s
Management’s Discussion and -Analysis for the three months ended
December 31, 2013.




_3.

TCSI’s REPRESENTATIONS TO TRIMOR REGARDING THE TRIMOR
FUNDS

6. As stated in paragraph 16 of the April 13 Affidavit, TCSI consistently assured
Trimor that Trimor’s funds were not used for any purpose other than advancing loans in
accordance with the Broker Agreement. In addition, TCSI assured Trimor that it would
treat the Trimor funds as being held in trust for Trimor’s benefit. Attached as Exhibit
“G” to my affidavit is an email from Michael Zvonkovic (former Vice-President,
Financial Reporting at TCSI) dated November 9, 2011 which provides an example of

these representations.

PAYMENTS AND CAPITAL PROTECTION

7. From the time that Trimor began making loans to TCSI until March 2014, TCSI
made cash payments to Trimor (“Payments”). Until January, 2014, the Payments were
made to Trimor four times per month in accordance with a schedule that TCSI emailed
to me (the “Payment Schedule”) each month. The Payments were calculated so that
Trimor received a 17.5% return per year on the full amount of the Trimor TPL Funds
advanced to TCSI. Attached as Exhibit “H” to my affidavit is a copy of the Payment
Schedule provided to by TCSI for May 2010 to March 2014, inclusive. To the best of
my recollection, other than the payments shown on the Payment Schedule for March, all
of the payments listed on the Payment Schedule were made by TCSI to Trimor in

accordance with the schedule.

8. TCSI has also represented that they provided Trinior with protection against the
erosion of Trimor’s TPL Funds (referred to as “capital protection” in the affidavit of
Stephen Carlstrom sworn April 14, 2014). During my tenure as COO of the General
Partner, I had numerous discussions with TCSI’s senior management, including Gordon
Reykdal (Chief Executive Officer), Craig Warnock (Chief Financial Officer), and Steve
Carlstrom (Vice-President, Financial Reporting) (“Senior Management”). From these
discussions, it was my understanding that TCSI was effectively purchasing the past due

loans from Trimor (the “Capital Protection Purchases”).

9. The affidavit of Craig Warnock swormn September 30, 2013, was filed in the
Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta proceeding bearing court file no. 130-11081 (the
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“Warnock Affidavit”). Attached as Exhibit “I” to my affidavit is a copy of the
Warnock Affidavit.

10. I have reviewed the statements made in paragraphs 25-27, 35, 37 and 43 of the
Warnock Affidavit and they accord with the statements made to me by TCSI’s senior
management. Where those paragraphs of the Wamock Affidavit make reference to
Assistive Financial Corp., another TPL of TCSI, my understanding was that those facts
were true in respect of all TPLs.

PREJUDICE TO TRIMOR

11. I believe Trimor risks suffering serious financial losses unless the Trimor

Property (as defined in the Notice of Motion) is returned to Trimor immediately.

12.  Cash Store is no longer a licensed payday lender in Ontario, and as a result, my
understanding is that it cannot broker any TPL Brokered Loans or make any direct loans
in Ontario. As a result, my understanding is that there is little incentive for Ontario

customers to repay the TPL Brokered Loans.

13.  To my knowledge, the Applicants have provided no indication that they have a
viable plan for the continuation of their operations in Ontario or elsewhere. I believe that
there is a real possibility that the Applicants will cease operations in the near future in
those jurisdictions where they broker third party loans. Should Cash Store cease
operations in any of these non-Ontario jurisdictions before the administration of the
Trimor-owned Loans and Advances are transferred, I believe it could have a devastating

A impact on the ability of Trimor to collect these loans.
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14. 1 swear this affidavit in support of the position of Trimor LP on this motion and

for no other or improper purpose.

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of )
Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 8* )
day of May, 2014. )
2 ' ) o 4.
- S ) T A
(Notary Public in and for the Province of ) ( _oqff Zerpine ///—V\_
Alberta) ) ) ) Erin Armstron(é

Mitchell R. Allison
Student-at-Law
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Coutt File No, CV-14-10518-00CL

" ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, o, C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF THE

CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC,, THE CASH STORE INC,, TC5 CASH STORE
ING., INSTALOANS INC,, 7252331 CANADA INC,, 5515433 MANITOBA INC,, 1693926

ALBERTA LTD DOING BUSINESS AS "THE TITLE STORE"
APPLICANTS

AFFIDAVIT OF SHARON FAWCETT

I, Sharon Faweett, Chartered Accountant, of Calgary, Alberta, SWEAR AND SAY THAT:

1,

T am the Secretary of the Plaintiff 0678786 B,C, Ltd, ("0678786"), and have 4 personal

~ knowledge of the matters heretnafter deposed to save whete otherwise stated fo be based

upon information and belief,

In Alberta Coutt of Queen's Bench Action No, 140305471, I swote an Affidavit on April
11, 2014 which sets out most of the details with respect to the placement of $13,350,000
(the "Restiloted Cash") by 0678786 with The Cash Store Inc. (the "Cash Store"), 1 attach
a copy of that Affidavit without Exhibits as Exhibit 1", 1 repeat and adopt the
statements set out therein and use the tetms defined in that Affidavit,

Turther Details with Respect to Misrepresentation of Segregation of Cash

3,

As Indlcated in my prior Affidavit, }t was represented to me and Mr, MoCann at the time
the Broker Agreement was etered nto, and it s & term of the Broker Agreement, that all
Restricted Cash would be placed in a Designated Broker Bank Account, which would be
separate and apart from Cash Store Finencial's general opetating account, It Is my
wndesstanding from discussions with Cash Store Financial V.P, Finaneial Reporting at the
time, Wichael Zvonkovic, that such an account did exist at the fime the Broker
Agreement was entered into, that 1t was a trust account, and that the Bank required the
names of the brokers who owned the money, Attached as Exhibit "2" is a 2012 email

W8Legil\00095 110000541 03002641
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.

exohange confirming this fact, At no time did anyone from Cash Stote or Cash Store
Finanolal advise me that Resirleted Cash would be handled differently then as set out

above,

In paragraph 9 of my ptior Affidavit, [ 'indiéa.te that there were numerous discussions
concerning the 0678786 Restricted Cash in February to Match 2014, Attached to this
Affidavit as Xxhibit "3" are ematls between me and Cash Store exeoufives, Including
M, Carlstrom discussing the Restrieted Cash, Attached as Exhibit "4" are emalls
between Mr, MeCann and Mr, Reykd] between February 27, 2014 and April 12, 201 4,
with respect to the Restricted Cash, ‘Never 1 these emalls o the conversations
surtounding them was there any mention that the Restrioted Cash of Cash Store was now
commingled with general funds, Tn fact, I was led to believe the Tunds were still

segregated as promised,

As set out in the Affidavit of Mr, McCann, the deciston to use the Resiricted Cash of
0678786 was likely made before the CCAA, I am concerned that the Special Committee
made the decislon knowing that Cash Store and Cash Store Financial were in breach of
the Broker Agreement and that the compeny had misrepresented the facts fo 0678786,

Purthermore, | am concerned that the Special Committee took steps to ensure that the
owners of the Restricted Cash were not apprised of the misreprésentations to enable Cash
Stores and Cash Store Financlal to spend most of the Resiricted Cash. On ot about
March 31, 2014, the Special Committes instructed management to not speak with me ot
My, McCann, Attached as Exhibit "5" is an email from Mr, Reykdal confirming this
fact, Although a request was made Aptil 4, 2014 to allow PWC to inspect the records of

Cash Stores putsuant fo its rights under the Broker Agreement, otly as of last Friday,

April 18, 2014 was this finally agteed to be permitted.

‘While this was ohgoing, I am concerned that much of the Restricted Cash has bee spent,
presumably in parf on professional and other fees related to these proceedings, Had
0678786 been notified eatlier, it would have immediately attended at Court to protect its

posiﬁon.
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1 am advised that advance notlee of an application regarding the Restricted Cash was
given fo counsel for the Special Cominitice on or about April 9, 2014, Our applivation
materlals were served on Friday, Apeil 11, 2014, The first our counsel heatd about a

 GCAA application was on Sunday, Aptil 13, 2014 at 10:34 pam, when a deaft Order was

sent to the attention of our eounsel In Calgary, for & Mondéy, April 14, 2014 &t 9:00 a.m,

Toronto application,

Collection and Re-Loaning Funds

9,

10.

11,

SWORN BEFORE ME
at Calgary, Alberta, this 277

day opr{ril, 14,

I ynderstand that the Initlal Order in these proceedings provides thet money from the
collection of loans owned by 0678786 1s eligible 1o be re-loaned by Cash Store and Cash
Store Financial, Thigis highly prejudicial to 0678786, The loans made by Cash Store
and Cash Store Finanocial are risky when-ordinaty business operations ae in place, The
chance of defaulf is high,

The chance of loss to 0678786 is immeasurably higher in the present ciroumstances, If
Cash Store or Cash Store Flnancial were to go iato bankruptoy or receivership, there
would be virtually no chance of collecting any of the noney lent. I believe that debtors
would be telyoctant to pay and that the costs of collection would far exceed the revenues
from these same loans, The Broker Agreement provides that the cash cannot be loaned if
Cash Store is insolvent and the reason is that this fact makes the loans much more tisky
than they ate in the ordinary course. It is highly prejudicial to 06787 86 to allow its cash

to continue to be loaned in fhese clroumstances,

This Affidavit is made pilor to the cross-examination of Mr, Catlsttom to comply with
the Ontatio Court rules, Further Affidavit ovidence may be requited when information is
recelved from PWC about the state of the Restilcted Cash, and the evidence of M.

Carlstrom on the cross-examination s recetved,

A Ge

st Oty Mafeco f2bl et
in and fot the P; vinzjae of Alberta
KENNETH T, LENZ

SHARON FAWCELT

M N N N N N N

BARRISTER AND SOLIGITOR

VSLognli00095110000541 0300264v1
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Court Tile No,

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)
IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS |
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.8,C, 1985, ¢, C-36, AS.AMBNDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL '
SERVICES INC,, THE CASH STQRE INC,, TCS CASH STORE
ING,, INSTALOANS ING,, 7252331 CANADAINC,, 5515433
MANITOBA INC,, 1693926 ALBERTA LTD, DOING
BUSINESS AS “THE TITLE STORE"”

APPLICANTS

ATFFIDAVIT OF STEVEN CARLSTROM

(SwornrApril 1452014y~ - -

I, Steven Carlstrom, of the County of Strathoons, In the Provincs of Alberta, the
Vice President, Financlal Reparting of the Applicant, The Cash Store Finanoiél Serylces Ino,
(“Cash Stote Finanolal"), MAKE OATH AND SAY:

Introduction .

1, This Affidavit is tmade In support of an Application by Cash Store Financial and
its affillated companies The Cash Store Inc,, TCS ~ Cash Store Ine., Instaloans Ino., 7252331
Canada Ine,, 5515433 Manitoba Inc,, and 1693926 Alberta Lid. doing business as “The Title

Stc{re" (collectlvely “Cash Store” or the “Applicants”) for an Inltial Order and related relief

under the Compantes’ Creditors Arrangement Aet, R.8.C, 1985, ¢, C-36, as amended (the -

“COAAY),
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2, I joined Cash Stote Finanolal on August 27, 2012 as Vice President, Finanoial
Reporting, In my tole I repott ditectly to the Chief Financlal Offlcer and I am tesponsible for all
of Cash Store Flnancial’'s external flnanclal reporting obligations. My dutles also include

oversight of payroll, corporate ascounting, and ascounting for Cash Stote Financlal’s offbalance

- sheet arrangements with thitd-party lenders (“TPLs"), as desoribed below, As such, I have

personal knowledge of the matters deposed fo hereln, Where I have relied on other soutces for
Information, I believe them to be true. In preparing this affidavit I have also consulted with other
members of Cash Store Financlal’s senior management team (the “Senior Managoment™), and

the Speclal Committee (as defined below) and reviewed cortain nformation ;prm.zidcd by

' flnancial advisors 16 the Speclal Committee as well as Cash Store’s public disclosure documents

filed on SEDAR.,

3 Cash Store s a leading provider oﬁ" alternative finanolal produocts and sérvioc_s,
serving individuals for whom traditional banking may be Inconvenient or whaveilable, Cash
Store owns and opetates Canada’s largest network of retail branches in the alternative financlal
produots and services industty, with 509 branches across Canade operating under the banners
“Cash Store Finanolal”, “Instaloans” and “The Ti:tlc?- Store,” Cash Store also owns and operates
97 branohes in the United Ringdom (the “UR™) under the banher “Cash Store Financlal”, Cash
Store Financlal 1s listed on the Toronto Stock Bxohange (TSX:CSE), Cash Store Flnancial was

traded -on the New Yotk Stook Exchange until it voluntarily delisted on February 28, 2014
(NYSE: CSES),
4, Cash Store acts as both & broket and lender of short-term advances and offers a

range of other products and servicss to help customers meet thelr day to day financial service

needs, Cash Store uses a corubination of payday loans and lnes of oredlt as Its primary consumer
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lending produot offetdngs and earns foes and interost inoome on ‘thess consummer lending

produets, Cash Store also offers a wide range of finanoiel products and setvioes icluding bank |

aocounts, prepald MasterCard, private label ctedit and debit cards, chegue cashing, money
transfors, payment insurance and prepald phone cards, Cash Store hes atyangements with a

vatlety of cotapanies to provide these products,

5. ‘Cash Stors employs approximetely 1,840 houtly and salarled employess in
Canada and the UK. who rely on the continued existence of Cash Stere for thelr livelihoods,
Other jstakeholdor groups (disoussed In greétcr detall ‘below) include Cash Store Financial’s
genlotr seoﬁred 1ende1‘§ undey its ore_dlt agteement, holders lof Casgh Store Financial’s 11,5% senior
seouted notes, TPLg, other oreditors, customers, shareholders, 'lan5101‘ds, and contingent creditors
suoh s olass actlon plaintiffs, Cash Store’s corporats headquarters an_d_ Senlor Management are

looated in Edmonton, Albetta,

6 | Cash “Stote Is facing tmmediate and multiple challenges to its ‘o.onﬁnuef'i
opetations, moluding regulatory lssues that‘ affeot i{s cors business strategy,lmult'iple class
actions requiring defence across Canada and in the U,8., cesh flow fssues, and the 1‘csulﬁn'g
deterforation’of its Hquidity position. Significantly, on February 13,- 2014, the Ontarlo Reéistrar
of the Ministey of Consumer Services (“Ontatio Registiar') issued a proposal to refirge to issue &
lender’s Hoense to Cash Store Financlal’s sybsidiaries, The Cash Store Inc. and Ihstaloans Tno,,
undet the Payday Loans 4ct, 2008, 8.0, 2008, Ch, 9(“Payday Loans Act”), On Matoh 27, 2014,
the Ontatlo Rogistrar {ssued a final notice of its‘deoision not fo grant a Hoense under the Payday
T,0ans Aot, Further, a vecent deolsion of the Ontatlo Superior Court of Justice determined that
Cash Store could not sell lis lne of oredit produots In Ontarlo, Cash Stote is thetefore not

ourrently pertmitted to sell any payday loan products or ine of oredit products in Ontarto,
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7, Over the course of the past several months, Cash Store engaged In signifioant
offorts to pursue a restructuring eutside of 4 formal insolvenoy proceeding, These efforts include
changes to the composition of Cash Store Finanolal's Board of Directors, the cteatlon of &
Special Committes of the Board of Directors to examine and pursue strateglo alfernatlves, hiving
of legal and financtal restructuring advisors, fengthy negotiations with the Ontarlo Registrar with
yespect to the Applicants’ Hoenses fo act as a lender under the Payday Loans Act, the
commenocement of g mergers and acquisition prooess to seék a sale or signifioant investment in

Cash Store and.negotiations with the Applicants’ stakeholders, Bach of these efforts is described

In more detail below,

8, Cash Store’s Hquidity pos‘itié-n continues tfo signiﬁcanﬂ)l/ deterlorate and the
cutrent sitvation ds dire, Thers Is foo much unoertainty and too many legal and business
jmpediments to obiut’ir;ue the strateglo alterndtiveg préoess outside of an Insolvency proseeding,
Sentor Management and the Speolal Committes have expreésed concerns regarding Cash Store’s
abllfty to susteln adequate lquldity to fulfill ourrent business objectives and maintaln golng

concern opergtions without commenolng a CCAA process, Cash Store Is unable to meet Its

Tiabilities as they become due and I therefote Insolvent,

9, Subject to certain condiflons Including the granting of the proposed Initial Ordet,
the DIP Lenders (defined below) have agreed to provide the Applicants with an interim financing
faoility (the “DIP Faeility”) of up fo approximately $20,5 million, The DIP Facility s intended to
provide the Applicants with adequate liquidity to satlsfy thelr working capital requitements and

1o seels to complete a restruoturing as part of this CCAA proceeding, Cash Store s faolng the

stark veality that 1t Is unable to copthme golng concern operations to preseive enterprise value

without the DIP Facllity,

78




— —

T

.5

10. ~ Based on my own knowledge of Cash Store’s business and my disoussions with
Senfor Management and the financlal advisors fo fhe Speoial Committes, 1t is my belef that Cash

Stare oan e ¢ viable business after undergoing a testruoturing under the CCAA, In or der to

contltge going conoern operations during Cash Store’s fransition to a new business model or a

pgtential sals, the Applican’cs tequire a stay of proceedings and related reliof under the CCAA,
The Applicants atoe seeking CCAA profeotion o enable Cash Store fo continve to operate as a
golng conoem and be provided with the breathing sproe to tesiruotute its affairs, Cash Store
intends to continue s stakeholder disoussions with the assistance of the proposed Monito1

should the Initial Ordet be granted, A stay will endble the Applcants o ovaluate testruoturing

. options concurrenily with a potontlal sale of all or a postlon of the Cash Store business, with the

ltimate goal of developing a plan of atrangement or 'oompro‘misa'to rSstructute the business In a

manner designed to maximize value to the extent possible for its stakeholders,

Corporafe Structure of the Applibants

11, Cash Store Finanoial is a publicly«held Ontarlo corporation, The other Applicants

ate all privately-held corpotations that are diveot or indfreot subsidiaries of Cash Store Finanoial,

" Cash Store Finanodal is the only broker of shott-term advances and ptovider of other finanotal

servioes in Cannda publicly tradeld on the Totonto Stock Bxchange (TSX:CSF), Cash Store

Pinanotal was traded on the New York Stock Bxchange untll it voluntarily delisted on
February 28, 2014 (NYSE: CSFS),
12, As of Deoember 31, 2013, Cagh Store Finanolal had issued and outstanding share

capital of 17,571,813 common shares, Cash Store Finanolal is authorized to issue unlimited

oommon shates with no par value, As at Deoembey 11, 2013, Cash Store Finanolal's dlrectors
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and sentor executive officers jogefhet beneficlally owned 3,915,700 (22.2%) of the outstanding
common shares, OF that, 3,640,300 (20.7%) of the outstanding common shares ate benefiolally
owned by Gordon Reykdal, a Director and the Chlef Exeouttve Officer of Cash Store Financial,

Coliseum Capital Management, LLC (“Coliseur’®) owns 19,27% of the common shates of Cash

Store Financlal, .

13, The chatt set out below shows the organizational structure of the Applicants and
telated companies, Cash Stote Financlal directly or indirectly owns 100% of the lssued and
outstanding shates of each of the Applicants, Inoluded in parentheses within the corporate

organization chart is the tespeotive jurlsdiction of incorporation of each entity,

T Tha Cash Staje Finanelst ’
Servkas inf
{onkina)
o : ' TR [ RRT] : ] .
vacaihtiorn 1 Loopossy tuadsine, | | tio capbodtoe, | | SERTEAR FTSTA L | | qer, gunstoraine, | ssisasspiuiatyluc] | oSt
[ [t | ™ | ||| "™ || R | G
I | ;
THiAloaD It i catnstoro Unijag] |CSF SRS Steveat
by Onhed Ko | 1 el Viogdony
(a)  Deseription of Entities
14, Cash Store Finanolal 1s the holding company for Cash Store, Eugene Davis is

Chairman of the Board, and the Boatd of Ditectors fneludes Cash Store Financial’s CEO Gorden
Reykdal, BEdward MoClelland, Timothy Bernloht, Thomas Fairfield, and Donald Camplon, My,

Reykdal founded Cash Store In 2001 and has been on the Board of Diveotors since that time, Mr,

'MoCle‘l'land joined the Board of Directors in 2005 and was appointed the Chief Executive Officer

of Cash Store Australia in Januaty 2008, My, Davis jolned the Board of Directors on June 26,
2013, and M, Bernlohr, Mr, Feirfield, and M Camplon all jolned the Boatd of Directors on
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August 13, 2014, Mr, Davls 18 also the Chalrman of the Special Committes and M, Bernloht,

M, Falefield, and Mr, Camplon ate also membets of the Special Committee (discussed below),

15,

two companies are the maln active subsidiaries of Cash Stors Finanolal, operating in all of the.

The Cash Store Inc, and Instaloans Ino, both aot as lenders and/or brokers, These

provinees and tertitorles whete Cash Store has a presence,

16,

(8)

®)

©

(d)

The following are the remalning Canadian subsidiaries:

)

1693926 Alberta Ltd, 1uns The Title Store, which offers loans where the
oustomer provides a motor vehiole title ag collateral, This company is unable to

meet its Habilities ag thoy come dus,

The Cash Store ¥inancing Corporation wag incorporated in Saskatohewan to

‘act as a lender for Cash Store’s “Blite” Line of Credit, howover, this subsldiary

was never used, is inactive, and is not an App'lioar_lt in these proceedings.

. 7252331 Canada Ing, was inocorporated to act as a direct lender for payday loans

In British Colmbla and aot as the lender for Cash Store’s “Blite” Line of Crodit,
which Cash Store recently ceased offering, While 7252331 Canada Ine, is not
éo’five; it holds some defaulted payday loans recelvable that are held at & zero

value as woell ag the Bllte Line of Credit recelvables,

1677547 Alberta Ltd, was oreated to maintaln the “Apply Pronto’ lnfernet tender
banner, howsver Cash Stote never launched the internet lending business and this
entity Is only used to malntain B webslio that aggrogates customer leads and

directs them to Cash Storé’s physical branches, It Is not an Appleant in these

Procecdings,
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17.

e
(e) TCS ~ Cash Stoxe Ino, acts as the lessee for all of the leased corposate stores.

6)) 5515433 Manitoba Ine, holds real property in Manitoba and is the landlord for

two Manifoba corporate stores,

(Fordon Reykdal s the sole director of the three UK companies: The Cash Store

Financial Limited (a holding company), The Cash Store Limited (the lender), and CSF Insurance

Servlces Limited (a service provider), The UK companies are not currently Appleants in these

' proceédings, however, Cash Store may seek to Include them in these proceedings should

oitoumstatices warrant,

184 !

(b)  Xnvestments in Foxeign Operations

Cash Stote Financilal also has Investments in the following forelgn operations:

e 18.3% of the oulstanding common shares of The Cash Store Australla Holdings Tne,

("AUC™), whioh. opetated payday loan branches it Australia under the name “'T.he Cash
Store Pty", Gordon Reyi(dal and Edwe}rd McClelland are ditectors of AUC, AUC ls
publicly listed on the TSX Venture exchange underthe symbol “AUC”. In December of
2012 the Alberta, Otﬁario and British Columbia Sécul‘ities Commissions issued cease
trade otders In respect of the shates of AUC for failufe to file financlal statements, On
September 13, 2013, The Cash Store Pty appointed a voluntary administrator putsuant to
Seotlon 436A. of the dustralian Corporations Aet 2001, The Administrator has taken

~ control of the'operations and assets of The Cash Store Pty and an application to have the

cease trade orders reyoked has been withdrawn by AUC,

15.7% of the oufstandihg common shares of RTF Financial Holdings Tno,, a private

compaty In the business of shori-tetm lending by wtilizing highly eutomated mobile
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technolo‘gy (SMS text message lending), RTF Financlal Holdings Ine. ourrently operates

in the UK but i not granting new loans at this {ime,

{¢)  Banking and Cash Management System

19, Cash Store Fipanclal's aoﬁve subsidiaries have thelt own bank accounts with
CIBC and sach branch’s account hag its own bunk account identifiers, The bank accounts do not
segregate the cash belonging to each subsidiary Into Unrestricted and Restrloted Cash (discussed

below), Unresirioted and Restrioted Cash are ooming{ed. Thete is & central cash management

‘gystem in place, including‘ all bank reconciliations, all accounts payable an.d payroll (with the

exception of the UK corporations, which processes thelt own accounts payable and payroll),

20, . Tn order to matntain minimunt bank balances and prevent overdiafls (which are
not petgiitted by CIBC), eash i tiansforred between legal entitles and bank accounts as
necessary on a daily basis,

21, In addition to its accounts with CIBC, Cash Store has cettain bank accounts with

RBC and BMO which accept-deposits from branches in certain loeations where a CIBC branch is

not available, As needed, cash is swept from the RBC and BMO accounts to CIBC opetating

aceounts, As funding s required for the UK operations, Cash Store will purchase Biffish Pounds

Sterling and transfer fands fom CIBC to the UK compantes’ bank accounts with Barclays,

22, The ehart set out below summarizes the movement of funds:

v LI e ¥
3 TRV,
* all ‘«-.' o

Outgoing Cagh I‘lows " Consumer Lending

Credit Card 1 card s loaded by & third-party setvies provides, Direct Cash Payments

Prepald Debit/ If a customer electd to receive his/her loan ona prepald oard pro duot Lhe

Ino, The cagh for the total.catd loads is settled to Cash Store's operating
| acoounts by Direct Cash Payments Inc, daily, one day in arrears via a
pre-aufhorized debit, The reconeiliatlon process 1s done cenirally,
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BET ’ If a customet elects to recelve his/her Joan via BET, Cash Store’s Infernal -
systetn' aggregates the BFTs and they ate prooessed centrally twice per
| day,
{ Cheque . " If a customer elocts o receive histher loan via Cheque, each branch s

equipped with blank cheque stook and p1 Ints the oheque 1tself

AL
. . D
v ) et

Incommg Cash Flows - Consumer Lending e L

POS Payments | Customers may eleot to tepay obligations through POS tel minals at eaoh '
| branch, Funds are colleoted by a thivd-party payment processor, Direot -
Cash Payments Ino, on Cash Store's behalf, The funds are remitted via

| BET to Cash Store on a daily basis onte day In arrears,

Pre-Authorized | Pre-authorized deblts to customer accounts are processed by a third-

debits | patty, DC Bank, ot behalf of Cash Store, PAD collections are settled to
| Cash Storo 5 business days after the effective date of the PAD,

Cagh/Cheques | Cash and cheques may be received by the branches or the centralized

collections centrs, Bach branch performs its own physical daily deposits
ofoash and chegques.

Methods paymeont fanotionality with their financfel inst1tution These payménts

Other Payment Customers are glso able fo pay via other eleatronio means, such as bill

are processed cehtrally,

" MER RN
KRR

'Outgoing Cosh Maoyws = Carparate (Adcounts Phyable)
Wite transfor All wire transfors are processed centrally by treasury the ough CIBC or
Barolays,
| BET Al BFTs are processed oetrally through CIBC ot Barolays,
{ Chequs All acoounits payable oheques are prooessed oentrally either via the

‘ Canadian or UK head office,

(d)  Chief Plage of Business

23, Cash Store’s ohlef place of business 1s the Province of Ontarlo, There ate-176
Cash Store branches located in Ontarlo, whish is the largest number of Cash Store branches in
any provinoe ot tertitory whete Cash Store operates, Cuttently, Cash Store has approximately
470 employees in Ontarfo, more people than Cash Stors etoploys In ahy other provinee ot

territory, Cash Store’s Chief Compliance and Regulatory Affaits Officer ig looated in Toronto




-

=11
beoause Cash Store 1s faclng its most significant regulatory ohallenges in Ontarlo (discussed in
more detail below),

%4, " The Ontarlo operations of Cash Store aocounted for $57.6 mildonr in revenue for
FY 2013, roughly 30% of Cash Stofe’s total revenue, more revenue than any other proyines o

tetrltory, Fm‘thermole, Cash Stote Pinanolal Is Hsted on the TSX and files all of its puble

disclosute dooumcnts in Ontarlo, Cash Store Rinancial ls a corporation inomporated under the

, Ontal'io Business Corporations Act; RS, O 1990 o B16 and its reglstered office is located in

Toronto, The impact of court and repgulatory deoisions (disoussed below) has signiﬁoantly
oufc,ailed Cash Store’s Ontaplo revenues, Addressing the Ontarlo regulatory ssues will be one of

the key aspects of Cash Store's proposed CCAA procoeding,

The BL;!SI'neSS of Oash Store Financial .

(8)  Canadian and UK Payday Lending Industries

25, . The Canadian payday lending market 1s $2.5 biitlon in loan volume annvally, and
copsists of 1,8 — 2.5 milllon gonsumers, It has been a stable market with regard to market slizo
and risk profile and remained stabls through recent mactoeconomio flustuations, Neither demand

for Cash Store services nor loss rates were negatively affocted through the 2008/2009 yecession.

26, The Canadian matket is not growing and is largely saturated by a number of
providers, Significant new enfrants to the Canadian market have been on-line rather than branch

baged. The paydey lending matket In Canada Is dominated by two maln providers, Cash Store

and Money Mart, each of whioh had approximately 35.0% market share before the recent

. suspension of Cash Store’s broketing activities in Ontarfo, The rest of the market {s made up of
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vartous smaller providess of loans, Two U.S, providers have or are curently withdrawing from

the matket, Advanos Ametlon (the largest U.S. payday lender) withdrew in 2012 and ourrently

_ Cash Max is converting 29 braniches in Ontarlo from payday lending to Cash Converters,

27, , The UK. payday lending mazket Is still developing, The es.timated market s £2 to
£2,2 billion in2011/12, up from an estimated £900 MM 1n 2008/09, This corresponds 1o between

17 4 million and 8,2 million new loang lssved,

(by - Cash Store Customers

28, | Tt i estimated that forty-seven percent of Canadlang live from payoheck te
paycheck, Of this forty-seven percemnt segment, épproximah;]y twenty percent (seven fo fen
pergent of Canadians) experlence cash .ﬂow préble'm':%aand usé payday loans, Cash Stote
customels 1er on the services Cash Store provides, as they often are unable to acoess uaditional .

bank products flom other finanoial Institutlons,

29, Cash Store’s branches made or atranged over 1,3 million Individval advances in’

BY 2013, Cash Store’s costomer satisfaction rating is high, at 88% In Canada and 93% in the

UK,

()  Produets and Seryices,

30, © Cagh Store acts as both a broker and lendet o,f short-term advances and offers a
yange of other products and servioes to help customets meet thelr day to day financlal service

needs. The chart set out below summarxzes the products offered by Cash Store!

Congumier Loans & Line of Credit

~ Bridge loans to help oustomets span temporaty oash

Payday
shortfalls or meet emergency orunexpected expenses
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- Short-term non-collgteralized loans-
- Typleally range from $100 to $1,500,

’ Signatare

| - Shott-term loan against & government source of income

(Child Tax, Disability, Penslon, Employment Insurance)

Title

- Secured against vehicle, up to 12 months in duration

| ~ Can. be refinanced or pald out

Lines of Credit

| = Up to $5,000 unseoured
| - Helps customers to rebuild their credit

~ Customers bortow as needed and tepay at any time

| Mintmum payments ate due at regular intervals
| » Inttoduced early In FY 2012

f Injury Claims

1 « Immediate cash for personal injury claims awalting payout

« Provided by Rhino Legal Finance Inc,, a third-party provider |
{ who contracts with Cash Store Financlal to provide this
1 service,

TR T v v T d T .
at v
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‘Digersified Eiarchil Profugtim &m0 L, i Yo W

{ Bank Accounts; Standard & |
1 " Premium

- Provided by DC Bank,.a schedule 1 bank that has a contract
with Cash Store Financlal to provide fhis service |
« Gves customets access to a valety of services

- CDIC insured

| Cheque Cashing

« Fast turr around
- Funds transfeired electronieally; branches do nothoeld cash

| Prepaid Credit Card

: - Supplied by DC Bank and MasterCard
|~ Provides the convenience of & credit card without interest

{ - Can be-used online

{ - Preloaded with funds for deily transactional needs and
{ aocess to cash at ATMs

Propaid Debit Card

| - Supplied by DC Bank

« Preloaded with funds for dally transactional needs and
aocess to cashat ATMs

| Mouney Ttansfer

« Provided by RIA Financial Servioes, a third party provider
who contracts with Cash Store Financlal to provide this

1 service

- Provides an easy and réllable way to pay bills or-send and
recelve funds worldwide

| Payment Insurance

« Covers outstanding loan balances in the event ofunexpected

)

T
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events such as! involuntary unemployment, accidentalinjury,
oritical {llness, death, dismemberment

()  Paydsy Loans — Direct Lending: Alberta, British Columbia, Nova
Scotia, Saskatchewan, UK

31, . In Janwary 2012, Cash Store Plinanoialloomplcted a ptivate placement of $132,5
million of 11,5% senior secured notes (the “Notes’™) and used most of the net proceeds of thié
offoring to aoquire a portfolio of consumer loans from TPLs, The Notes are disoussed In more
detall below, ‘With the acquisition of the loan portfolio, Cash Store began funding payday loans
directly in Alberta, Britlsh Colwmbla, Novﬁ Sootla, and Saskatchewan, Cash Store also funded
payday loans directly in Ontatlo and Maniioba.until the produet offering in those provinces was
switohed fo brokered H'ne}s. of bredit, Thess st iorovinées all enacted payday loah legislation

(disoussed below),

32, | . Cash Store typleally ém'anges. for advances to custpmeré {hat rangc from $100 to
$1,500. In order to receive an advance, a oustomer is generally required to provide proof of
ingome, coples of‘réoent bank statements, and ‘idontiﬁoat’ion, The customer myst then sither write
a clieque ot excoute a pre-authotized debit agreement for the amount of the advance pl;zs loan
foes, Wheto customers pay By cheque,. Cash Store defers depositing the chequs unttl the due date
of the loan; which fs the customer’s next payday (normally between 14 days and 31 days; byt no

latet than 62 days as prescribed by regulations),

(i)  Payday Xoans — Brokeringr New Brunswick, Newfoundiand,

Northwest Territories, Prince Edward Island, Yulon

33, For Joans that Cash Store brokers on behalf of eystomets, the application process-

and dooumenation requirements ate similar to those for direct lending, After an application is
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completed and other relevant information is obtalned from a oustomer, Cash Store brokers the -

custornet’s loan tequest to TPLg, Based on approval orfterls established by the TPLs, the
customer’s eligibility for an advance is assessed, If the customet is approved, Cash. Stote
provides the TPL's loan dooumentation fo the ‘oust;amer, Upon fulfillment of the loan
dooumentation tequirements, Cash Store Is authorized by the lender to forward the cash advance
to the customer on behalf of the lender, When an advanoe. beoomes due and payable, the
oustome must make repayment of the pr’inoipal and interest owing to the lender through Cash
Stote, whioh, 1s then retalned i’ Cash Stére”s opetating bank account until tedeployed to new
bortowets, Cash Stote eatns fees on these transactions, If there is diffioulty with the collection

process, the customer’s acoount may be turned ovet to an indépendent colleotion agenoy.

()  Line of Credit Products - Brokering) Manitoba, Ontario
34, ' OnOotobet 1, 2012 in Manitoba and February 1, 2013 'In Ontatlo, Cash Stote
launched new line of credit prociuots and stpppeéi offex{ing: payday loans in those pztl'ox'/inoas. The
lines of credit are unseoured, medium tel:m revolying 'citédit lres, with regular minimuym
payments teilored to customers’ needs and profiles, The line of credl products ate all broketod
products, except & small number of Cash Stote’s “Blite” lines of oredit, which Cash Store ceased
offering in Mareh 2014, Similar fo what is desoribed above for brokered payday loans, TPLs
provide the funds for the line of oredit, Cash Stote arranges the line of credlt, and Cash Store
eatns fees on these transaotlons; The proceeds from the brokered Hne of oredit produots ate
handled {1 the same way as thg proceeds fom the brokered payday loans, Cash Store ceased to

offer its Hine of credit products in Ontatlo ag of February 12, 2014 (discussed below).
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(d)  Branch YLocationg

335, Cash Store owns and operates Canada’s largest network of retail branches in the
alternative financial products and services industry, with 509 branches across Canada operating
under the banners “Cash Store Flnanclal”, “Instaloans” and “The Tile Store”” Cash Store has &

market share of approximately one thivd of alt payday loan branches In Canada,

36, On April 14, 2010, Cash Stote oponed its first branch in the UK and has since

expanded its -operations 1o inolude 27 branches in the UK under the banner “Cash Storo

Tinanclal”,

37, The 'typioal format for a branch is a small, strategioally located storefiont in a strlp
mall, Substantially all of Cash Store's branches ate in facilities leased from third party landlords,
as'ls Cash Store’s corporate beadquarters, Many of Cash Store’s brench leases are with large
vetall landlords who lease several locations to Cash Store. The leases for branches are generally

for terms of 5 years with some granting Cash Store options to renew beyond such a term,

38, Cash Store’s corporate headqﬁartel‘s are Jocated in BEdmonton, Albarta_and Cash
Store Fihancial’s registered office Is located in Toronte, Ontarlo, Cash Store has branches in 8ll
of Canada’s provinees and territorles except Quebec and Nunavut, The following chart sets out

Cash Store’s current branch locations by geographical reglon:

Location | Number of Cash Store
Locations

Ontario - 176

Alberta 120

Britlsh Columbla 97

Saskatchevwan , 33

United Kingdom , 27

(o]
O
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Location Number of Cash Store
~' Locations
Maniloba . 25
Nova Soofia o 25
New Brunswick .14
Newfoundland & Labrador 13
PRI 3
Northwest Territories : 2
| Yakon Téi*l'itm*y 2 1
Total x 536
() Employees
39, Cash Store:employs approximately 1,700 héﬁrly and salarled active employees in

. Canada and app'roximate’ly 140 smployees In the UK .who rely on the contiued existence of

headquarters in Edmonton,

40, A typleal branch Ig staffed by 3 t0 4 employses, inoluding both full and part-time

‘agsoclates and a branch manager, Brench managers are compensated through base salary and

company-pald benefits, while assoclates are pald hourly wages. In addition, sofe of these

individuals ate eliglble to recelyve profitability bonuses, Cash Store has also established a _grouﬁ

RRSP for employees with over one year of setvics,

41, In addition to the above, Cash Stote has a stock option plan for certain employses,
officers and directors, In November 2013, Cash Store introduced a shate unlf plan for senlos
exeoutives, vice presidents, and/or members of the management team to teduce lts rellance on

stock optlons and to inhcentivize management through payment of compensation related to

* Cash Store for thelr livelthoods, 170 of Cash Store’s active empléyeos ate Jocated at the
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. appreciation of Cash Store Financlal shates.and petformance goals, No share units have yet been

fssued, Cagh Store also Introduced a director deferred share unit plan to lnk & portion of annual
director compensation to the futute value of Cash Store Finanolal shares, Cash Store has {ssued

219,073 units under the divector defetred share unit plan,

42, There are no rogistered pension plans for Cash Stote management or othet

employees,

6)) Community Work

43, Cash Store i eommitted to .soc?ial regponsibility and to ‘supporting the
communit:ies in whioklx it.. does business, Its fundraising efforts for .val'iq._.us charitable
oréan’izations make a differc;noe In the lives of Canédians. In t:he .pas'.‘t, Cash Stors ha's partnered
with the Canadian Diabetes Foundation to ralse money for diabetes reseatch and t;> build natlonal
understanding about the disease. In FY' 2013, Cash Store hosted 15 Fresdom Runs and sponsoted

5 yuns for diabstes, helping to contribute over $1 milllonte this cause,

The Financial Position of Cash Store

44, As a publicly traded ocompany listed on the TSX, Cash Sfore Financlal's:

consolidated finanelal statements for the fisoal year ended September 30, 2013 is attached as;
Exhibit “A”, A copy of Cash Store Finanefal’s interim consolidated financial statements for the
three months ended December 31, 2013 is attached as Exhibit “B”, Certaln information

contalned in the Decembet 31, 2013 consolidated financlal statements is summarized below, All

~ amounts in this affidavit arve In Canadian Dollars,

consolidated finanolal staternents are filed o1 SEDAR, A oopy ofCash Stote Flnanofal's audited
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(a) . Assols
45, As at Docember 31, 2013, Cgsh.Store had total assets of $1'} 6,255,000.
@) Current Assets |
46, Cash Store’s ourrent assots (as at December 31, 2013) represented $78,364,000 of

Its total assets and consisted of!
(1)  Untestrloted Cash~ $16,5~5§,000;
()  Restrioted Cash - '$6,408,600;
(3)  Consumet advanoes reveivable, nef - $34,804,000;
(40  Othor recelvables, net - $8,332;OOF);- .
(5)  Prepald expenses and ofher assets - $2,584,000.; and
(6)  Income taxes recelvable - $15,683,000,

47, The tajority of Cash Store’s cument assets oonsisted of consumer advanoes
recelvable and income taxes recelvable, With respest to consumet advances receivable, the

above number incorporates appropiate aging of the receivables,

. 48, “Restriotod Cash” (discussed below) can only be used for consutner londing, As af

Decembet 31, 2013, $6,408,000 of Restricted Cash Ingluded $706,000 of funds held by a
finanolal institution as secutity related to banlking arrangements and $5,702,000 fransferred fom
TPLs in exoess of consumet Joans wiitten fo oustornets and cumulatlve losses. As of Februaty

28, 2014, the fotal amount of Restricted Cash had olimbed to $12,961,000,
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49, The amounts transferred from TPLs fo Cash Store Financlal are reflected in the

Restrioted Cash amownts and oertaln off-balance sheet aocounts receivable. A cotresponding

llabllity is recognized o the TPLs in acorned Habilitles equal to Restricted Cash,

(i)  Nom-Current Assels

50, Cash Store’s non-ourrent assets (as af December 31, 2013) represented

$97,891,000 of its total assets and consisted of}

¢ | Depostts and other assets - $2,792,000; ‘

(2)  Deferred financing costs - $5.",'83 6,000y -

(3)  Property and equiptent, net of ao'oumu‘latcd depreolation - $1 6,735,00_0;f Doy
| | ('4) ) Intanéible assots, et ofaciéumuléted-amortization - $32,843,000; andz K

(§)  Goodwill- §39,685,000,

51, The majorlty of Cash Store’s non-current assets are made up of property and

equipment, Intangible assets, and goodwill,

(b)  Liabilities

52, As at December 31, 2013, Cash Store’s total liabllities were approximately
$184,984,000, These Habllities consisted of ourrent Habllitles of approximately $35,979,000, and

non-curtent llabilitles of approxlmately $149,005,000,

() Curvent Liabilitles
33, Current labilitles as ét December 31, 2013 included the following:
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Accounts payable - $2,242,000;
Acorﬁed Habilitles ~ $31,263,000;
Current portion of deferred revenus - $1,000,000;
Current portion df deforred leass inducements » $355,000; and '

Current portion of obligations wnder capital leases and other obligations «

$1,119,000,

34,
@
@
3
*
)
55, )

()  Non-Current Liabilitles

Cash Store’s non-current Habilitles (as at December 31, 201 35 .in;ﬂuded:
'.D‘eferred reyenuc 8 2,668,000,

Deforred lease Induesments - $596,000; |

Obligations under capital leages and ofher obligations - $3,:§~8 6,000}
Long-term debt - $139,496,000; and

Defsrred Income taxes - $2,859,000, -

The $139.5 million owing in respect of long-term debt g made up of the $12.0

million advanced by the Senior Lenders under the Credit Agreement (discussed below) and

$127,5 million owing to the Senior Secured Noteholders (also discussed below), The Notes ate

recorded at a discount to the Taoe value ($132.5 million) and acoreted to the par value over the

five yoar torm using the effective lnterost tate method,



: Senior Seouted Notes Jetmoary 31, 2017 | $132.5 milllon 11.5%
1 pe s .
(“Noteholdets™) | Subordinated to Senlor Lenders

| (“TPLs") | Consisting of the TPL Funds
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56, The $31.3 million of acerued lability inchides an amount of $6,4 milllon “due to

TPLs" In respect of the reported Restrioted Cash amount,

(c)  Revenue

57, Cash Store has experienced' a shatp drop in financial results over the past two
years, desplte the fact that net revenues have temalned steady, Net reverme decreased fiom
$189,9 mililon in FY 2011 to $187:4 million in FY 2012 and inoteased to $190,8 mithon in Y
2013, Net tevenue decreased from $49;5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2012
to $45.2 milllon for the three months ended ﬁeoelnber 31, 2013, Barnings before interest taxes
depreciation and amortization (BBITDA) decteased from positive $27.4 ;rﬁl‘lion in PY 2011 to
negative $31,7 milllon In FY 2012 and Increased to negative $1,0 million in BY 2013, EBITDA.

for the three months ended December 31, 2013 was $1,0 million as compared to $6.5 million for

the three months ended December 31, 2012,

(@  Stakeholder Amounts

58, The chatt below seis out the relationship of certain stakeholders fo Cash Store!

5
RIS

il Refm

[N RURV

Senlot Secuted Lenders | November 29, 2016 | $12 million | C12.5% ]
(“Senlor Lenders”) :

Third Party Lenders 4 { $42,0 million { Bffectively
117.5%

otiginally advanced, tnoluding
funds deployed In brokered
loans, Restricted Cash, and
cumulative losses
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€)) Senior i;énders

59, On November 29, 2013, Casix Store Flnanclal ent&ed into a credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) with Coliseum, 8028702 Canada Ino, and 424187 Alberta Lid,
(collectivel‘y, the “Senjor Lenders™), pursuant to which the Senlor Lenders have to date pravided
$12.0 million of secured loans, The loans are guaranteed by Cash Store Financial, The Cash
Store Ine,, TCS - Cash Store Ing,, Instaloans Inc,, 7252‘331 Canada Ine,, 5515433 Manitoba Ino,,
The Cesh Store Limited, The Cash Store Finanoal Limited , and CSF Insurance Sexvioes Limited
‘(ooﬂeotively,'tha “Guarantors”). Aoopy of the Credit Agreement (without schedules) is attached
| ag Bxhibit ‘;C”, A copy of the preéss yelease dated Decomber 5, 2013 announcing ’éh‘at Cash Store

Finanolal had entered into the Credit Agreement 1s attached as Bxhibit “D”,

60, A24187 Alberta Ltd,, Which loaned $2,0 million of the $12.0 million drawn, lsa ..

company confrolled by Cash Store Finariclal’s CEQ and a director, Gordon Reykdal.’boliseum;

which loaned $5,0 million of the'$12,0 million drawn, owns 1927% of the common shares of

Cash Store Pinanolal and is' also a Noteholder, 802‘87'(52 Canada Ino,, which loaned the

remaining $5.0 milffon of the §12,0 milllon drawn, is a company conirolled by the same person
who controls MeCann Family Holding Corporation, one of Cash Store Financlal's principal

TPLs, The loans under the Credit Agreement were used to fund operations and growth In key

business areas,

61, Pursuant {o the Credit Agreement, 424187 Alberta Litd, (the “Agent”) acts as
agent for the Senior Lenders, The loans ‘made under the Credit Agreement bear interest at 12,5%
per annum, payable monthly in atrears, on the 29th day of each month, Ifa default occurs under

the Credit Agreement, the Interest rate 4s increased by 2% after the occurtence and during the

contimyance of sueh default,
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62, The Credit Agreement provides thet an additional $20,5 mﬂ‘lion may be advanced
for a total maximum Toan amount of $32,5 milllon, The Senior Lenders have a right of first
refusal in respect of any additlonsl advances, If the Senlor Lenders do not exerclse their riéht of
fivst refysal, Cash Store Financial is free fo obtaln oan Aadvanoes' from other lendeis who agree to
become party to the Credit Agreement, The loans outstanding at sny tlme are subject to the
requirement that the maximum amount outstanding cannot exceed 7.5% of the Unrestricted Cash

of Cash Store Financial plus 75% of the net consumer advances receivable of Cash Store

Financial not more than 90 days In atreats (the “Borrowing Base”), If the total amount

ovtstanding undet the 1oan at any. time exceeds the Bortowing Base, Cash Store Finanoial must
tepay to the Senior Lenders, on a pro. rata basls, an amount which will result In the Joans not

belng in excess of ;che Borotying Base, Suoh iﬁay'xnent myst be made’ within 20 ‘days of the

- month-end in which the Borrowing Base was exceeded.

63, . Loans made undet the Credit Faollity mature on November 29, 2016 or on such
earller date as the prineipal amount of all loans owlng from time to time plusacorued and unpaid
interest and all other amounts due under the Credlt Agreement may become payable under the
Credit Agreement. Cash Store Finanoial may repay the loans at any time subject to. payment of ‘
speoified prepayment fees,'

64, Cash Store Finanoial agreed to deslgnate the loans made under the Credit

Agreorment as priorify Hen debt and obtaln the benefit of the security granted by Cash Store

Financlal pursuant to the Collateral Trust and Interoreditor Agteement (“Collateral Trust

' The prepayment faes aro as followst () If theprepayment Is on or hefore November 29, 2014, the greater. of (A)
the Interest that would gootue if the prepaid ameunt were to remaln eutstanding untll November 29,2014 and
(B) 4% of the prepald ameunt; (b) If the prepayment Iy after November 29, 2014 but on er prior to Novembev
29,2015, 3% of the pvepaid ameunt; and (o) If the prepayment ls after Novetnher 29,2013, no fee,
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Agteement”) enteted Into in conneotion with the Notes. A copy of the Collateral Trust

Agreement I3 attached as Exlibit “E”,

65, Tn addition to oettaln covenants relating to the repayment of the loans and the
awthorlty of Cash Store Financlal to entet into the Credit Agteement, Cash Store Finanoial has

covenanted In favour of the Senlor Lenders:
(&)  tocomply with the covenants granted to the 11.5% Noteholders;
(b)  notto designate any additional debt under the Collateral Trast Agresment; and .

{o)  tomeset certain A-djusteci EBITDA targets on a quarterly basls over the term of the

. Credit Agreoment,

66, + Uponihe oqoﬁt*rence and during the continwance of a default, the Senlor Loenders
have & right o acosletate the obligations under the Credit Agresment, the right fo Instruct the
Agent to begin the process to realtze on the seouity under the Collateral Trust Agteement and |
the tight, but not the obligation, to appolnt a finanoial adviser to review the affalrs of Cash Store

Finanolal and to appoint a dlrector to the Board,

67, Clash Store Financlal was 1h compliance with the flnancial covenants of the Credit
Agreement as at Decsnibet 31, 2013 and therefors, the amounts drawn wete classified as long-
ferm deEt on Cash Stote Finanolal's balance sheet, However, Cash Store Financial breached a

aumber of oovenants in the Credit Agteement at the end of March 2014, which breaches ate

ofther defaults undet fhe Croddt Agreement or will glve tiss to defaults under the Credit

Agreement with the passage of time, Senior Lenders may rely on the defaults to exerolse thelr
remedies under the Credit Agreement, Including demanding Immediate repayment of the

amounts drawn and exerelsing their pights under the security If Cash Store cannot reach an
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agreemment with the Senlor Lenders to amend or waive the covenant breaches, Cash Store does

not have the ability to immediately repay the amounts owing fo the Senlor Lenders,

- 68, On March 31, 2014, Cash Store requested a Walver from the Seniot Lendets of

the ®ollowing: () the faflure to pay interest when dus on March 29, 2014; (1) the fallure to
achleve the $10 milllon mintmum Adjusted EBITDA. for the first 6 months of fiscal 2014; (i)
exceeding the Bormowlng Base and not belng able to make the 1feq'uired l'epaymbnt within 20
days of same; and (tv) Cash Store’s inability to represent that it Is duly qualified to carry on
business in alljul'fsd fetions in which it caﬁies on business unléss such 'failure. 10 so qualify would

not constitute a materdal adverse effect under the Credit Agreement, To date, no response has

been recelved,

() ~ Noteholders _
{59. On January 31, 2012, Cash Store Fiuanoial 1ssued through a pmvate p]aoement n

Canada and the U.S,, $132.5 million of 11,5% Semox Secuted Notes, A copy of the Note

Indenture is attached as Bxhibit “5»,

70, " The Notes mature on January 3.1, 2017 and bear Interest on the aggregate

principal amount from the date of issue at 11,5% per annum pa‘flable‘on a semi-annual basls in

equal installments on January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing In July of 2012, The

Notes were lssued at a price of 94,608% tesulting I an effective intetest rate of 13,4%, Cash
Stote Financial used the majority of the proceeds of the Notes to acquire a portfollo of consumer

loans and certain Intangible assets, and to settle pre-existing relationships with certaln TPLs?

* On Janvary 31, 2012, Chsh Store Finanolal acquited a potifollo of short-term advances from TPLg for totul

conslderation o{’$] 16,334,000, Atthe date of acqulsition, the gross contractual prinolpal and accrued Interest of

the aoqulved short-term advances was $319,906,800,



ST T

-2

71, The Notes ate guaranteod, jolntly and severally, by the same entities “zﬁat ate
Guarantors under the Credit Agreement, .P-ursuan’c to the Collateral Trust Agreement, the Notes
are seoured on 4 second-ptiotity basis by lons on all of Cash Store Flnancial’s and its restr feted
subsidiaxies existing and future propetty, subject fo specified pe1mltted liens and exoeptlons

The Credit Agteement s seoured by g firsp-priority en on this collateral

72 The Notes ate redeemable af the option of Cash Store Finanolal, in whole or in

" part, at any time on or after July 31, 2014 at the redemption prices (exprossed as percontages of

prinoipai ammount) set forth below, plus acorued and unpald interest:

Tox ihe eriodBelow.~ | Povodntale.
On ot after July 31, 2014 " 103.084%
On o after Janwary 31, 2015 o 11102.091%
Onorafier July 81,2015+ | 100.127%
| On ot after January 31, 2016 ’ 1101,194%
: On ot after July 31, 2016, ‘ 100%
78, Ptior to Muly 31, 2014, Cash Store Financlal is entitled at its .option, In cerain

cltoumstanoes, on one ot mote occaslons to redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amoufxt
of the Notes at a tedetnption price of 111,5% of the princlpal amount of the Notes redesmed,

plus acotued and unpaid dntetest,

74, If a changs in control of Cash Store Financlal ocours, the Noteholders will have
the right to require Cash Store Financlal to purchase all or a portion of the Notes, at a purchase
price In cash equal to 101% of the principal alﬁount of the Notes offered for repurchase plus

acerued interest to the date of purchase,

s e U . 77”,Am—~401 P
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75, . Upon the commencement of the CCAA proceeding, Cash Store will 1o Tonger be
in compHance withthe oovenants in the Note Indenture and the $139,5 million owing In respect
of long-tetm debt will become immediately dve and payable, Cash Store does ot have the

ability to repay the Notes af this time,

(i)  Third Party Londers

76. Cash Stors has entered into waltten business agreements with a number of TPLs

“who are prepated to lend to Cash Store’s customers or to purchase advances originated by Cash

Stote (the “Broker Agreements”), Pussnant to the Broker Agresments, the TPLs maks Joans to

Cash Store's customers and Cash Store pl‘OViCiG? servioes tothe TPLs related fo the-collection of
documents and Information from Cash Store’s 'oustqmlers, as well as loan repayment services,
Cash Store collects fees for bloketing these fyansactlons, Coples of t}fe’ Broker A@:eéments for
Tuimor Anmvity Fooug Limited Patnership #5 (“Trimpr.”_), MeCann Family Holding Corporatioh
(“MoCann™), 1396309 Albetta I;td.., Omnl Ventures Ltd,, end L-Gen Management Inc, ate

attached as Exhibits “G”,*H",“I",%J", and “K",

77, The Broker Agreements also provide that the TPLs are responsible for losses
suffered due to uncollectible advances, prox;ided Clash Store has fulfilled the dutles required
under the terms of the Broker Agresments, If Cash Store does not properly perform its duties and
the TPLs meke g claim Aunder the Broker Agreements, Cash Store may be ligble to the TPLs for
losses they have lnourred, However, putsuant to section 7,1 of the Broker Agreements, if auy
{oss Is as & result of any act or omlssion of Cash Store in. reliance on any bona fide interpretation

of Applieable Law or upon the-advice oflcgal counsel, no liability shall attach to Cash Stoge,
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(A) Reslt'écted Cash
78, ‘ Cash Store has recelved approximately $42.0 million from the TPLs (the “TPL
Funds"), The total TPL Funds ate comptised of the Restrlcted Cash (defined below) plus the
outstanding balance of the brokered loans and cummlative losses, The Broker Agl‘ﬁemc'?nts
stipulate that the TPL Funds ate to be utilized by Cash Store for making gdvances to broker
customets ori the TPLs’ behalf, The TPL Funds are deployed by Cash Stote fo broker enstomers,

stbsequently teceived by Cash Store as repayment for such broker loans (subject to loan losses),

.and then redeployed, tepeating the provess, Tn BY 2013, Cash Store deployed the TPL Funds

multiple times for total short term advances of ;$241.4 million, representing 30,9% of Cash

Store’s total loan volume of $781,8 million,

79, Any TPL Funds recelved by Cash Store as repayment for any brokered loan that
are mot currently deployed to Cash Store customers are deposited in Cash Stote’s bank accounts
and are referred to In Cash Store’s ﬂnéncial statements as “Restrioted Cash”, While the Broker

Agreements permit the TPLs to tequive Cash Store to hold the TPL Funds in accounts designated

for that parpose, no TPL hag desighated any account as-a Deslgnated Financler Bank Acgount or

& Doslgnated Broler Bank Account, The Rostricted Cashds comingled with all of Cash Stote's

other cash (the “Unvestricted Cash’), and the aggregate of Cash Sto;'e’s Restrioted and
Unresiricted Cash s the total eash reported on Cash Store’s balance sheet, Cash Store keeps
detatled records of the amounts loaned to and repald by the broket loan customers and the direct
loan customers, The funds recelved from broker loan customers representing ﬁx'incipal and
interest of the broker loan ate included In the Restrioted Cash, and funds recetved from. the diveét
loan oustomers are included in Unrestricted:Cash (along with any broker and .other ancillary
foes), Since all of these funds are comingled in multiple accounts, it is not possible to know

which dollar represents Resfricted Cash and which dollar fepresents Unrestricted Cash,
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Putthetmore, the exact amount of Restricted and Unrestrioted Cash s not caloulated by Cash
Store until it completes its month-end reconciliation, The 'm.onth-end reconcilistion 1 usgually

completed on or about the tenth day after month-end,

] ‘ (B)  Assigning Recelvables to TPL:s' io Free Up Restricted Cau;'h
80, Onoe the month-end reconciliation Is complete, Cash Stote compares the amount
. of total oagh in its éooounts and the amount of Restticted Cash that sheuld be held on acoount oi;
3 TPL Funds, On several ocossions, (.Jash Stores has completed its month-end reconalliation gnd
has found that the amount of Restticted Cash exoseds ifs 'tc;.tal oash (mea.nin'\g that Cash Store has
i ' used the Restricted Cash to fand Hfs intra-month working capltal needs), On these occaslons,
Cash Store has assigned #ts own divect loan recelvables to the TPLs in an amount equal to the
difference between Cash S-tore’.s' total oash and the amount of Restrloted Cash tecorded on
! account of the TPLs plus an additional amount to permit Cash Store to tneet lts antiolpeted
wortldng oapital needs for the nekt month with Unyestricted Cash, These assignments ar;a
{ | petmitted under the terms oftfe Crod Agreement and the Notfe Indenture provided that they are
{ made In the ordinary coutse of business, These assignments are also ia'ermitt-ed under the Broker
Agresments and the asslgnments are disclosed to the ".TPLs. a8 part of the monthly acoount

{ statements and reconciligtlons provided to the TPLs,

1! 81, For example, 1 at mon’;hmnd'total oash 1s $15 milllon and Restrioted Cash s $18
milllon, then Unrestrioted Cash is negative $3 milllon, To address this fvsue, Cash Store would
! assign $3 milllon of direct loan recetvables to the TPLs to ensute there s sufficlent Restrieted
Cash, plug an addifional $5 million dollars of direct loan teceivables to meet ifs antloipated
minimum working eapital needs for the text month, resulting in‘$10 millioﬁ of Restrioted Cgsh.

‘i and $5 million of Untestrioted Cagh, Cagh Stote could then make $10 million of brokered loans
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using Resttloted Cash and uge the $5 million of Unrestrloted Cash to fund opetating expenses

and make dlvect loans, Total cash never changes when implementing these assignments,

82, The assignment of receivables essentlally results in a greater pottion of the TPL
Funds being deployed to Cash Store’s customets, For every dollar of reoeivables assigned ta the

TPLs, thers {18 a dollar for do lar Inorease in fhe arount of Unrestricted Cash, During ¥Y 2013

and FY 2012, a8 part of the normal eourse of opergtions, Cash Store assigned $14.3 and $17.6 '

million (respeotively) of net consumey advances teoeivable to TPLs in exchange for cash,

(C)  Antount of Restricted Cash
83, As ofFebxuary 28, 2014, there was $12.2 milllon in Restricted Cash available for

consumer lending and Unrestrlcted Cash of $0.2 million. Since Cash Store Has been 1eoeiv1ng .

repayments of loang in Ontatlo but not re-lending, the amouft -of Restricted Cash has increased
dramatioally, Final acoounting is notyet avallable as at March 31, 2014 however, it is estimataél
that the amoutt of Restricted Cash has increased fo approximetely $14.9 million and exceeded
the fotal amount of cash in Cash Stare’s bank accounts, In light of the citoumstances facing Cash

Store, the decision of whether fo make assignments to addross this issue was deferred,

(D)  Voluniary Retenrlon Paymertts
84, Cash Store hiag historically made voluntary retention payments to TPLs in ordet to

lessen the 1mpact of Joan losses, Since I have been at tny role at the cotapany the TPL Funds

have been managed in the following manner:

(1) Monthly Lender Pistributions: Cash Store pays TPLg cash payments so
that, when combined with portfollo seturns (Interest eollected, net of
loases), the TPLg recelve approximately 17.5% return per year on the fotal

“TPL Funds,
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Capital Protection: () Expensing Meohanism — Cash Store provides
proteotio;m to the TPLs in respeot of losses arising from brokered loang that
remain unpald after 90 days, The ﬁroteotion oonsists of orediting the TPLs
with a retention paymént gs B book eﬁtry in the amount of the losses
suffered by the TPLs, Cash Stote in fuen records these rotontion payments
as an expense on its balance sheet, No cash is pald to the TPLs by the
Cash. Store in respeot of these retention payments, The effoct of those
book entry retentlon payments is that ‘(‘i) the TPL Funds are not eroded by
losses; (1) the Restricted Cash balance is Inoreased by the ameunt of the

refontlon payment; and (i) the Untestrioted Cash balanoe Is deoroased by

the amount of the retention payment.

.
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(b) Putchasing Meohanism — In Ontarlo and Manitoba, Cagh Store also

offects "refention payments by purchasing past due brokered loens

’ (ncluding any past due direct loans that were previously transferted to the

TPLs) at fioe value fo prevent any eroslon of the TPL Funds, These
putchases ate an additional mochaniym (and an alternatlve to the
exponsing mechanism desoﬂbcd. above) to plevent the TPLs fiom
inowring any of the losses inherent In the past due brokered loans, Cash
Store nours losses equal to the difference bet\yeen the purchase price and
the fair value of tﬁe purohased brokered loans and recognizes the losses as
retention payments, Cash Stors’s putchase of past due brokered loans also
has the benefit of allowing Cash Store to colleet the past due amounts
without engaging a third-party agenoy for éo-ltco’ciqn and without itself

being Hosnsed as a colleotions agenoy.
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85, | The Broker Agreements between Cash Store and the TPLs do not contemplate
vetention payments, The Broker Agresments also do not guarantes 1epayment or a specified rate
of return-on the TPL Funds, However, 1f the TPLs were tono longer participate in the brokering
of advances fo Cash Store’s oustomers, Cash Store would lose the enticipated fofure revenue
related to the brokering of advances, Under the broker model, Cash Store makeé voluntary
© retention payments to the TPLs fo en@urage them fo continue making funds available to Cash
Store, The Board of Directors regulaily approves a 1'esoiut'ion puthorizing Cash Store fo pay up to
a cettaln amount of retentlon payments pet quarter to TPLs, Retention gaymen’cs ate recorded In

the petiod In whioh a commifment {s made to a lender,

86, In March 2014, given Cash Store’s lighidity issues and ongoing stakeholder
disoussions, Cash Store. did not make any yoluntary retention payments to TPLs, inoluding the

monthly lender distribution of Approximately 17.5% per year,
Urgent Need for Relief

87, Cash Store is facing multiple challenges to its conttnued operatlons, lncluding
regulatory lssues that affect its core business strategy, multiple olass actlons requiting defence

aorost Canada and In t_he U.S., and immediaté and dire lquidity challenges,

(8)  Regulatory Issues

88, With fespect to the completeness and acouracy of the information in the
regulatory and litigation seotions of my affidavit, T have speeifically relied on information
provided to me by Michael Thompson, Senlor Viee President & Corporate Affales, and Jerry

Roczkowsky, Vice President of CompHance, of Cash Store Financial,
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89, Regulations affecting Cash Store’s primary product offerings of payday loans and
linss of oredit significantly affect Cash Store’s ability to successfully operate and exscute its

business strategy,

90, In May 2007, the foderal gox;ernment énacted a bill clarifying that the pvroviders of
cettain payday loans wete not governsd by the oriminal inferest rate provisions of the Criminal
Code, R..S.C., 1985, ¢, C-46 (the “Crimingl Code™), gtanting lenders (othet than most foderally-
regulated fnancial institutions) an exemption from the ctiminal interest rato ;)1'0v'isio.ns of the
Criminal Code if their loans fell within certain dollar atnount and tim.c; frame maxhﬁums. In
ordet for payday loan companies to rely on the exetption, provincial goveimnonts ate required
to &xaot loglslation that includes a Hoensing reglme for payday lenders, measures fo protect

oonsumers and madmum allowable limifs on the total cost of bortoying,

91, Since late 20’09, the Canadian payday loan market has been Sn transition from an -
unregulated market to .vaa'ying states of ;-e}gulation. The provinces that have enacted speoific
payday loans Jegislation pursuant to ‘c».he foderal exemption are British Columbla, Albartg,
Saskatohewan, Manitoba, Ontarlo, and Nova Sootla, The key components of payday loans
regulation ate capson the loan size, length and fc;,es that can be charged, Typleally regulations

limit payday loans to a maximum of $1,500 and 62 days in duration as well as providing a rate

cap.

¥

92, ‘While regulatory issues have affeoted the industty as a whols, they have had a
more severs 'impaot on Cash Store due to its parfioular business model, Cash Store’s strategio
objective was to achicve a single platform ynlversally deployed across jm'isdictions; with its line
of credit produot suite, The operational impaocts of multiple regulatory environments have been

numerous, creating slgnificant additional vosts, Senfor Management has been required to devote
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slgnificant resouroes. to these matters and has retalned a Chief Compliance and Regulatory

Affalrg Officer (the “CCRO") and Jegal counsel to address these 1ssues (disoussed below),

() Ontarlo Regulatory Issues
M) .Regzzlato}y Litlgation |
93, On .Fé:brual"y 1, 2013, Cash Store laynched ifs suite of line of oredit prodﬁots in
Ontarlo and ceased 6ffering payday loans in that province, With tespeot .to the new line of oredit
offerings, on Aptl 29, 2013, Cash Store filed an application in the Ontario Superlor Court of

Justice (the “Ontarlo Coutt”) seeking a declaation that its basic line of oredit was not subject to

the Payday Loang Act,

24, On Februaty 4, 2013, the Ontario Reglstrar issued a proposal to revoke the
payday lending Héenses of the Cash Stose Ine, and Insteloans Ine. Cash Store filed’an Appeal
| with. the .Lio'ense Appeal Tribunal on Febiyary 19, ZOiB. Howevet, as Cash Store allowed it
payday licenses to expite In Ontatlo effecitve July 4, 2013 (since Cash Store was efﬁ.)e view that

it could offer lines of credlt without sucha leense), this appeal was withdrawn effective Augnst

15, 2013,

935, Previous to the Februaty 4, 2013 proposal of the Registrar for payday loans, Cash
Store submitted an application fot judiclel teview in the-Ontario Cownt, secldng a declaration that
ccrtaln provislons of the regnlations made under the Ontario Payday Loans Act are void and
unenforceable, This application was heard on Ootober 2, 2013, On November 5, 2013, the

Ontarjo Cowrt dlsmissed the apploation, Cash Store hag not appealed this deolslon,

96, On June 7, 2013, the Ditector deslgnated undet the Ontarlo Ministty of Consumer
and Business Services Act filed an application in the Ontarlo Coutt seeking a declaration that

Cash Store’s basic line of credit Is subject to the Payday Loans Act and that Cash Store must
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obtain a broker Hoense to offer thig product. This appHeation was heard on November 29, 2013
and the decision was rendered on February 12, 201‘4. The Ontarlo Court concluded that the basio
line of credit is subject to the Payday Lomns Act and ordered that Cash Store Financial’s
subsidiaties, The Cash Store Ine, and Insteloans Tho,, are prohibited from acting es a loan broker
in regpect of it baslo line of credit product without a broker’s lleenge under the Paydey Loang

Act, On'March 14, 2014, Cash Stors commenced an appesl of this declsion,

97, On F:Qbfuary 12, '2014{ Cash Store ceassd offering all lne of otedit products
offsred to its customers In Ontarlo branches, A copy of the press releass reporting the eutcome

of the applicatlon and the deeislon to stop offaring Iine of oredit pfoducts in Ontatio 1s attached

as Exhibit “L", |

(B)  Addlflonal Reguldtions
98, Additionally, on December 17, 2013, Ontario Regulation 351/13 was filed by the
Government of Ontatio, Regulation. 351/13, made ﬁnder the Payday Loans Aect, presoplbes
certain categonles of oredit suoh that the Payday Loans Act applies to Hine of otedlt products
offered through the Cash Store’setall banners, Regulation 351/13 required Cash Store to obtain
Heenses pursuant to the Payday Loans Act fn-order to continue providing access to certaln Iine of
credit products in the Ontarlo matket ~;1ﬂ'er Februqzty 15, 2014, Theée regulations are now in
foroe, To comply with the new requirements of'the Payday Loans Act, Cash Store applied for the
requisite lieonses through its operating subsidiaries, A copy of the press release dated December

20, 2013 regarding the announcement of the regulations ig attached as Exhibit “M”,

(C)  Ontdario Regulator Refuses to-Grant License to Cash Store
99, In response to Cash Store's lloenge application, on Februatry 13, 2014, the Ontarlo

Reglstrar lssued a proposal to refise to issue a lender’s license to Cash Store Financials
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subsidiaries, The Cash Stote Ino, and Instaloans Inc., under the Payday Loans Act, A copy of the
press release dated February 13, 2014 regarding the proposal to tefise a lender’s Hoense is
attached ag Exhibit “N*, The Payday Loans Aot provides that applicants are entitled 1o a hearing
before the License Appeal Tribunal in respect of a proposal by the Ontatlo Registrar to refuge to

{ssue a license,

100, The Cash Store Ino, and Instaloans Ine. allowed the time for appealing this
declsion to lapse whilé it was in negot'iations with the Onfario Reglstrar, These 'negotiations
falled to produce a favoutable result and on March 27, 2014, the Ontatlo Registrar issued a final
notice of its declsion not to grant a Heense under the Payday Loans Act. Cash Store wﬂ] not be
y ligible to 1c~app1y fm a hoenSe f01 12 months fxom the date of issuanoe oi‘ the ﬁnal order. If
Cash Store chooses to 1'e~app1y for a 1ioense affer such time, Cash Stote will be required {o
provide Dew or additional 'ev_xdenoe for the Ontatlo Registrar fo consider or demonstrate that
material citonmstatioss have changed, Cash Store is nof currently permitted to sell any payday
loan pi*od\icts in Ontatio, A copy of the press release dated Mémh 28, 2014 regarding the fingl

order refusing to grant a license Is attached ag Exhibit “O”,

101, All.of Cash Store’s 172 Ontario branches that operated under the Instaloans and

the Cash Store banners have remained open and Cash Store incuired significant operating

expenses while {t putsued disoussions with the Ontarlo Reglstrar regarding obtalnlng a loense

under the Payday Loans Aot, Cash Store intends to keep the majouty of its branches open Whﬂe

abllity to collect outstanding customer accounts recelvable has also been significantly impaived,

On April 8, 2014, Cash Store reduced its Ontario staffing to a skeletal staff by commencing a

'oonsideﬂng Its strategic options, Since Cash Store is unable to make new loang in Ontamo, its
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temporary layoff of approximately 250 Ontatio employees, Cash Stote Is eonsidering closing

cettain branches in Ontario,

102, As disoussed a‘f)ove, the Ontatlo operations of Cash Store accounted for $37.6
million in revemme for FY 2013, roughly 30% of Cash Store's total revenue, Closure of the

Ontario dperations will enfail significant seyerance oosts for approximately 470 employees,

(i)  Wederal-Provineial Consumer Measures Committee
103, A federal-provincial Consumer Measures Committee is working collaboratively
on a national response to high-cost oredit loans, New regulations may affect the title loans and

{ines of credit offsred by Cash Store,

‘ (i) Maniitobla Raguls;torylssues”
104, On October 15, 2013, -the Manitoba Consumet Protection Office (“CPO™)
concluded an lnvestigation of Cash Store, The CPO determined that Cash Stote was In violation
of Manitoba’s maximum Jegal cost of $17 per $100 on pe}yday Joans, which could result in

substantial demands for refinds to customets,

105, The CPO issued a refund demand to Cash Stors to reimburse 61 {dentified

bortowers for certaln fees charged, required or aceepted in relation to payday loans in Manitoba

"dutlng the period of time that it held a valid payday lender livence in the province, The additional

fees were oharged In telation to cash oards assoolated with paydey loans, Mote such refund

demands may be made,

106, © On April 9, 2014, the Manitoba CPO informed Cash Store that it had identified

various bregches of The Consumer Protection Ao, C.C.S.M, o G200 related fo cetrtain disolosure

‘doouments lssued in respeot of broker agreements and advances made to consumers I respeet of
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lines of oredit that had been fssued 10 consumers, The CPQ has directed Cash Store to refind
1o ughty $37,000 in brokerage foes pald by consumers n L'alatioq to adyances made to them by
TPLs under 32 lines of oredit by Apsil 30, 2014, The CPO also axpressed lig concetn af the
number of allegedly non-compliant agreements and ;cha possibility that thers are mote line of
otedlt agreernents that mey be in breach of the leglglation, The CPO recommendsd that Cash
Store conduot g review of its files fo determine whethet any other consumers may be owed

refunds due to breaches of'the legislation,

107, The Government of Manitoba has recently ‘promuigated‘ new leglislation that
expands the powets of the CPO, Additionally, the government has intx'odﬁoad legislation to'
regulate high cost oredit produots, If pagsed, Cash Store may not be able fo profitably make

availabia,thg line of oredit product suite in the Pr'ov'mdq of Manitoba.

(iv)  British Columbia Regulatory Issues
108, OhMdroh23, 2012, Cash Stors wag is§ued.a oompltanoe 01"8"&1‘ (the “Order”) and
administrative penalty from Consumer Protection BC, Thq Order divsots Cagh Store to refund fo
all botrowers with Joan agtesments negotiated, with Cash' Store or its subsidiarles betweon
Novembet 1, 2009 and the date ofthe Ol'dﬁl‘; the amount ofany issuance fse charged, requited or

acosploed for ot in relation to the Issuance ofa cash oard, ‘

109, The Otder also diected Cash Store fo pay an administrative penalty o-f$25,000 in
addition o costs, On November 30, 2012, Consumer Protection BC issued a supplemontary
compllance order directing that unolaimed refund amounts, fo meximum of $1.1 milllon be
deposited 'into 8 o.onsumér proteotion fimd, On Deocember 14, 2012, Cash Store filad a Petition
fox ;);udioia,l Review In the British Columbla Supreme Cout seeking an order quashing or sefting

aside the Order and Supplemental Order, and seeking deolarations that it had not contravened
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seotlons 112,04(1)(f) of the Business Practices and Consumer Protection Act, [SBC 2004} Ch. 2, .
or sectlons 17 and 19 of the Payday Loan Regulation, B,C, Reg, 57/2009, The Petition was heatd
by the Court on June 26, 27, and 28, 2013 and dismissed in a decision released on January 30,
2014, As at December 31, 2013, the total amount of the supplemental order of $1,1 million was

pald by Cash Store and will soon be disbursed to consumers,

(v)  Newfoundland Investigation B
110, There 1s no provinolal regulation of payday loans in Newfoundland, However, the

Royal Newfoundland Counstabulary and Royal Canadian Mounted Police recenily coneluded an

Investigation of Cash Store with regard to alloged violations of the interest provisions in the

Criminal Codé, While the results of the investigation ate not yef known, they have been .

forwarded to public proseeutors,

(vi) NovaScotla
111, Payday Loan legislation 4n Nova Seotla requites that Hoensees offer to deliver to
botrower thelt Joan procesds in oash, Cash Store has attermpted fo satisfy this requirement by
offering to dis‘t-ributa funds to consumets by way of Electronio Fund Trasnsfers, The Province has
nn;t been fully satisfied with this approach, If Cash Store oanﬁot resolve telated matters, if is
possible that an ingbility o satisfy this vegulatory requitsment may serve as the basis for a
proposal to suspend or revoke the Comp.anies’ operating Hoenses, Any such suspenslen or

revooation would. have significant impaot on Cash Store’s revenues,

(vil) New Brunswiok
112, In New Brunswiok, Cash Store's operating subsidiaries are reglstered as brokers,
This reglstration is in good standing, In early April, Cash Store recelved notification that TPLs

for which the subsidiaries’ broker loans ate not properly registered i the provincs, If registration
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5 not quickly secured-for these TPLs, Cash Store may not be able to broker loans for those TPLs

in that province, with the resulting impact on revenue, Singe it recetved this noﬁ'ﬁoation, Cash

dtore has recelved confiumation that one of the two TPLs who operate in New Brunswick is
properly Hoensed and the other TPL i beginaing to talke steps to seek a lleense, Cash Store

operates 14 branches in the Provinee of New Brunswick,

113, Tn Match 2014, the Govetnment of New Brunswick tabled leglslation (Bill 55) to
regulate. the payday loan industry in that provinee, This ieglsl'ation,. if promulgated, will require
the implementathn of a loensing tegime, varlons restriotions on business practlces by Ueensed
payday lenders and caps on the maxitoum allowable amount that lenders may charge, It 1s not
known at this timoe whether or not the loglslation will be promulgated and, if rate onps are to be
imp}cménted, ‘what they will be and what the impact of such caps will be for licensed lenders, If
the legislati01a is promulgated, Cash Store would have to apply for and bo granted - leense in

ordet to particlpate in any lending,

()  Siguificant Litigation

114, Cash Store's diffiontt financial position s further threatened by multiple
significant itigation matters that Cash Store is defending across Canada and In the United States,
As a tesult of additional legal activity related fo the regulatory claims (disoussed abové) and
securities and othel'.olass action olalms (discussed below), as well as reserves taken for existing
Btigation and claims, legal expenses have inereased slgntficantly fom $2.,2 million in FY 2012
to $3.8 million 10 FY 2013, The three months ending Decomber 31, 2013 saw ‘legal‘ axpenseé of

$1.0 milHon
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..(i') Outstanding Settlement Liability ~BC Class Pr.oceedi;l g
115, On February 28, 2010, the Supﬁeme Court of British Columbia apptoved the
seftlement of two related class actlons filed against Cash Store, Under the terms of the court
approved settlement, Cash Store'is to pay to the eligible class members \.wh.o were adyvanoed
fynds under o loan agreement, and who repaid the payday loan plus brokerage foes and inforast
n frll, o who met certain other eligibility oriterla, a maximum estimated amount Including legal
expenses of $18,8 million, consisting of $9:4 million in cash and $9,4 million In credit vouchets,
The credit vovchers can be used to pay existing outstanding brokerage fees and Interest, to pay &
portion of broketage foes and interest which may arise in the future through new loans advanced,
or can be redcemed for cash from Januaty 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014 ‘The credit vouchers ate not

transfetable and have no expiry date. After apptoved legal expenses of $6,4 million were paid in

" March 2010, the balance of the seftlement amou'nt remaining to be disbursed was $12.4 millon,

A

congdsting of $6,2 million of cash and $6.2 million of vouchets,

116, By September 30, 2010, Cash Store had recelved approximately 6,300 individual
olaltns with total valid cleims belng in excess of the settlement fund, As the valid clalms exceed

the balance of the temaining settlemenit fund, under the ferms of the settlement agrooment, the

entite settlement fund of $12.4 million was mailed to claimants in November 2012 In the form of

cash and vouchets on & pro-rata basls, To date, $5,3 million of the cash portion of the seitlement
has been redsemed by claimants while $0.8 million is being held In trust by the administrator for
fitute tedetmptions or to be handled in accordance with unclalmed property laws, To date,

apptoximately $4.3 milllon of the $6,1 milflon of youchers have been redeemed for services or

" cash, The total remalning Hability related to the settlement is approximately $1.8 milllon,
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(1)  Ongoing Class Proceedings
117, Thete are multiple proposed olass proceedings filed against Cash St'ore. Due to
the uncertainty surrounding the litigation prooess, Cash Store {8 unable to reasonably estimate the

range of loss, 1f any, in conneotlon with these olass actions,

118, Cash Store belleves that it has conducted business in accordance with applicable

_ laws and s defending eaoh claim, However, the resofution of gny outrent or future legal

plooeedmg conld cause Cash Store to have to refund fees and/or interest oollected, refund the

principal amount of advanoas, pay damages or other. monetary penafties and/or medify or

terminate operations in partioular jurlsdiotions, Cash Store may also be subjeot to advyerse
publicity, Defense of any legal prooegzdings, even .if suocessfial, requires substential fime and
attention of senlor offfoers'and other management personnel that would otherwise be gpent on
other aspeots of the business and ;'equireg the expenditure ofsigniﬁoant amounts for legal fees
and other related costs, Settlements of lawsults may also result in signifioant payments and

modifications to -operations, Any ofthese events could have a materlal adverse effeot on business

prospeots, results of operations and the finanolal condition of Cash Store,

119, Cash Store ia oum'entiy defending the following olags action lawsutts which allege

breaches of various provincial Payday Loan Regulations, Consumer Protection Aots, and/or the

oriminal interest provisions ofthe Criminal Code

» British Columbla, September 11, 2012; Roberta Stewatt on behalf of olass members

who, on or after November 1, 2009 tecelved a loan flom the Applicants in British

Columbia,
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Alberta, January 19, 2010; Shaynee Tschiifer and Lynn Armstrong are the

representative plaintiffs in this cettified olass aotlon alleging that Cash Store 1g in breach

of s, 347 of the Ciimina] Code.

- Albexta, September 18, 2012: Kostas Efthtmiou on behalf of all persons who, on or after .

Maroh 1, 2010, recelved a payday loan from the Applioants,

Saskatohewan, October 9, 2012 John Ironbow on behalf of all persons who, on or after

Jenuery 1, 2012, recstved a-payday loan from the Applioants,

Manitoba, Apxll 23, 2010; Sooit Meeking on behalf of all persons in Manitoba and
others outside the provinoe who obtained & payday loan from the Applicants. A previous
‘settilement gpproved by the Ontatlo Co'uﬁ; presﬁmptivaly tesolved olaims‘ Wit,'h tespeot to
loans bortowed by Mt, Meelciﬁg, and other Manitoba residents, on o1 before December 2,
2008, The Mantoba Court of Appeal held that the Ontaro seftlement was unenforoeable
in part as notloe to the Manitoba tesidents was inadequate, The olass gotlon was oertifled,

Leave to. appeal to the Suptemo Court of Canada has been granted fo both parties and the

appeal 1s tentatively scheduled for November 13, 2014,

Manitoba, November 1, 2012 Shetl Rehill on behalf of all petsons who, on or after

Outober 18,2010, bottowed & paydey loan from the Applioants in Manitoba,

Ontarlo, August 1, 20121 Timothy Yeoman on behalf of olass memibers who entered
into payday loan fransactions with the Applicants in Ontato between Sepieniber 1, 2011
and the date of judgment, This olass acton #lso mekes allegations that Cesh Store

opetated an unlawful business model as It did not provide A.boi'rowel‘é with the option to

lds
N
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take thelr payday Joan in an tmmediate lquid form and thereby misrepresented the total

cost of borrowing,

120, The gbove aotlons generally seek any o gll of the following remedies) restitution
or damages for allegedly unlawful oharges paid by the olass members, tepayment of unlawful
oharges patd by the plaintiff and olass members, damages for oonspitacy, interes( on all amounts

found fo be owing and legal-costs,

121, Additionally, Cash Store was facing inw}e.stor class aotlons in Alberta, Ontario, and
Quebeo alleging that Cash Store made mlsrepresentations during the period from November 24,
2010 to May 24, 0013 regarding its infernal conirols over financlal reporting and the value of the

Jogn portfol}o aoquired from TPLs, losses on its intelnal consumer loan poi*tfolio, and its Hability

agsoolated with the seftlement of the British Columbia Class Aotion (disouSSed above), The

Quebeo and Alberta proceedings wete stayed pending the outcome of the Ontarlo claim. A'

slmilar seourities olass aotlon alleging violations of the Seouritles Exchange Aot of 1934, 15

U.8,C. § 788, 15 also being defended by Cash Store In the United States,

122, On.Maroh 31, 2014, Cash Store Finanolal ennounced that it entered into an
agreement 1n px‘iné’iple to settle all i‘o.ur of the proposed securities olass. actions, A copy of the
press release regarding the settlement ls attached as Bxhibit “P*, The agieemettt In prinoiple
covers all olaims related fo investments in Cash Store Finanolal’s common shares and Notes
aoquited or disposed of duting the expanded period of November 24, 2010 through February 14,

9014, other than certain rights and olaims of Noteholders under the Note Indenture dated Janvary

31, 2012,

123, The proposed settlement provides for a payment in the amount of approximately

$9,45 million (all-inolustve) by Cash Store to be fully fimded by Cash Store Finanoial’s Insurers,
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The proposed settlement s subject to the fulfillment of customary conditions including, among
other things, the parties enteting into a definitive settlement agreement, court approvals, approval

of parties other than Cash Store Finanoial, and the fylfiliment of condiflons relating to the

number of opt-outs from the proposed settlement,

(iify  Clatm by Former Third Paxty Lender, Assistive Financial Corp,
124, On September 18, 2013, an action in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta Wae*;
commenced against Cash Store, certain of its officers and affiliates, including The Cash Store
Ino,, certaln of its assoolated companles, including The Cash Store Aﬁs‘ﬁ‘alia Holdings Ine, an.d
RTF Financial Holdings Inc,, and other corporate defendants,v seeking tepayment of certain finds
advanced to Cash Stote, its affiliates and the assoclated companies by Assistive Finanoial Corp,
.'(“Assistive”), a former velated party TPL., An application for interim tellef, irncluding the
appointment of an inspeotor, \'vlas brought by the Plaintiffs and was heard by the Court .of

Queen’s Benoh of Alberta on December 12, 2013 and & decision has not yet been rendered, The

actlon by Asslstive also seeks damages equivalent to $110,000,000 together with interest therean.

at the tate of 17.5% per year, Asslstive filed for bankruptoy on February 3, 2014 and this action.

has been.stayed while the Tistee reviews and considers this litigation,

(c)  Audit and Special Investigation Fees

125, Audit and speolal Investigation expenses also jumped significantly in FY 2013 to
$4,0 milllon from $0.9 milllon In FY 2012, Audit expenses included $1.6 milllon related to

restaternents of previously ssued finanolal stetements,

126, A speolal Investigatlon by Cash Store Finanolal's audit committee resulted in a
$2.0 million expense, The audit commiitee was made aware of wiiiten ‘communioations that

contalned questlons about the acquisition of the consumer loan portfolio from TPLs in late
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Jenuaty 2012 (the “TPL Transactlon”) end included allogations rogarding the oxistence of
undisclosed related party transactlons in connection with the TP, Transaction, In tesponse to this
allegation, legal counsel to a previous special committes of independent direstors of Cash Store
Financlal (the “Special Investigation Commities™) retained an independent accounting firm to

eonduct a special investigation, The Investigation followed a review condueted by Cash Store

‘Pinanclal's internal auditor under the direétion of the audit committes of the Board, and the

resﬁateme.pt by Cash Store Financial im Decembet 2012 of its unaudited Inferim quarterly
financlal statements and Managoment’s Discussion and Analysls for perlods ended Match 31,
2012 and June 30, 2012,

127, The {nvestigation covered the period from Decembet 1, 2010 to Janvary 15, 2013

and was oattied out over fout months, It inyolved interviews of owtrent and former officors,

diroctots, omployess, and advisors of Cash Stote and a review of telovant documents and

-agrooments as well as electronieally stoted informetion obtained fom Cash Store computets and

those of employses, former employees and direotos most likely to have information relevant to

{he investigation,

128, The 'Specia] Inwstiga;don Committes has reported its findings on the ellegations
to the Board of Directors and, consistent with the recommendation made fo the Boatd of
Directors by the Special Investigation Committes, the Board of Directots has detetmined that no
further cotrections of restatements of previously reported financial statements and othet public

disclosures ate requited in relation to the TPL Transaction,

(d)  Voluntary Delisting from the NYSE,

129, On Apri12, 2013, Cagh Store Financial recetved notics fom the NYSE thet it was -

pot In compliance with the US$50 million market capltelization and stockholders’ equity
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standard for continued listing of its common shares on the NYSE, On February 24, 2014, Cash
Store Finanolal recetyed an additional notice fiom the NYSE that it had fallen below the NYSE's
contlnued listing criteria requiring sted companies to meintain an average olosing price of its

Hsted common shates of not less than US$1,00 over a conseoutive 30 trading-day period.

130, On February 28, 2014, Cash Store Financial voluntarily delisted its stock from the
NYSE due, in par, to non-compliance with the NYSE’s matket oaplitalization and shareholdets’
equity, as woll as itsshare price requitements, A oopy of the press reloaso regarding the delisting

dated February 28, 2014 is attached as Bxhibit “Q”,

(6) - TPL Requests for Return of Restrigted Cash

131, As disoussed above, Unresttieted Cash and '}Keétxfioted Cash are comingled in Cpsh

Store’s accounts to form its total cash, which is then used to find opetations, The amoutt of

Resttloted Cash on Cash Store’s balance sheet Is expeoted to exceed the amount of total cash in

Cagh Store’s bank mocounts; In light of the citoumstanoes facing Cash Store, the decislon of

whether to make assignmonts to address this ssue was deforred,

132, Two TPLs have requested retutns of TPL Funds, MeCann has made a redemption
roquost s of February 26, 2014 to refurn ell ofMoCann's TPE, Funds, As of February 28, 2014,
the I\ZIOCam;~ portion of Restrioted Cash was $6,449,000 and by March 31, 2014 had increased to
approximately $7,674,000, On January 23, 2014, Trlmor initially made a redemnption request of
$4.'0 milllon, and subsequently made a redemption request for the balance of its funds in the
amount of $23 million on Apil 4, 2014, The Broket Agteements requﬁe 120 days’ notlce of
reduced lending limits, As such, the MoCann notloe takes effeot on of about June 26, 2014 and
the initial Trimor request takes offect on or about May 23, 2014, The MoGann and Trimor

requests are attached as Exhibits “R", “S" and “T",
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133, Cash Stote. does 'not have sufficlent Hquidity to Rulfill these requests, as the
amount of total cash as of Matoh 3 1?, 2014 was appi‘oximately $12,6 million, Senijor Management
has had dlscussions with McCann and Trimor concerning the redemption requests. On Match 20,
2014, Trimot sighed a non-disclosure agresment (“NDA”) and on Match 26, 2014, Trimor
attended meetings with Cash Store and the advisors to the Speclal Commitlee to dlscuss the
lquidity iséues faced by Cash Stozre, Trimor has been provided with a significant amount of hon-'
publio, confidential information under the NDA, The advisors to 1he Speolal Committée have
also been attempting to negotiate an NDA with McCeann, However, MeCann did not slgn an
NDA, and therefors could not atfend the Marol} 26, 2014 meeting and could hot receive any of
the confidentlal information glven to Trimor, As of the date of thiv affidavit, the redemption

requests remaitt outstanding,

134, : On April 4, 2014, counsel for MoCann ‘wro*te to coumsel for the Special
Committes, requesting that-any funds held by Cash Store on behalf of MoCahn be rei‘urned, or
slse hold in a segregated account, MoCann’s counsel asserted thet the fundé are held in trust for
MoCann and that there s a fidvelary relationship between MoCann and Cash Store, MoCann’s
counsel stated that MoCann would seek personal remedles against anyone responsible for any

dfsstpation of the alleged trust funds, A copy ofthe April 4, 2014 MoCann lettor is attached as

Bxhibit “U”,

135, Counsel for the Special Committes replied on April 8, 2014, and olarified that

there is no provision in the MoCann Broker Agreement that establishes a trust relationship or

imposes a trust on any finds, Furthormore, Cash Store’s public disclosure does not deseribe its

solationship with TPLS as constituting a frust relatienship. Additionally, counsel for the Speoial

Committee hoted that MeCann 18 aware that &l funds collected from Cash Store’s customers,
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fnoluding funds collected 1o respect of loans brokered for MoeCann, are comingled, A copy of

counsel for the Speclal Committee's April 8, 2014 letter s attached as Exhibit “V*,

136, " MoCann's counsel’s response of April' 8, 2014 is attached as Exhibit “W", In it,

he reiterates his request that money advanced by McCann. be placed in a segrepated account,

137, On April 4, 2014, Trimor made a redemptlon request for the balance of its funds
in the amount of $23 million, Trimor also requested an immediate and complete accounting of
loans brokered on Trlmor’s behalf, including all funds flowing in. and out of Trimoy’s Designated
Broker Bank Account and Deslgnated Financler Bank Account, Telmor stated thet it did not
consent to any comingling of funds anhd required that any Trimor funds be held and accounted for

sepatately, A copy Trimot’s April 4, 2014 letter Is attached as Bxhibit X7,

1'38: On April 9, 2014, counsel for the Special Committes wrete to Trimor and noted
that Trimor was awate that all Ti’L funds are oomingled.' Furthermote, he confirmed that while
Cash Store hias an acoount i uses to receive funds from TPLs with respect to thelr Initial advatce
and will transfer funds to this aecount to make distributions to the TPLs from time to time, there
has never been a Trimor Designated Broker Bank Account or Designated Financler Bank

Accoutit, A 6opy of the April 9, 2014 letter Is attached as Exhibit Y™,

139, A copy of an email from -counsel for Trimor dated Apuil 12, 2014 with respect to

a potential CCAA. fillng is aftached as Exhibit “Z”,

()  MeCann Files an Injunction

140, The attempts to negotiate an NDA with MoCann continved through the fivst ten
days of April, On the evening of April 10, 2014, the advisots fo the Special Commities sent a

furthes revised NDA to MoCann which would allow Pticowaterthouse Coopers (“PwC™) 1o inspaot
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Cash Store’s documents and tecords, MeCann did not provide a substantive response regarding

the NDA, Instead, on Aptil 11, 2014, MoCann served Cash Store with an application for an

] injunction seeking:

(e)

(©

(@

141,

An interim and final Injunction divecting Cash Stote to permit PwC to attend at

Cash Store’s offices to review its books and records in accordance with the

Broker Agreement}

An injunction prbkﬁbi{-ing Cash Store from () comingling, using, oonva*tim or
otherwise appropriating the funds advanced by MoCann pursuant to the Broker

Agreément; (i) dﬁ’eOﬁﬂ_g that thé fiunds be held in a segregated trust acoount; and

‘(111 such fasther and ofiet Yeliéf which voill presetve thé rights 'of MeCann

pending the conclusion of the litigation;

_An Order dirooting the Cagh Storeto acoount for all funds advanced pussuant to

the Broker Agroctment; and’

A declaration that all funds advanced or subsequently recovered by collection of

loans belong to MoCann oy are held in trust for MoCann,

MeCann also served a statement of olaim seeking
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(@) A direction that PwC or a sultable alternative accounting firm be granted full and
" tmmediate access to the boaks and recotds of Cash Store;

()  The injunction described above;

() A deolaration or judgment agalnst any parties who have knowingly recelved tho

Restrloted Cash and an Otdet for-accounting or tracing; and

@  An Order directing that the Plainfiff's furids be returned by June 19, 2014 or

earlier, '

142, The Statement of Clalm, application for an hljﬁnot'ién, and affidavit of Sharon

Fawoett gto attached as Bxhiblis “AA”, “BB”, and *CC™,

{

+

(®) . Sneeial Committeo

143, In light of the difficulties fhced by Cash Store, on February 19, 2014, the Board of

Directots constituted a spectal committos of independent dlrectors (the “Special Committes”) to:

()  Reviewandrespond to the regulatory developments in Ontatlo preventing
Cash Store from gelling payday loan products in Ontarlo] and
(i Carefully ovaluate thoe strategio alternatives available to Cash Store with a
_ view to maximizing value for all of its stakeholders,
144, The Special Committee engaged Osler, Hoskin ' & ‘Hai'oourt LLP ag its
independent legal advisor and Rothschild Ine. (“Rothsehild™) as lis independent financial advisor

to assist it in its steategle alternatives review provess. A copy of the two press roloases dated
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Febtuary 19 and Februaty 20, 2014 ate attached as Bxhibits “DD” and “BE”, Additionally, Cash
Store hay engaged Conway, MacKenzie Ino, (“Conway”) as a financlal advisor to assist the
Speoial Committeo in evaluating Cash Store’s liquidity position as 'part of the strateglc

alternatives revlew process, The engagement letters for Rothsehild and Conway ate attached as

Bxhibits “FF* and “GG",

1435, Rothschild has informed me thet the Specisl Committeo has explored the

possibility-of u sale, resttucturing, refnancing and liguidation,

@ | Mergors and Acquisitions Prooess
146, During the week of Mareh 3, 2014, Rothschild initiated a mergers and
acquisitions process to seek a sale or significant investment in Cash Stoie, Rothschild contacted
numerous paties, inoludthg financlal buyers and strateglo buyers based in both Canadla and the
U;S. Strategle buyets represent companles in the consumer finance and altetnative financial
services geotors and financial buyei*s were seleoted based on past experience in the financial

services sector, investments in turnaround situations and thelr ability and willlngress to deploy

capital qulekly.

147, ‘ Man& of the parties contacted have been provided with.publ'l’c teasets and several
have 1'equestad NDAs, As of Maroh 26, 2014, a number of partles had exeouted NDAg and
gtarted theft due diligence of Cash Store, A data room has been'set up and partles who have
executed NDAg have been granted access, Rothsehild will be providing partles who have

exeouted NDAs with Cash Store’s business plan and a letter requesting proposals by mid-May,
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1 ‘ - (b) Appointment of Compiiance and Regulatoxy Affairs Officer

148, On February 27, 2014, Cash Store Financial announced that it had engaged
' Michsle MoCarthy to fill the newly created position of CCRO, A copy of the related press

{ veleage dated Pebruary 27, 2014 ts attached as Bxhibit “HH",

| 149, Ms, MoCarthy 15 an expetlenced gonior executive with experience 1n numerous
roles with global financial services companies, She bas proviously had mandates which included
Chief Legal Officer, Chiof Privacy Officet, and Chair of the Board, of Direotors af significant

public and private corporations.

150, Ag CCRO, Ms, MoCarthy reports directly to the Special Committoe, The mandate

\ of tho CGRO noludod the followlng sosponsibiltos

] . Ensure that Cash Store is in compliance with all fedm al and provinoelal legmla’tlon,

] | regulations and regu: atoxy direotives (the “Gover ning Legislation”),

. Ensure that all -doouments used in the business of Cash Store are compliant with
Governing Leglslation;

v Develop prooedures to identify, assess and communicate Internally any changes

! or p1oposed changes to Governing Legxslaiion'
{ ' . Fostera oconstructive relationship between Cash Store and its regulators' and
v Oversee and assist business units within Cash Siore iIn the resolution of

| compliance ssues,
151, In her role ad CCRO, Ms, McCarthy g Jeading discussions with Cash Store’s
Ontarlo regulator in an effort to address the regulatorts conocerns regarding the issuance of a

;' lender loan license to Cash Stote Financial and its subsidiartes inder the Phyday Loans Act,
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Relief Sought

152, Inprepating this section of the affidavit, T have glso consulted with and relled on
dlsovssions with Tom Falrfleld, Cash Store’s fingnolal advisdr, and the legal and financial

advisors to the Speolal Committes,

153, Cash Store has made efforts to putsue a restructuring outside of a formal

. Insolvency proceeding, Cash Store’s Hquldity position continues to significantly deteriorate and’

the ourrent sltuation is dixe, As noted above, thete is fo0 much unoettainty and too meny legal

and business impediments fo continue the process outside of an Insolvenoy proceeding, Senloy

Management and the Spectal Committee have exp;'essed concerns regatding Cash Store’s ability

to sustaln adequate liguidity to fulfill outrent business objeclves and malntain golng concern
operations without commencing a CCAA process,, Cash Store Is unable to meet iis liabilitles as

they become due and is therefore Insolvent,

(e)  Stayof Proceedings

154, Clash Store urgently requires g stay of proceedings and.other protections provided
by the CCAA so that it Is provided with the breathing space to restioture is affalrs and attempt
to maximize entetprise value, -In partioular, the Applicants require a stay of proceedings to
prevent the TPLs fom attempting to wlthdraw the Tf’L Funds pursuant fo the terms of the
Broker Agreements, the Noteholdets from making demands under the Senlor Secured Notes and
the Senfor Lenders from meking demands undep the Credit Agreement, Such demands would
Hkely result 1n the cessation of.goiné coﬁoern operations. for. the Applioants gbsent & stay of

procesdings. The AppHoants are requesting an initlal stay of proceedings untll May 14.
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155, If the court grants the proposed Initlal Order, the Applicants intend to

immediately ocontinue the dlalogue with its significant stakeholders in en offort to reach

agresment on a consonsual restructuring plan,

(b)  Interim Financing

156. Cash Store’s liquidity has declined from $13.1 milllon of reported total cash af the

ond of February to $12,6 million at the end of March, As of olose of busineas on April 11, 2014

the total oash In Cash Store’s bank accounts was -appfoximately $2.9 million, These cash .

balanoes fnolude Restrioted Cash, The lquidity shortfall §s driven primarily by the oessation of =

lending fn Qntarlo as well as elevated oorporate ocosts assoolatsd with ongoing litigation,
Beoause of the nature of the Company’s businéss as a lender of cash, the Company nieeds to
maintaln & ‘mintmum oash - balance of: $5 to $10 million to manage ordinary dey to day

fluctiiatiots in ity lending activities,

157, ' Beoausp of its ourrent lquidity challenges, and es deraonstrated in the cash flow
forecast (disoussed below), Cash Stare requires Interim financing on an urgent basis to continue
golng concern opeations and to implement the reorganization of fs business as part of this
CCAA prooeeding Subject to oertaln terms and condltlons, Collseum Capitel Partners, LP,
Collseum Capltal Partners IT, LP and Blackwell Partners, LLC have agreed to act as DIP lenders
(the “DIP Lenders”) and provide an ibterlm financing facility (the ‘“DIP Facillty”) of
approximately $20:5 miltion to Cash Store Financial, The torm sheot is attached to this affidavit

as Bxhibit “II",

158, The funds available under the DIP Faollity will bo used to meet Cash Store’s

immediate funding requirements during the CCAA proesedings in acoordance with the oash flow

projections, as well ag for the payment of profossional fees and other costs and expeﬁses In
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connection with ths CCAA procsedings, The DIP Facility s gueranteed, joiri“cly and sevci'aliy, by

w57

the same entlties that are Guarantors under the Credit Agresment and the Notes and by 1693926

Albsrta Litd, doing business as “The Tifle Store™.

159,

160,

()

®)

Cash Store has aglf-aed to pay the DIP Lenders;

For the first $12.5 million borrowed, intstest of 12.5% per vear, all of which is to
be eapltalised (not pald in cash) and added o the outstanding princlpal balance of

the Joar to becorme due and'payable on the maturity date ofthe DIP Facility,

For amounts loaned in excess of $12,5 million, interast of 10,5% per yéar and
payable monthly in arrears in cash on the first business day of each month and on

the maturity dats, plus 7% por year provided that all such accrued and unpaid

_ Interest will bo capitallsed (not paid in cash) and added o the ouistanding

principal balance of the loan to becoms due and payable on the maturity date; and

Agsney Tees of $30,000 pet month while the DIP Facility is in place, DIP’

Pinancing fees of 3,5% of $12.5 million plus 5% of $8 milllon, and certatn oxit

fees that are payable in specifio citeumstances,

It s 8 condiﬁon preced'ént to the avallability of the DIP Facility that the Initial

Ordet be in form and substance satlsfactory to the DIP Lendels, includlng in tespect of the

granting of the DIP Lenders’ Charge (as defined below). The DIP Facility is also provided on the

condition that there be no Events of Default or Material Adverse Changes (as defined in the term

shest), The maturity date of the DIP Froility is the earlier of () 180 days from the grantlng ofthe

Indtial Ordar, (1) the date an Approved Transaction is consummated, (i) the date & deﬁand for

payment Is made followlng an Event of Default, or (Iv) the date on which the stay of procesdings
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pursuant to the Tnitlal Order expires without being extended or on which the CCAA proceedings .

are terminated,

161. The DIP Facllity {s proposed to be secured by a Court-ordered sscurity Interest,
Yen and chatge (the “DIP Lenders’ Charge”) on all of the pregent and fiutute assets, property and

underfaking of Cagh Stors, including apy cash on hand at the day of the filing (the “Property™)

that will secure all post;ﬁling advances, The DIP Lenders’ Charge 1s to have priority over all

other secutity interests, charges and Hens other than the Administration Charge (as defined
below) and up to an amount of $1,5 million, The DIP Lenders’ Charge will not securs any

obligation that exists before the Initlal Order s made and will be pari passu with the TPL

Protections, ‘

162, The DIP Facility includes affirmative covenants pmvidiﬁg that the DIP Lendets

will engage a Chief Restruoturhug Offfcer (“CRO™) within 10 days fiom the lssvance of the

Initlal Order, The DIP Facility petrmits a certaln amount In oritleal ¥endor payments, which have
: p :

been incorporated into the Cash Flows.

163, An elternative intertm finaneing proposal (the “Altetnative DIP Facility”) was

. also conditional on a CCAA filing and required a priotity DIP charge. The Special Comrulites, in

consultation with its advisors, determined that the DIP Facility had more favourable terms than

the Alfernattve DIP Facllity and was in the best Interests of Casgh Store and its stakeholders,

164, The DIP Faollity ig oritloal to the successful restructuring of Cash Store, ag it will
provide Cash Store with the necessary liquidity to operate as a golng concetn during these
procesdings and, absent an Injection of cash at this time, Cash Store will be foreed to shut down

itg operations, with & slgnificant loss of employment and distuption to those who tely on its

sotylces,
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{¢)  Monitor
165, PTI Consulting Canada Ino, (“FTI") has consonted to acl as the Monitor of the

Applicants under the CCAA, A copy of the Monifor’s consent is sitached as Bxhibit “J7

(d)  Administration Charge

166, Tn conneotion with its appointment, it s proposed that the Menitor, along with its
qounsel, counsel and the financial advisor to the Special Committes, counsel to the Appleants
and counsel and the financial advisor to the DIP Tenders will be granted & Count-ordered chatge
on all of the ,pl'e;sent and foture agsets, property and undertakiﬁg of the Applicants (the
“Propotty”) as seourity. for thel respective fees énd d‘isbui‘seme.nt-s relating to setvioes tendered
in tespoot: of the Applicants up to a maximum amount of $1,5 million (the A dministration

Charge™), The Administration Chargs s proposed to have fiist priority dver all 'dthé'{- charges,

(6)  Directors’ and Offfeers’ Protection

167, A successfil restructing of Cash Store will only be possible with the continued

pattolpation of Cash Store Finanoial’s board of ditectors (the “Directots™), management and

smployees, These petsonnel ate essential to the viability of Cash Store’s continuing business

168, I am advised by Mare Wasserman of Osler, Hoslin & Haroourt LLP, counsel for
the Speolal Committee, and believe that, In cerfain olrcumstanoces, directors oan be held lables for
oottain obligations of a company owing to employees, Cash Store estimates, with the assistance

of its Tinanotal advisox, that these obligatiens may include unpald acorvyed wages which could

amoutt fo as much as apptoximately $3,7 milllon, wnpald acorued vacetion pay which could

amount to as much ag $1.4 million for a-total potential director Habllity of approximately $5.1

~ milllon,
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169, The amount of i'nsm'anoe remalning under the bireo.‘cor and ‘O.fﬁcer primary and
exooss Insurance policles is appioximately $28 million, As discussed above, Cash Store and ifs
Direstors and Officers are subject to significant litigation and it is not certaln that there will be
sufflofent Director and Officer insytance to cover the defence costs and any potentlal findings of
Hability on the part of the Cash Store Divectors or Offloers, 'Furthermore; Cash Store hag not yet
been able to finalize s renewal of the Ditector and Officet insutance, which is due to expire in
July 2014, Cash Store has recently purchased one year run-off insurance under the te’rn'qs of its

primaty and exoess polieles, whioh will commence on the expity of those polioles.

t70. ~  The Directors and Officers, have indicated, that, in light of the uncextainty
surounding avaflable Directors’ and Officers' insurance, thelr continved servico and
involvement in this restryeturing is conditional upon the granting of an Ordet under the CCAA

which grants a charge in favout of the Directors and Offloets of Cash Stote in the amount of $2,5

million on the Property of Cash Store (the “Directors’ Charge™), the priotlfy of which is still

under discussion, The Directors’ Chatge would act as secutity for indemnification obligations for

the Direotors’ potentlal Labilitles as set out above,

171, The Directors’ Charge 18 neoessaty so that Cash Store may benefit from its
Ditectors’ and Officers’ experience with the business and the alternative financlal produots

Industty, and guide Cash Store’s testruoturing efforts,

172, The members of the Speolal Commiiteo have indicated that, in Hght of the
unoettalnty surtounding available Directots’ and Officers’ insurance, it Is thelr infertlon to resign
after a Chief Restruoturing Officer ('CRO™) is appointed by the court and a proper transition can

be implemented, To that end, the DIP term sheet provides that a CRO be engaged within 10

days, The menbets of the Speotal Commitiee have Indicated that they are only willing',to. assist
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In transferring the Special Committes's testructuring dutles to the proposed CRO on the

condition that they receive protections ekin to that of a CRO from and. after the date of the Initlal

Ordet, Thus, the Special Commiites members’ continued servics and involvement In this
restructuring is conditional upon the granting of en Order undet the CCAA whioh provides that

1o smomber of the Speclal Committee will have any lability with respect to any losses, olaims,

damages ot liabilitles, of any nature or kind, from and after the date of the Initial Order exoept 0°

* the extent such losses, clalms, damages or liabilities result from the gross negligende or wilful

misconduct on the part of such member of the Speoial Committee,




N
w

(€]

T

-62 -

€3] TPL Protections .

(1)  Existing Cash-on-hand ‘
173, . Giventhe position of certain TRLs with respect to the Cash Store’s cash-on-hand,
it 15 proposed in the draft Initlal Order that the TFLs bo granted a Court—orde@ charge on Cash
Store’s Property in the maximum gmount of casheon-band at the time of filing (the “TPL
C.hai*gc”).‘ As stated In the DIP term shee,t, the sole putpose of the TRL Charge s to enéure that
any clalms by the TPLs to Cash Store’s cash~onshand are progerved ponding a deter{nination by
this court, Further, as stated in the DIP term shea.t, the TPL Ciaarée 1s intended to preserve the
olaims of the TPLs as they exlsted immediately prior to the effective time of the Initial Order,
Howoever, the term sheef states that the TPL Chatge shall not grant the TPLs any now, additional,

ot greater rights than they would have had absent these protections,

174, The draft Inftlal Order proposes that the TPL Charge will rank pard passu with the
DIP Lendets’ Chatge and will only be onforocable by the TRLg as disected by the Cout, Given
these proteotions, it Is ﬁx'oposed in the drafl Tuttal Otder that Cash Store will be permitted to use

all of the cash-on-hand for general operating purposes,

" (i)  Post-Iillng Brokered Loan Repayments and Post-Filing Brokered
' Loang '

175, On tho date of filing there will bo approximately $18,7 millien of broketed loans
(less than 90 days past due), roughly $11,5 milllon, or 62%, of which are Ontarlo loans, The
TPRLs wi~ll"li'lcaly encoumnter diffioulty collecting outstanding Ontario loans, as the Ontarlo Cash

Stote branohes ave currently unable fo broker new loans for customers, Cash Store is not able to

prediot with any cetainty the amount of Ontarlo loans that will be ropaid.
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1v76. - As oustomers topay the TPL brokered loans, Cash Stove intends to wse this
Hauidity for the sole putpose of broketing new 1oaﬁs (and not for funding opoerstions or other
costs), Cash Store v}ﬂl keop suffiolently detadled records of all post-filing repayments of TPL
loans, Including principal and. interest (“TP; Repayments™) and any and ali re~-advanoes made by
Cash Stote such that, as at any time post-filing, the company can determine (i) the amount of all
TPL Repayments, (i) any and all re-advances, and (i) any still outstanding TPL brokert;d loans,
Cash Store will work with the Monitor to accelerate the exlsting reconcillation process In erder
to allow Cash Store fo ide'nﬂfy on a daily basls the _TPL brokered loans and any amounis
received iIn res;peot' of same- following the Injflal Order (as oppesed to the month-end

reconoifiation process now followed),

171, .. On a go-forward babls, .Cash Storo will contimie its praétice of deposiiing

;-epaymeﬁts of TPL brokered loans info Cash Store's general bank socount, Cash 'Stogé lsnotina

“position to physically segregate the TPL Repayments glven the manner In which such

tepayments ate made and limitatlons with Cash Store’s pash management prooess, inoluding

Cagh Store’s cash management sofiwate and that belonglbg to thivd pariles, DC Bank and Diteot

Cash Payments Ino,

178, Cash Store has had disoussions with the proposed Moenitor and has agreed to

Tnitial Order and not yet redeployed as new brokered loans,

malntaln 8 miniraum cash balance In an amount equal to the TPL Repayment recefved after the '

179, Cash Store will continue to ensure that TPLs receive a yetwin of approximately -

17,5% pet year (ot such lesser amount as may be agreed t0) with respect to TPL brokerod loans
that ate tepald and available for redeployment ftom and after the Initial Order date, Based on this

approach, the return will be made on any 'TPL, broketed loan existing as of the date ofthe Inftial
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TEMEX RESOURCES CORP.
Applicant
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MICHELLE WALKER, JAMIESON WALKER,
DAVID BURDA and DARLENE STUBBS
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APPLICATION UNDER section 107 of the Mining Act, RSO 1990, c. M14, section 21.2 of the

Statutory Powers Procedure Act, RSO 1990, ¢. §22 and rules 14.05(3)(d) and (g) of the Rules
of Civil Procedure

COSTS SUBMISSIONS OF THE APPLICANT,
TEMEX RESOURCES CORP.

1 The applicant, Temex Resources Corp. (“Temex’), claims $10,588.33 in costs for the
motion to strike heard April 16, 2014, and $70,907.66 for the proceedings before the Mining and
Lands Commissioner and the application itself. Enclosed is the costs outline for the motion to
strike (tab A), and the bill of costs for the Commissioner’s proceedings and the application to
| this Honourable Court (tab B).

Motion to strike

2 Michelle Walker disclosed communications subject to settlement privilege in her
responding application materials, forcing Temex to bring its motion to strike. Temex sought
costs on its motion.”

3 Michelle Walker acknowledged at the application hearing that her counsel, Richard
Butler, had helped her draft responding materials, so the inclusion of privileged communications

cannot be attributed to Ms Walker being a self-represented litigant.”

* paragraph 1(d) of the notice of motion (to be heard March 26, 2014 at the outset of the within application) dated March 24, 2014
and filed March 25, 2014.
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Ordet that 1s subsequently tepaid and avallable for redeployment, The return will be caloulated
so that the 17.5% payment is pald from the Initial Order date on such amounts. Thess
ateangements ave also intended to ensure that Cash Stors will not make payments on loans in

existence on the date of filing that are subsequently defaulied upon,

(g)  Cash Flow Forecast

180, Cash Stote, with the assistance of fts financial advisor Conway, has prepared 13-
weel oash flow projections as required by the CCAA, FTI has revieWea these oash ﬂt;w
projeotlons, A copy of the cash flow projectlons is attached as Bxhibit “RK*, The cash flow
projections demonstrate that Cash Store can.:continue going comcern operations duting the

proposed stay perlod should the proposed DIP Factlity be approved.

181, Cash Stotre antlolpates that the Monttor will provide oversight and assistanoe and

will report to the Court In respect of Cash Store's actual resulfs relative to cash flow foreoast
during this proceeding, Bxisting accounting provedures will provide the Monitor with the abllity

1o track the flow of funds among the varfous Applicants,

182, 1 am oonfident that pranting the Initlal CCAA Order sought by the Applicants is
in the best {nterests of the Appllcants and all interested partiés. Without the DIP Faollity, Cash
Store faces a cessation of going congern operations, the lquidation of its assets and the loss ofits
smployees’ Jobs, Cash Store tequires an {mmediate and realistio di‘.::llogue with its staleholdes
under the protection of the CCAA with the goal of maximizing the ongoing value of the business
and continulng employment for its employees, The granting of the mqﬁested stay of proceedings

will maintainthe “status quo” and permit an oxdealy restruoturing and analysis ofthe Applicants’

affairs, with minimal short-tetm disruptions to Cash Stote’s business,

w
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Warin. Sachar

~065-

Steven Carlstrom
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Shargn Fawcait " "

Feam J. Mhreay MeCran
Sank: Mareh«14-14 12106 Pl
Tor Gordei Raykdal

G Sharan Fywgety
Subjeets Cintarla pryclay foang

/ Gowd morning Gord,

ok forward to our call today ane out visk Tn abaut o wedlk,

You miefitloned that yeu were meeting with Steve and Cralg this maorning o dlseuss our [oan ta
Tarek stop Ontarfo payday toan customers and the regultements for fundé Tt Pagulated provinges.
We hive attsnipted to reduploy the funds In Ontarla since they ave nolonger belng usad to

hackstop paydmy loans thers bl so far with no suceess. Those funds are 1io longer sacurad by the
V' payday creditors and the funds from those accounts eollacted were to b crédited to us, ¥

appears that those funds were cradited to the account of Cash Stora In cantravertion of our

[ mutual understanding and agrasment,

Bocause the fords wa have loaned are from.a Toumdation i1s sven mors mporiant that we ot
place those funds ot ek As you know we went Ta cungidersble affort snd legsl cost to getthe
opinben and comfort thet we regulrad to assure thet funds loaned to Cash Stare were uh, ok
Invastment because thay wire sepured toy foams 4 theproniae of Caghi St for proper

[ acrouniing of thoss loaps, Now tet the loans thet supporied aur foang were coflartad We miugt,

aslefor repayment, Shiult Cash Store reguire further loand as backup Jo payday foansin
regulated praviness and secure those foans with payday loans.as b the-past, wa wilt b Paapiny ko
make funds avatlable. We are happy with the return recelved from Cash Stare and-lotk forward
to contivaing our relatfonshlp for a vary long thoe,

Plasss be assured that the Interest Cash Storeds paylng ug ls poing e very worthwhile causes that
raly on ourfunding, We can never lat them dawn, "That fa-the maln reason thet we make sure that

any agreements we entet {rto on thairbehalf Is never at risk. On the other fard we will always

WY
LSt 1 A WW&%

| A il
- Py . ﬁungﬂ“i p ﬁ/'i'"-"}d

{ive up b our slde of the agreenent,
| ool forward to our call later today. % M7 14

Chears, , T A
Murray ogit O
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Sharon Favweatt ‘ . .
Frasr S Ntrray MeGanny

St Apri12-14 2:32 PR

Teon ity Giorclons Reykdal,

Subject: "W Petsonal and Tmpartant

Imporfanca High

[ Good afternoen Gord,
{ 1 have gtiempted $o contact yougn humeroks oosasions ard have lefl messages on your cell,

office phons and with Sandy. Atterpibig to keop a cradifor and friemd In the darlt by caasing all
cammunicatiar s nather the way to treat afdierd nota cradior K mentiarad $6 yol, 1 mofe
than one ogcasion, the funds Reat Cash s improperly holding are used To support v large sehiood,
orphanage and girls restdenge tn Zambla, Without thoss funds ieachers, caraglvers, food suppilers

| mic cannat be patd and our schoo] of 460 students wil tave e close, | told you this before and

yau asstired me Shat Rent Cash wag locking sfler our rroney dfiipently andthere was ho heed to
WHD PPV T .

| plemse Gord do what you know is right and release-aur funds do thaltihay can continus be be used
[ for the good purppses thay have heer uset for, You know that the money s not Rent Cagl's ard

have stated that an many occastons and aven as late as 2 weeks ago whet wa visited at your club

" and your home In Scottsdale,  You, as president, promised and assutad thatall was well and our

fukrs were being held by Rent Cash for our belefft,
Please contact ma, :

- Sinceraly,
\ Murray
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Sharon Fawcett

From: Michael Zvonkovig <michaelzvonkovic@csfinanclal.ca»
Sent: July=28+12 2:58 PM

To: Sharon Fawcett

Subjact: RE; Admirtlstration Questlon re Broker Agreement

1 Sharon,

(n the new agreement, we've tried to comblne all these accounts and not to have a deslgnated broker bank
socount, Yourfunds.specifically would ba tracked separataly via our accournting system,

| hopa this Is ok, .
Mitke

Fromi¢ Shaton Fawcett {malle:s.faweeti@alstoscorp.com)
Sents Thursday, July 19, 2012 3:07 PM

‘Tos Michaal Zvonkevic :

Subject: Administration Question ye Broker Agraament

Hi Mike,

On the Broker Agreament funds, so you keep a separate "designated broker bank account” for aach Financler such that
all of the loans made using our funds are pald from and returnad to that account, as well as all related Interest and
feas? | know thatwe spoke of a monthly reconciltation of ourfund, but wanted to clarify Jf thay would also he tracked

through aseparate actount, Please advise,
Tharks

Sharon

Sharon Faweett, CA

MeCann Family Folding Corporation
T:403.251.5517

F: 1,888.474,8105 .

The information transmitted Is intendad only Jor the addressee and may oontain confidential, proprietary and/or
privileged materlal. Any unavthorized review, distribution or other use of or the taking of any action in

 yeliance upon this information I prohibited, Iff you recolved this in error, pleage contact the sender and delete

or destroy this message and any coples, '
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Sharon Fawdaett

Frarm: b Murray MeCarin | y/ CM‘K | ﬁwm “ & ﬂﬁxéjﬂ'

Hant Mareh-04-14 11232 PM. ji
T Sharon Paweett . wl P
Subjoet: Re: The Family BLOC AR Feb 13, 2014:dsx P LA R
, N ‘fik‘}(‘" .
Go for i ' pof W y om
M . Y‘m . Q:’_( ’Ig 0 E
e
Sert from my {*hone ' 1AM P
“{% "

On Mar4, 2014, &t 5.5 PM, "Sharon Fewegit" <sfawosti@anrialpgeomn.comy wirabe % Q‘f%ﬁ y gfw"""

It~ PY) - P ok et calladl Stave, fout Fre Just seint tils reply v thy Feb 268" wmall. Dl fuliow
up tororiowe with 5 call fo request o repayineist of the uiupendad chpitl, Busadon o further §2.3
repaynrerd-af the Ontarie LOGs from Ped 13 1o 28, wir shauld heive s LOC balanen df $6.1 1wufior sl
ynexpendad caplial of Just under 23 milion. twas fhirdng thal I would suggest o repayhient of §7
million tohappen right away ~laaves a cushlon Tor fivalieing the Fatatary nsmbers bt stops the
tnterest clock for them now as opposed to walting a foisier 2 weals for the final agedunitiyg foy
Fabruary ~what doyou thindd

Sharen

*Sharon Fawoett

T 403.251.5517

Fr 1.888474-8108

B s fhwosttmorlsioasonson

" fnformation tnsmdtied Is lutended only for the addressor and miay contely vonfidential,
proprietary and/or mivileged meterial. Ay vaasthorlzed seview, duirfbution or wilter use of or
the taking of ey action i wriiane wpon this fuftemution is profibiied. I you received this iy
error, ploass vontast the sender and deleleop dostroy this mussape and ey coples,

Nh U BRI TR, e it

g Brown Steve Carlstrom [malloiSlaveatlsiiom@rafinsimlalod]
7 Hanty Macch-04-14 §:52 PM ,
Totr Bharah Fawositt
G Craly Warnblk
Hubjeets RE: The Famlly BLOGC AR Fab 12, 2014.Xlsx
o
N aralslem Sharow, We are nontioting the Outario collectinns very closely @ well From Fab 13-28 we
\  collegted mother$2.8 retllonof your Joans. These gre approsdmate mivers and we will gat you-the
1 el ones Gyar the next couple of weslks once wae o the flal actounting for Fabruaty,

L &tova

S Froten Sharon Fawcetd Imallinisfawestt@aristoscorpgonm
sent: Wedngsday, Fabruary 28,2084 12,36 PM
TouBtevy Carlstrom
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEEN:

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., TCS
CASH STORE INC., INSTALOANS INC.,, 7252331 CANADA INC., 5515433
MANITOBA INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD. DOING BUSINESS AS “THE TITLE
STORE”

APPLICANTS

REPLY AND RESPONDING FACTUM OF
TRIMOR ANNUITY FOCUS LP #5
(returnable June 11, 2014)

MCMILLAN LLP
Brookfield Place

181 Bay Street, Suite 4400
Toronto, ON M5J 2T3

Brett Harrison LS#:44336A
brett.harrison@mcmillan.ca
Tel: (416) 865-7932

Fax: (416) 865-7048

Adam Maerov LS#: 48560H
adam.maerov(@mcmillan.ca
Tel: (403) 215-2752

Fax: (416) 865-7048

Lawyers for Trimor Annuity Focus
Limited Partnership #5
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TO: THE SERVICE LIST
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-1-
PART I - INTRODUCTION
1. There are two issues on this motion and cross-motion.
2, The issue on the motion is ownership of the outstanding loans (“TPL Loans”) in

the name of Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership #5 (“Trimor™) and the other
third party lenders (“TPLs”) at the time of the Applicants’ CCAA filing, and the

proceeds of those TPL Loans.

3. The DIP Lenders to the Applicants (the “DIP Lenders™) argue that they should
benefit from the comingling of funds by the Applicants in breach of their Broker
Agreements with the TPLs. The DIP Lenders suggest that as a result of the comingling
of funds, the Cash Store converted the TPLs’ property, the TPL Loans, into its own
property. Despite, having had the benefit of full disclosure of the nature of the Cash
Store’s business model and its legal relationship with the TPLs at all relevant times, the
DIP Lenders now argue opportunistically for the enlargement of the Applicants’ estate

for their benefit.

4. The issue on the cross-motion is whether the Transactions (as defined below) are

preferences under the applicable legislation.

PART II - THE FACTS

5. In determining the issue of ownership, it is important to carefully consider the

facts.

LEGAL_22447230.7
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6. In reviewing the arguments made by the DIP Lenders, it must be remembered
that when they decided to become creditors of Cash Store they were aware of the
following facts, all of which were highlighted in a Preliminary TSCI Circular dated

January 12, 2012 (“Preliminary TSCI Circular”):l

(a) Cash Store acts “primarily as a broker of short-term advances between
our customers and third-party lender, the effect of which is that the loan

. - 2
portfolio we service is not financed on our balance sheet..”

(b) “... our business will remain dependant on third-party lenders who are
willing to make funds available for lending to our customers. There are no
assurances that the existing or new third-party lenders will continue to make
funds available to our customers. Any reduction or withdrawal of funds could

have a significant material adverse impact on this portion of our business...”*

(c) “The advances provided by the third-party lenders are repayable by the
customer to the third-party lenders and represent assets of the lenders;

accordingly, they are not included on our balance sheet..”

(d) “We have made the decision to voluntarily make retention payments to
the third-party lenders as consideration for continuing to advance funds to our

customers. The retention payments are made pursuant to a resolution approved

! Second Armstrong Affidavit sworn May 8, 2014 (“Second Armstrong Affidavit”) at para. 5 and Exhibit “A” -
Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 4 (internal); Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 3.

2 Ibid. at p. 4 (internal).

3 Ibid, atp. 16 (internal).

4 Ibid. at p. 38 (internal).
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by our board of directors (the “Board”) which authorizes management to pay a
maximum amount of retention payments per quarter, and the retention payments
are recorded in the period in which a commitment is made to a lender pursuant to

the resolution...”

(e) “While the third-party lenders have not been guaranteed a return, the
decision has been made to voluntarily make retention payments to the lenders

to lessen the impact of loan losses experienced by the third-party lenders..”’

7. From the above it is clear that the DIP Lenders were aware that the TPL Funds
and Receipts were not assets of Cash Store and that the TPLs were receiving retention

payments referred to above to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board of

Cash Store.

8. Despite this disclosure, the DIP Lenders are now claiming that because Cash
Store commingled the proceeds of the TPL Loans, without the knowledge of the TPLs
and in clear breach of the Broker Agreement, they have now been converted into an

asset of Cash Store.

9. They go on to argue that the receipt of the Retention Payments, which were fully
disclosed, supports this argument because these voluntary, discretionary payments

transformed a brokerage arrangement into a loan.

5 Ibid,
6 Ibid,
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10.  Lastly, they claim that the TPLs did not bear any collection risk, which they say
leads to the conclusion that the TPLs are creditors. This is patently false. As described in
more detail below, according to Cash Store, almost a third of the Trimor loan portfolio
has gone bad and there is little chance of collecting those loans. The risk of loss could

not be more clear.

A. Comingling of TPL Loans Proceeds

11. It is uncontested that the Broker Agreements (i) provide for the proceeds of the
TPL Loans to be segregated, and (ii) make it very clear that they are only to be used for
the purpose of brokering loans to third parties. One of the reasons for this was that it was
important from a regulatory perspective that the funds being lent, and the TPL Loans

themselves, did not belong to the Applicants.

12.  To the extent that the Cash Store comingled funds, it breached the terms of the
Broker Agreements. Contrary to the assertions made by the DIP Lenders, there was no
reason for the TPLs to believe that the Cash Store would breach the Broker Agreements

and applicable regulatory requirements.

13. The DIP Lenders, who are also pre-filing secured creditors of the Applicants, are
now opportunistically attempting to use these breaches of the Broker Agreements as

justification for confiscating the TPLs’ property.

14. The DIP Lenders argue that by comingling the proceeds of the TPL Loans with
its own funds, Cash Store converted the TPL Loans into an asset of Cash Store. Their

argument suggests that the Cash Store ought to be entitled to rely on its breach of the
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Broker Agreements, and if the DIP Lenders are to be believed, potentially applicable

law, to convert the TPL Funds to a Cash Store asset.’

B. Retention Payments and Collection Risk

15.  The DIP Lenders correctly note that Cash Store’s legal relationship with the
TPLs is not exhaustively defined by the Broker Agreements. The conduct of the parties
is also relevant. For example, the payment of voluntary retention payments and capital
protection was not provided for in the Broker Agreements. As highlighted above, these
payments and transfers were disclosed to all of Cash Stores creditors, including the DIP
Lenders/bondholders/secured creditors and were approved by Cash Store’s Board of
Directors pursuant to resolutions passed from time to time, presumably in accordance
with the Board’s business judgment. ® Despite an oblique reference to the contrary in the
DIP Lenders’ factum, there is not a shred of evidence that suggests that the Cash Store

did not at all relevant times operate at arm’s length from the TPLs.

16.  The reason for these payments is clear. This brokering model was very lucrative
for Cash Store, which received a risk free 23% brokering fee upfront each and every
time a loan was made. That meant that it made a rjsk free profit on every transaction, and

the TPLs assumed the borrower’s credit risk.” Without the retention payments, the TPLs

7 The ex turpi causa doctrine prohibits a party from benefitting from its illegal or immoral conduct: Randhawa v.
420413 B.C. Ltd., 2009 BCCA 602 at para, 66 citing Canada Cement LaFarge Ltd. v. British Columbia Lightweight
Aggregate Ltd., [1983] 1 S.C.R. 45; Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 1. This doctrine has been applied in the
context of bankruptey proceedings. In Re Bluebird Corp. [1926] 2 D.L.R. 484, the Court confirmed that *no one can
have the assistance of the Court in an attempt to place himself in better legal position by breaking the law.” Book of
Authorities of Trimor, Tab 2.

8 Affidavit of Steven Carlstrom sworn April 14, 2014 (“Carlstrom Affidavit™) at para. 85; Motion Record of the
Applicants at Tab 1.

® Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers dated May 14, 2014 (the “PwC Report”) at p. 6 (internal); Motion Record of
Trimor, Tab 4. '
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would have demanded the return of the TPL Loans and proceeds and deprived the Cash
Store of an important source of revenue that could be used, among other things, to

service its secured loans and bonds. 10

17.  To encourage the TPLs to continue to make the TPL Funds available for
brokering, the Cash Store decided from time to time to make Retention Payments. As
stated by Mr. C\arlstrom in his affidavit, “Under the broker model, Cash Store makes
voluntary retention payments to the TPLs to encourage them to continue making funds

available to Cash Store”.!!

18. The Retention Payments made by the Cash Store were neither “fixed” nor
“ouaranteed”. The Retention Payments were “voluntary” and could be made in any
amount the Cash Store Board of Directors determined appropriate, which is evidenced
by the fact that they fluctuated over time.'* They were entirely at the discretion of the
Cash Store and could be terminated unilaterally by the Cash Store at any time, as can be
seen by the fact that, as the DIP Lenders state in their factum, “Cash Store elected not to

make any voluntary retention payments to the TPLs” after February 2014. 13

19. While it is true that, as stated in Mr. Carlstrom’s affidavit, the Retention
Payments were made to “lessen the impact of loan losses”, ' there is no doubt that the

TPLs continue to have collection risk and suffered loan losses. In fact, the Applicants

10 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 85; Motion Record of the Applicants at Tab 1.

I Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 85; Motion Record of the Applicants at Tab 1.

12 Trimor Distribution Summary, March 2014, DIP Lender Cross-Motion Record, Tab 2
13 DIP Lender Factum, para. 47

4 Carlstrom Affidavit at para 84; Motion Record of the Applicants at Tab 1.
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allege that Trimor experienced more than $8 million in loan losses according to Cash

Store’s records. '

20.  The DIP Lenders inaccurately state at paragraph 27 of their factum that the
reason that 0% of Trimor’s loans were greater than 90 days past due is that Cash Store
had “acquired all of Trimor’s bad debt, insulating it completely from the credit risk of
the payday lending products.” This is simply wrong. The reason that 0% of Trimor’s
loans were more than 90 days overdue is that Cash Store wrote off all loans that were
more than 90 days past due. The amount of loans that were more than 90 days past due is
included in the “balance forward” shown in the Trimor portfolio summary as at March

31, 2014 contained in the PwC Report. '

21.  This is clearly stated in the PwC Report, “The current loan portfolio balance
represents loans less than 90 days overdue” and “The balance forward [of $8,514,000]
presented on the lender statement is comprised primarily of loans more than 90 days
overdue”. 7 PwC goes on to state that “The Company has acknowledged that loans more
than 90 days [overdue] are more difficult to collect and have a low likelihood of being
collected”.'® As a result, there is a low likelihood that Trimor will recover approximately

30% of the amounts it has lent to Cash Store customers. This is a significant credit risk.

'S PwC Report at pp. 13 and 17, Trimor Motion Record, Vol. 3, Tab 4,
6 pwC Report at p. 13, Trimor Motion Record, Vol. 3, Tab 4.
7 pwC Report at p, 17; Trimor Motion Record, Vol. 3, Tab 4.
8 pwC Report at p. 18; Trimor Motion Record, Vol. 3, Tab 4.
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PART 1II - ISSUES AND THE LAW

22.  The sole issue on the cross-motion is whether making payments to the TPLs is a

preference under the legislation referred to by the DIP Lenders.

A. The Brokering Business was not a Preference
i The TPLs are not creditors of the Cash Store

23.  The TPLs are not creditors of Cash Store with respect to the TPL Loans or
proceeds of the TPL Loans. It is clear from both the Broker Agreements and the conduct
of the parties that the TPL funds were made available by the TPLs solely for the purpose

of brokering TPL Loans to third parties, and were not lent to Cash Store.

24.  The cases relied on by DIP Lenders to assert a debtor-creditor relationship are

either distinguishable or support the TPLs argument that there is no such relationship.

25.  The DIP Lenders argue that the Retention Payments are “interest” and that this
establishes a debtor-creditor relationship. The only “interest” that was required to be
paid to the TPLs was to be paid by the Applicants’ customers. In Trimor’s case, the
obligation to pay interest was set out in the loan agreements entered into between Trimor
(not Cash Store) and the Applicants’® customers.'” The DIP Lenders have not introduced
any evidence that any TPL Loans in the name of Trimor were made pursuant to
agreements between Cash Store and its customers. There is no legal obligation for any
customer of Cash Store that is a borrower under a TPL Loan in the name of Trimor to
pay principal or interest to Cash Store. A customer’s legal obligation to Cash Store is to

pay a broker commission at the time a loan is made.

26.  As between Cash Store and Trimor, the risk of a customer failing to repay its

loan remained solely with Trimor. The fact that Cash Store might unilaterally and

19 pwC Report p. 10, Motion Record of Trimor, Vol. 3, Tab 4.
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voluntarily elect to offset all or a portion of the losses arising from that risk from time to
time in order to induce Trimor to leave the TPL Loans with Cash Store does not turn a

broker relationship into a debtor creditor relationship.

27. At paragraph 53 of their Factum, the DIP Lenders include a quote from

Oosterhoff on Trusts which actually supports the TPLs position. It states that:

[TThe debtor always remains liable to the creditor until the debt is paid.
The trustee, however, is not personally obligated to compensate the
beneficiaries if the trust property is lost other than through the trustee’s
own fault.

28.  That is exactly the cése here. According to the Applicants, Trimor currently
holds over $8 million in bad, or written off, loans in its loan portfolio. As provided in the
Broker Agreement, Cash Store has no obligation to make Trimor whole unless it was
negligent in its duties.? When the Broker Agreement terminates, all that the TPLs
receive is the cash and loans in existence at the time of the termination, which includes
all of the bad loans.?! Nothing in the Broker Agreements or in the Cash Store’s conduct
requires the Cash Store to make the TPLs whole for bad loans. The TPLs are at risk, not

the broker, Cash Store.

29. At paragraph 55 of their Factum, the DIP Lenders rely on Salo v. Royal Bank of
Canada, where the Court held that “no direction or control was exercised”? over the

property at issue. The facts of this case obviously differ from Salo. Trimor exercised

20 A ffidavit of Erin Armstrong sworn April 13, 2014 (the “Armstrong Affidavit”) — Exhibits “A” and “B”, 5. 7.1,
Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 1.

2 Armstrong Affidavit — Exhibits “A” and “B, s. 6.4; Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 1.

221998 BCJ No. 999 (BCCA) at p. 2; Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 3.
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significant control over the TPL Funds, which included, but was not limited to, the fact

that:

(a) The Broker Agreements required the TPL Funds to be segregated from

Cash Store’s funds; > 3

(b) The TPL Funds could only be used for the purpose of brokering loans to

third parties;**

(c) The TPLs retained the right to reduce the TPLs Funds available for

brokering on 120 days’ notice;>

(d) Trimor had the legal authority to approve loans and specify the amounts

of loans that were made to Customers;26 and
(6)  The TPLs had audit rights, which they exercised.”’

30.  In paragraph 54 of its .factum, the DIP Lender relies on Qutset Media Corp. v.
Stewart House Publishing Inc. (“Outser”).*® That case is also clearly distinguishable
from the facts here. In Outset, “the parties entered into a contract that obligated the
applicant to pay the respondent 75 percent (a fixed rate) of an amount invoiced to
purchasers regardless of the ultimate sale price of the product. In contrast, Cash Store
had no obligation under the Broker Agreement, or otherwise, to make the voluntary

retention payments at a particular rate, or at all.

2 Affidavit of Brin Armstrong sworn April 13, 2014 (the “Armstrong Affidavit”) — Exhibits “A” and “B, s. 1.1{g)
and (h).

24 Transeript of Cross-Examination of Erin Armstrong on her affidavits sworn April 13 and May 8, 2014 held on May
21, 2014 (“Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript”), questions 97, 98, 168 and Exhibits “17, “27, “3” and”9”;
Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6.

25 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 2.2 and 6.4,

2 Armstrong April 13 Affidavit, at para. 13, Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 1 and Armstrong Affidavit at para. 13,
Exhibits “A” and “B” at s, 2.3, Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6.

27 Armstrong Affidavit at para. 13, Exhibits “A” and “B” at s. 5.1, Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 134 and Exhibit “U”.
28120037 O.J. No, 2558 (C.A.); Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 4.
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31.  The DIP Lenders have fundamentally mischaracterized what they refer to as the
“basic foundation” of the relationship between Cash Store and the TPLs. The TPLs had
no legal right to a specified rate of return on their capital and the TPLs assumed the

credit risk of Cash Store’s customers.

32.  The DIP Lenders’ claim that Trimor made its funds “generally available to Cash
Store in the running of its business” is also simply wrong. In fact, Trimor obtained an
express statement from Cash Store that it had “never used [proceeds of Trimor Loans]
for any other purpose than loans to customers or maintaining a loan float.”® Trimor also
believed that the Trimor Funds were also separated from Cash Store’s funds in a

segregated account containing only TPL Funds.*

ii. If TPLs were Otherwise Creditors of Cash Store, the Proceeds of
TPL Loans are impressed with a Trust

33.  To the extent that this Court finds that there is a creditor-debtor relationship
between the Cash Store and Trimor, the Trimor Loans and Receipts are the subject of a

“Quistclose trust”. A “Quistclose trust” arises in the following circumstances:

(a) Where the mutual intent of the parties is that the funds advanced be used
exclusively for a particular use, the lender obtains an equitable right to see that

the funds are applied for the primary designated purpose;’’ and

(b) If the primary .purpose cannot be carried out, the question arises if a
secondary purpose (i.e., repayment to the lender) has been agreed expressly or by
implication. If so, a secondary resulting “Quistclose trust” arises for the benefit

of the lender.>?

 Transcript of Cross-Examination of Erin Armstrong on her affidavits sworn April 13 and May 8, 2014 held on May
21, 2014 (“Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript”), Exhibit “3” and “9”; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6.
3 Second Armstrong Affidavit at para. 10; Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 3.

3 Maple Homes Canada , 2000 BCSC 1443 at para. 47 citing Barclays Bank Ltd. v. Quistclose Investments Lid.
(1968), [1970] A.C. 567 (UK. H.L.).

32 Maple Homes Canada , 2000 BCSC 1443 at para. 47 citing Barclays Bank Ltd. v. Quistclose Investments Lid.
(1968), [1970] A.C. 567 (UK. HL.).
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34, Cash Store advised Trimor that it would not use Trimor Loans and Receipts for
any purpose other than advancing loans in accordance with the Broker Agreements,
unless Cash Store first obtained Trimor’s written permission.”® No such permission was
ever granted. Cash Store also advised Trimor that it had “never used [Trimor Funds] for

any other purpose than loans to customers or maintaining a loan float.”**

35. The CRO has determined, in consultation with the Monitor, that it is necessary
and appropriate to implement a cessation of the brokered loan business and cease
brokering new loans in all jurisdictions in which the Cash Store operates.’ 5 Cash Store’s
intention to cease all brokered loan operations effectively terminates the Broker

Agreements,

36.  Trimor and Cash Store expressly agreed that on termination of the Broker
Agreements, the Trimor Loans and Receipts would, at the sole option of Trimor, be
repaid to Trimor.>® Accordingly, the Trimor Loans and proceeds of Trimor Loans are the

subject of a “Quistclose Trust” for the benefit of Trimor.
B. The Transfer of Loan Receivables to TPLs Was Not a Preference

37.  The DIP Lenders seek a declaration that two categories of transactions which

occurred between the TPLs and the Cash Store constitute preferences:

(a) Cash Store’s designation of advances or loans in the TPLs’ names; and

3 Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, questions 97, 98, 168 and Exhibits “1”, *27, “3” and™9”,

3 Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, Exhibit “3” and “9”,

35 Affidavit of William Aziz sworn May 9, 2014 (the “Aziz Affidavit”) at para. 29.

36 Upon termination of the Broker Agreements, Trimor has the option to allow the Applicants to continue to
administer the Trimor Loans, transfer the administration of them to a new service provider, or sell the Trimor Loans to
a third party. Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at paras. 6.4.
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(b)  Any assignment by the Cash Store to the TPLs of non-brokered loans

made in Cash Store’s name (the “Transactions”).

38. By way of cross-motion, the DIP Lenders ask for the Court’s assistance in
reversing the Transactions in drder, they say, to ensure that the proceeds of loans made
or brokered by the Cash Store are available to all creditors in accordance with their
respective priorities. This application has nothing whatsoever to do with “all creditors”
of the Cash Store nor is it brought in furtherance of the policies and objectives of the
CCAA. This is a blatant attempt by the DIP Lenders to summarily opportunistically
scoop the TPL Loans and the proceeds of the TPL Loans to secure repayment of their
DIP Loans and nothing more. The DIP Lenders lack both the standing and the legal
basis to impugn any Transactions. This backend attack on the substance of the Broker
Agreements and the regular course business practices between the TPLs and the Cash
Store of which the DIP Lenders (“qua” DIP Lenders, pre-filing lien holders and pre-

filing bondholders) were always well aware ought not to be countenanced by this Court.

i. The DIP Lenders Lack Standing to Bring Preference Claim

39. Creditors, such as the DIP Lenders, are not entitled as of right to impugn a

payment as a preference in a CCAA proceeding.

40.  Under sections 95 and 96 of the BIA, a trustee in bankruptcy has the right to
impugn a payment or transaction as a preference or transfer at undervalue. Section 36.1
of the CCAA extends this right to a CCAA Monitor. It does not extend it to individual

creditors of the CCAA estate unless the creditor complies with Section 38 and takes an
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assignment of the claim. The Monitor has not challenged any transaction involving the
TPLs as a preference. The DIP Lenders have not purported to take an assignment of the
claim, nor would it be appropriate for them to do so in light of their express or implied

consent to the ordinary course Transactions that they now complain of.

ii. The Transactions are not void as Preferences

41.  Even if the DIP Lenders’ motion was properly before the Court, the Transactions
are not preferences or otherwise void under any legal theory advanced by the DIP
Lenders in their cross-motion and factum or any other legal theory. The DIP Lenders

seek to void or set aside the Transactions as:

(a) preferences under section 95 of the BIA; or

(b) void transactions under section 2 of Ontario’s Fraudulent Conveyances

Act and section 3 of Alberta’s Fraudulent Preferences Act (Alberta).*’

42,  The DIP Lenders must, in order to successfully impeach the Transactions under

any of these provisions, prove the following essential elements:

(a) that the Cash Store was insolvent at the time of the Transactions; and

(b) that the Transactions were made with the intention to prefer or that the
Transactions were made outside the ordinary course of business of the Cash

Store and for inadequate consideration.

STBIA, ss 95, 96; Fraudulent Conveyances Act, RSO 1990, ¢ F.29 [FCA] s. 2; Fraudulent Preferences Act, RSA
2000, c F-24 [FPA] ss. 2, 3.
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43, The DIP Lenders have not proven any of these elements.

C. DIP Lenders have Failed to Establish the Statutory Requirements for a
Preference

44.  Under section 95 of the BIA, a trustee in bankruptcy (or a monitor in a CCAA) is
empowered to attack certain payments, transfers of property or provision of services
before the initial bankruptey event with the intent of preferring one arms’ length creditor

(or multiple creditors) over others.

45. A pre-CCAA-filing transaction with an arm’s length creditor is void under

section 95 if three conditions are met:
(a) The transaction was made within the prescribed period;
(b) The debtor was insolvent on the date of the impugned transaction; and
(c) The debtor intended to prefer one creditor over another.*®

46.  For arm’s length creditors, the prescribed period is three months before the date
of the initial bankruptcy event. For non-arm’s length creditors, the prescribed period is

one year before the date of the initial bankruptcy event.

47.  The BIA provides that test for determining whether non-related parties are

dealing at arm’s length is whether the “transaction at arm's length could be considered to

8 Keith G Collins Lid v Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 2011 MBCA 41 at para 19, 268 Man R (2d) 30; Book
of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 9. Touche Ross Ltd v Weldwood of Canada Sales Ltd, 48 CBR (NS) 83 at paras 3- 7,
1983 CarswellOnt 214 (SC) [Touche Ross]; Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 10.
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be a transaction between persons between whom there are no bonds of dependence,
control or influence, in the sense that neither of the two co-contracting parties has
available any moral or psychological leverage sufficient to diminish or possibly
influence the free decision-making of the other”.*’Notwithstanding a vague reservation
of rights in their Factum, the DIP Lenders have not seriously suggested, nor have they
provided any evidence to establish, that any of the TPLs did not operate at arm’s length

from the Cash Store.

48.  There is no evidence that cither the Cash Store or Trimor have any moral or
psychological leverage over one another that would diminish or possibly influence the
free decision-making of the other. The DIP Lenders have not shown that the Cash Store

and Trimor do not deal at arm’s length. Therefore that three month period applies.

49.  Section 2 of the FCA requires the DIP Lenders to prove intent to “defeat, hinder,
delay or defraud” creditors. For conveyances made for good consideration, the DIP
Lenders must prove the fraudulent intent of both parties to the transaction. For voluntary
conveyances, the DIP Lenders need to prove the fraudulent intent of the maker of the

conveyance.40

50. In Alberta, the FPA sets out rules which are substantially similar to those in
Ontario. Under section 3 of the FPA, a transaction is void if, within one year of the

impugned transaction, an action is commenced to set it aside, the debtor company was

3 BIA, s. 4(4); Abou-Rached, Re 2002 BCSC 1022 at para 46; Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 11.
40
FCA, s. 2.
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in insolvent circumstances or unable to pay debts in full or was on the eve of insolvency,
and the transaction had the effect of giving a creditor a preference. Section 3 provides as

follows:

[3 Subject to sections 6 to 9, every gift, conveyance, assignment, transfer, delivery over or
payment of goods, chattels or effects or of bills, bonds, notes or securities or of shares,
dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any other
property, real or personal, made

(a) by a person at a time when the person is in insolvent circumstances or is unable to
pay the person’s debts in full or knows that the person is on the eve of insolvency,
and

(b) to or for a creditor and having the effect of giving that creditor a preference over
the other creditors of the debtor or over any one or more of them,

is, in and with respect to any action that within one year after the transaction is brought to
impeach or set aside the transaction, void as against the creditor or creditors inj ured,
delayed, prejudiced or postponed.

51,  While an intention to prefer need not be shown under section 3 of the FPA if the
impugned transaction has preferential effect, bona fides transactions are protected from

the ambit of the FPA at s. 6, which provides:

6 Nothing in sections 1 to 5 applies to

” (a) abona fide sale or payment made in the ordinary course of trade or calling to
innocent purchasers or parties, or

(b) apayment of money to a creditor, or a bona fide conveyance, assignment, transfer
or delivery over of any goods, securities or property, of any kind as above
mentioned, that is made in consideration of a present actual bona fide sale or
delivery of goods or other property or of a present actual bona fide payment in
money, or by way of security for a present actual bona fide advance of money,

if the money paid or the goods or other property sold or delivered bear a fair and reasonable
relative value to the consideration for it.

52.  As described in greater detail below, all of the Transactions were in the ordinary

course of business.
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il. No Evidence of Insolvency

53.  All of the statutory provisions pursuant to which the DIP Lenders ask the court to
set aside the Transactions require the DIP Lender’s to prove that the Cash Store was

insolvent at the time the Transactions took place.

54, A party seeking to have a transaction set aside on the basis that it constitutes a
preference has the burden of proving that the debtor was in fact insolvent at the time of

the impugned transaction. The court is not to presume insolvency.*!

55.  Pursuant to s. 2 of the BIA, “insolvent person” means

a person who is not bankrupt and who resides, carries on business or has property in Canada,
whose liabilities to creditors provable as claims under this Act amount to one thousand dollars,
and
(a) who is for any reason unable to meet his obligations as they generally become due,
(b) who has ceased paying his current obligations in the ordinary course of business as they
generally become due, or
(c) the aggregate of whose property is not, at a fair valuation, sufficient, or, if disposed of at
a fairly conducted sale under legal process, would not be sufficient to enable payment of all

his obligations, due and accruing due;

56.  In a recent decision of the Ontario Superior Court, it was held that despite the
fact that the plaintiff was in default of their mortgage (failed to make payments for 13

months), they were not insolvent under the BIA.

57.  An application under section 248 must be made by an insolvent person. The onus

of proving insolvency is on the applicant, on a balance of probabilities. The definition of

4 Keith G. Collins Ltd. v. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 2011 MBCA 41 at para. 20; Book of Authorities of
Trimor, Tab 9.
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an "insolvent person" is found in section 2 of the BIA. Having regard to that definition,
although I am satisfied the Plaintiff is not bankrupt, carries on business in Canada, and
has liabilities in excess of $1,000, there has been no evidence led upon which I couid
find it is unable to meet its obligations in the ordinary course of business, has ceased
paying its current obligations in the ordinary course of business as they generally
become due, or that the aggregate of its property is not, at a fair valuation, sufficient, if
disposed of at a fairly conducted sale under legal process, to enable payment of all its

obligations.*

58.  The DIP Lenders have not produced any evidence to show that the Cash Store
was insolvent as of September 2013 or any time prior to April 14, 2014. They have not
shown that the Cash Store was unable to meet its obligations generally as they became
due or that the Cash Store had ceased meeting its obligations in the ordinary course of

business.

59.  The DIP Lenders have also not proven that, as at September 2013, the aggregate
of the Cash Store’s property if disposed of at a fairly conducted sale under legal process,
would not be sufficient to enable payment of all his obligations, due and accruing due.
Simply referring to the book value of the assets and liabilities as stated on Cash Store’s
balance sheet is not enough to meet the burden. In King Petroleum Lid., Re, 29 C.B.R.

(N.S.) 76, the Ontario Superior Court noted as follows:

11 To consider the question of insolvency under cl. (¢) I must look to the
aggregate property of the company and come to a conclusion as to whether or not

42917488 Ontario Inc. v. Sam Mortgages Ltd, 2013 ONSC 2212 at para. 38.
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it would be sufficient to enable payment of all obligations due and accruing due.
There are two tests to be applied: first, its fair value and, secondly, its value if
disposed of at a fairly conducted sale under legal process. The balance sheet is
the starting point, but the evidence relating to the fair value of the assets and
what they might realize if disposed of at a fairly conducted sale under legal
process must be reviewed in interpreting it.

iii. The Transactions occurred in the ordinary course of business of the
Cash Store

60.  All of the statutory provisions relied on by the DIP Lenders, with the exception
of section 3 of the FPA require the DIP Lenders to show that the Cash Store intended to
prefer the TPLs. However, section 3 of the FPA presumes a preference has occurred if
the impugned transaction has the effect of preferring a creditor but transactions made in
the ordinary course of the business of the debtors or payments given by the debtor in
exchange for a benefit are exempted from the application of section 3 and the other

avoidance provisions in the FPA.

61.  The debtor’s intention and ordinary course of business are related concepts. If a
transaction occurred in the ordinary course of the debtor’s business or payment or
transfer given in exchange for present consideration the presumption of intention that

such transaction, payment or transfer constituted a preference is rebutted.**

62.  The fact is that the Transactions occurred in the ordinary course of business of
the Cash Store in accordance with the Broker Agreements entered into by the Cash Store

outside the review periods prescribed by the various statutes with the full knowledge of

# King Petroleum Ltd., Re, 29 C.B.R. (N.S.) 76 at para. 11; Trimor Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 12.

4 St. Anne-Nackawic Pulp Co. (Trustee of) v. Logistec Stevedoring (Atlantic) Inc., 2005 NBCA 55 at para 13; Trimor
Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 17; L.W. Houlden and Geoffiey B. Morawetz, Houlden and Morawetz Bankrupicy
and Insolvency Analysis, Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act Part IV (ss. 67-101.2), F§210 — Rebutting The
Presumption; Trimor Book of Authorities, Tab 18.
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the secured creditors and bondholders. Further the transfers of loan receivables were
made for valuable consideration to encourage the TPLs to continue to make their funds
available to the Cash Store, again with the knowledge of the secured creditors and

bondholders.

63.  Intention requires an objective assessment of the debtor’s intention at the time of
the transaction. Justice Bastin furnished the quintessential statement of this test in Re

Holt Motors Lid.:¥

The test which I consider should be applied is an objective and not a subjective
one, that is to say, the intention which should be attributed to the parties will
always be that which their conduct bears a reasonably construed and not that
which, long after the event, they claim they believe was present in their minds.

64. In the present case, as in the Holt Motors case, the intention which should be
attributed to the Cash Store is that which their conduct reasonably bears. The evidentiary
record makes clear that the Cash Store did not intend to prefer Trimor through the
Transactions. The Transactions were made in accordance with the Broker Agreements
and the established practices between the Trimor and the Cash Store, both of which the
DIP Lenders (qua DIP Lenders, pre-filing lienholders, and pre-filing bondholders) were

well aware of.

65.  Payments in the ordinary course of business are usually made so that the debtor
company can take advantage of favourable payment terms or to secure a continued

supply of goods or services so that the debtor company can continue in business. In such

45 Re Holt Motors Ltd (1966), 57 DLR (2d) 180 at para 8, 56 WWR 182 (Man QB) [Holt Motors]; Book of Authorities
of Trimor, Tab 13. Thorne Riddell v Fleishman, 47 CBR (NS) 233 at para 26, 1983 CarswellOnt 201 (Sup Ct); Book
of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 14.
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circumstances, the debtor company’s expectation that the transaction would permit it to
remain in business and buy some time to extricate itself from its financial difficulties

will strongly militate against finding an intent to prefer.,*°

66.  In the present case, the Transactions bear none of the badges of fraud which the
courts will often look at in reviewable transaction cases where there is often no direct
evidence of intent. The Cash Store’s secured creditors had notice of the business
arrangements between Cash Store and Trimor, including the fact that Trimor retained
ownership of the Trimor Loans and proceeds of the Trimor Loans. The secured creditors
did not therefore suffer any prejudice. Rather, they benefitted from the risks of lending
into a structure in which these TPL arrangements were in place. The Cash Store received
the benefit of the broker fees earned on loans brokered to Customers with TPL monies,
which were in turn used to make interest payments to Cash Store’s secured creditors.
The secured lenders cannot now seek to confiscate the Trimor Loans and the proceeds of
the Trimor Loans simply because the inherent risks in their investments materialized into

real losses.

67.  As set out above, the evidence of the TPLs is that they are, and have always
been, the sole legal and beneficial owners of the TPL property. The Cash Store did not

transfer their property to the TPLs.

4 Re AR Colquhoun & Son Ltd, [1937] WWR 222, 18 CBR 124 (SaskKB); Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 15. Re
Norris (1994), 23 Alta LR (3d) 397 at para 7, 28 CBR (3d) 167 (QB), rev’d on other grounds (1996), 45 Alta LR (3d)
1., 193 AR 15 (CA); Book of Authorities of Trimor, Tab 16.
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68. In their factum, the DIP Lenders allege that even Transactions entered into after
the Initial Order was made constitute preferences under the BIA and/or voidable
transactions under the FPA and FCA. In addition to the points made above, those
transactions were entered into by the Applicants under the management of the CRO and
the supervision of the Monitor and as expressly contemplated in the Initial Order and the
Additional TPL Protection Order made in these proceedings. The DIP Lenders had
notice of and consented to both of those orders. For the DIP Lenders to now argue that

such transactions are improper is telling.

PART IV - ORDER REQUESTED

69.  Trimor respectfully requests that the relief sought by the DIP Lender in the cross-

motion be dismissed with costs.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 5" day of June, 2014,

s o

Brett Harrison and Adam Maerov
McMillan LLP

Lawyer for Trimor Annuity Focus Limited
Partnership #5
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SCHEDULE “B”
RELEVANT STATUTES

Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. B-3
S.2: “insolvent person”

a person who is not bankrupt and who resides, carries on business or has property in
Canada, whose liabilities to creditors provable as claims under this Act amount to one
thousand dollars, and

(a) who is for any reason unable to meet his obligations as they generally become due,

(b) who has ceased paying his current obligations in the ordinary course of business as
they generally become due, or

(c) the aggregate of whose property is not, at a fair valuation, sufficient, or, if disposed
of at a fairly conducted sale under legal process, would not be sufficient to enable
payment of all his obligations, due and accruing due;

S. 4(4):
Question of fact

(4) It is a question of fact whether persons not related to one another were at a particular
time dealing with each other at arm’s length.

Preferences

95. (1) A transfer of property made, a provision of services made, a charge on property
made, a payment made, an obligation incurred or a judicial proceeding taken or suffered
by an insolvent person

(a) in favour of a creditor who is dealing at arm’s length with the insolvent person, or a
person in trust for that creditor, with a view to giving that creditor a preference over
another creditor is void as against — or, in Quebec, may not be set up against — the
trustee if it is made, incurred, taken or suffered, as the case may be, during the period
beginning on the day that is three months before the date of the initial bankruptcy event
and ending on the date of the bankruptcy; and

(b) in favour of a creditor who is not dealing at arm’s length with the insolvent person,
or a person in trust for that creditor, that has the effect of giving that creditor a
preference over another creditor is void as against — or, in Quebec, may not be set up
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against — the trustee if it is made, incurred, taken or suffered, as the case may be, during
the period beginning on the day that is 12 months before the date of the initial
bankruptcy event and ending on the date of the bankruptcy.

Transfer at undervalue

96. (1) On application by the trustee, a court may declare that a transfer at
undervalue is void as against, or, in Quebec, may not be set up against, the trustee — or
order that a party to the transfer or any other person who is privy to the transfer, or all of
those persons, pay to the estate the difference between the value of the consideration
received by the debtor and the value of the consideration given by the debtor — if

a. the party was dealing at arm’s length with the debtor and

i. the transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that
is one year before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and that
ends on the date of the bankruptcy,

ii. the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or was
rendered insolvent by it, and

iii. the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor; or
b. the party was not dealing at arm’s length with the debtor and

i. the transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that
is one year before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and ends
on the date of the bankruptcy, or

ii. the transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that
is five years before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and
ends on the day before the day on which the period referred to in
subparagraph (i) begins and

(A) the debtor was insolvent at the time of
the transfer or was rendered insolvent by it,
or

(B) the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or
delay a creditor.

Fraudulent Conveyances Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. F.29
Where conveyances void as against creditors
2. Every conveyance of real property or personal property and every bond, suit,

judgment and execution heretofore or hereafter made with intent to defeat, hinder, delay
or defraud creditors or others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts,
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damages, penalties or forfeitures are void as against such persons and their assigns.
R.S.0. 1990, c. F.29, s. 2.

Fraudulent Preferences Act, RSA 2000, ¢ F-24
Preferential effect

3 Subject to sections 6 to 9, every gift, conveyance, assignment, transfer, delivery over
or payment of goods, chattels or effects or of bills, bonds, notes or securities or of
shares, dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any
other property, real or personal, made

(a)by a person at a time when the person is in insolvent circumstances or is
unable to pay the person’s debts in full or knows that the person is on the eve of
insolvency, and

(b)to or for a creditor and having the effect of giving that creditor a preference
over the other creditors of the debtor or over any one or more of them,

is, in and with respect to any action that within one year after the transaction is brought
to impeach or set aside the transaction, void as against the creditor or creditors injured,
delayed, prejudiced or postponed.

6 Nothing in sections 1 to 5 applies to

(a) a bona fide sale or payment made in the ordinary course of trade or
calling to innocent purchasers or parties, or

(b) a payment of money to a creditor, or a bona fide conveyance,
assignment, transfer or delivery over of any goods, securities or property,
of any kind as above mentioned, that is made in consideration of a present
actual bona fide sale or delivery of goods or other property or of a present
actual bona fide payment in money, or by way of security for a present
actual bona fide advance of money,

if the money paid or the goods or other property sold or delivered bear a fair and
reasonable relative value to the consideration for it.
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Court File No. CV-14-10518-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
THE CASH STORE FINANCIAL SERVICES INC., THE CASH STORE INC., TCS
CASH STORE INC., INSTALOANS INC., 7252331 CANADA INC., 5515433
MANITOBA INC., 1693926 ALBERTA LTD. DOING BUSINESS AS "THE TITLE
STORE"

APPLICANTS

FACTUM OF THE MOVING PARTY,
0678786 B.C. LTD. FORMERLY THE MCCANN FAMILY
HOLDING CORPORATION)
(returnable June 11, 2014)

1.

L OVERVIEW

The moving parties, responding parties by cross-motion, are third-party lenders ("TPLs")

which entrusted millions of dollars to the Applicants for the sole purpose of brokering loans

between the TPLs and borrowers. At all times, the TPLs retained ownership of their funds and all

of the loans ultimately brokered with those funds or otherwise purchased by or assigned to the

TPLs. They also own any accounts receivable in respect of their loans and any amounts actually

received by the Applicants from their customers in repayment of the loans. This arrangement

was memorialized in written broker agreements.
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2. 0678786 B.C. Ltd., formerly the McCann Family Holding Corporation ("McCann"), is a
TPL. McCann made approximately $13,350,000 available to the Applicants tnder a broker
agreement that expressly provided that McCann bwned its funds, the loans and any receivables.
In this motion, McCann requests a declaration that, among other things, McCann is the sole legal
and beneficial owner of these funds, loans and receivables, as reflected in its broker agreement,
before its property vanishes liké the nﬁillions of dollars in cash and other assets that the TPLs

entrusted to the Applicants.

3. Now, after the Applicants obtained an initial order under the CCAA, the DIP lenders
wish to re-write history. In their cross-motion, the DIP lenders ask this Court to declare that
McCann's property belongs to the Applicants, effectively locking McCann's property into a
business which is taking no steps to collect on outstanding McCann 1oans, has huge realization

costs and cannot reasonably be expected to maximize recoveries.

4. The DIP lenders do not articulate any plausible legal theory in support of their request.
Rather, they simply insist in the face of overwhelming evidence to the contrary that the TPLs are
mere unsecured creditors. This cross-motion is a transparent effort to appropriate assets to which

they have no entiflement to secure repayment of their DIP loans.

5. The DIP lenders also attack ordinary-course transactions between the Applicants and the
TPLs. This issue, however, is not properly before this Court. The right to impugn a transaction as
a preference or transfer at undervalue belongs to the Monitor, and the Monitor has not challenged
any of the transactions in question. Further, the period for reviewing transactions as possible
preferences has lapsed. In any event, the evidence makes clear that the impugned transactions do

not constitute preferences or transfers at undervalue. Rather, the TPL property is, and has always
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been understood and intended to be, the property of the TPLs. These transactions were not
intended to prefer, defraud or otherwise hinder the Applicants' other creditors, and the TPLs did
not knowingly participate in any fraudulent scheme or preference. They were lending money to

borrowers through brokerage arrangements which had been publicly disclosed by the Applicants.

6. The time to determine McCann's entitlement to its property is now, before that property
loses any more of its value. Since the initial order in mid-April 2014, the TPLs have watched

their loans and cash advanced to the Applicants plummet from a stated value of approximately

$42 million to significantly less than half of that value.

7. If the ownership issue is not determined now and McCann is not permitted to mitigate its
losses by using other means to collect its outstanding loans, McCann is extremely concerned that
what little value its loans still possess will evaporate into a cloud of bad debts and fees. For these
and other reasons, McCann respectfully requests that it be allowed to realize on its property. It
also respectfully requests that the Applicants be required to pay McCann's legal and other
professional fees to create a more even and fair playing field in what has essentially become a

priority dispute over the TPL loans.
1. FACTS

A, Relevant Parties
8. MecCann is a British Columbia corporation extra-provincially registered in Alberta.

Affidavit of Sharon Fawecett, sworn April 11, 2014 (the "April 11 Fawcett
Affidavit") at para 2, Exhibit 1 to the Affidavit of Sharon Fawcett, sworn April
22,2014 (the "April 22 Fawecett Affidavit"), Application Record of 0678786 BC
Ltd (the "McCann Application Record"), Tab 2, p 11.
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9. The applicant The Cash Store Financial Services Inc. ("Cash Store Financial") is an
Alberta corporation publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The applicant The Cash
Store Inc. ("Cash Store" and, together with Cash Store Financial and the other applicants, the
"Applicants") is an Alberta corporation and a subsidiary of Cash Store Financial. Both Cash
Store Financial and Cash Store were initially established in Edmonton, Alberta. They continue to

have their head offices there.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 3, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCamn Application Record, Tab 2, p 12.

Transcript of the Cross-Examination of Steven Carlstrom dated April 22, 2014
(the "Carlstrom Cross") at Qs 31-32, Brief of Transcripts of the Respondent
0678786 BC Lid (the "Brief of Transcripts"), Tab 1, p 10.

10,  Cash Store and Cash Store Financial appear to have the same officers, and they present
financial statements on a consolidated basis. McCann does not know whether any separation is
maintained between these corporations. However, McCann has always dealt with Cash Store

Financial and its officers, and all correspondence has been from this entity.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 4, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
MeCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 12.

11.  All ofthe Applicants are direct or indirect subsidiaries of Cash Store Financial.
Affidavit of Steven Carlstrom sworn April 14, 2014 (the "Carlstrom Affidavit")
at para 11, Application Record of the Applicants (the "Application Record"),
Tab 2,p 55.

12.  The moving parties by cross-motion are the lenders under the Applicants' Amended and
Restated Debtor-in-Possession Term Sheet dated May 16, 2014 (collectively, the "DIP

Lenders").
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B. Broker Agreement

13. On or around June 19, 2012, McCann and Cash Store executed a Broker Agreement (the
"Broker Agreement") under which McCann, as Financier, made $13,350,000 in funds available
(the "McCann Funds") to Cash Store, as Broker, for the sole purpose of Cash Store brokering

loans (the "Mec¢Cann Loans") between McCann and Cash Store's customers (the "Customers").

Broker Agreement, Exhibit H to the Carlstrom Affidavit, Application Record, p
508.

14. Before the McCann Funds could be loaned out, Cash Store was required to ensure that
extensive loan criteria were met or to obtain specific approval from McCann. Further, the
McCann Funds were to be used for no other purpose. This requirement was set out in article 2.10

of the Broker Agreement:

2.10 USAGE OF LOAN ADVANCES

For greater certainty, funds from time to time advanced to Broker from Financier
are solely intended to be utilized for the purposes of making advances to Broker
Customers on Financier's behalf as contémplated hereunder. Broker agrees that any
funds not otherwise being held by the Broker as a "float" in anticipation of Loan
approvals shall not, without the consent of Financier, be advanced or utilized for any
other purpose. '

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 6, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 12.

Broker Agreement, art 2.10, Exhibit H to the Carlstrom Affidavit, Application
Record, p 508.

15.  In discussions leading up to the Broker Agreement's execution and while Cash Store
Financial was administering the McCann Funds on McCann's behalf, it was expressed to be
important to McCann that its funds be kept separate and apart from Cash Store Financial's
general operating funds in accordance with the Broker Agreement. Cash Store Financial assured

McCann that the McCann Funds were—and would continue to be—segregated at all times,
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April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 7, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 13.

16.  In fact, Cash Store Financial represented to McCann, and it was a term of the Broker
Agreement, that all of the McCann Funds would be placed in a "Designated Broker Bank
Account", which would be separate and apatt from Cash Store Financial's general operating

account.

April 22 Fawcett Affidavit at para 3 and Exhibit 2, McCann Application Record,
Tab2,pp 7, 18.

17. At all times, the understanding was that Cash Store would act as a broker by arranging
for loans between TPLs such as McCann and the Customers. Over the course of this arrangement

and at all material times, it was understood that McCann owned both the McCann Funds and the

‘McCann Loans and that its accounts would be administered on a segrégated basis from Cash

Store's funds and be pooled safely with other "broker only" monies.

Affidavit of Murray McCann sworn April 22, 2014 (the "McCann Affidavit") at
para 4, McCann Application Record, Tab 1,p 1.

Carlstrom Cross at Qs 110-120, 139-143, 222-232, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 1,
pb 26-29, 33-35, 51-54.

Email exchange confirming Designated Broker Bank Account, Exhibit 2 to the
April 22 Fawcett Affidavit, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 18.

18.  Cash Store's former CEO, Gordon Reykdal, confirmed in discussions with Murtay
McCann, McCann's former president, that Cash Store was acting as a trustee of the McCann
Funds, the McCann Funds would always be administered as monies held in trust, and Cash Store
would not comingle the McCann Funds with monies in Cash Store's general operating account or

otherwise. None of this was disclosed in the Carlstrom Affidavit.

McCann Affidavit at para 5, McCann Application Record, Tab 1, p 2.
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19.  McCann received numerous account statements from Cash Store. The "funding excess /
deficiency" on these account statements provided a summary of the McCann Loans. When the
McCann Funds exceeded the amount deployed as loans to Customers, Cash Store described the
undeployed monies as the "funding excess / deficiency”. At all times, McCann understood this
amount to be held separate and apart from Cash Store's other accounts in accordance with the
Broker Agreement and McCann's instructions. Cash Store Financial's public disclosure always
showed the M¢Cann Funds as McCann's property, not the property of Cash Store or Cash Store

Financial.

McCann Affidavit at para 7, MoCann Application Record, Tab 1, p 2.

20. In February 2014, after learning of the difficulties Cash Store had encountered in its
Ontario operations, McCann requested an updated listing of its loan portfolio. It also advised Mr.
Carlstrom that, given the suspension of the line of credit product in Ontario, McCann would
prefer to reduce its loan portfolio balance as at February 12, 2014. Further, it advised Mr.
Carlstrom that McCann's property should be returned as amounts were collected by Cash Store,

along with the unexpended capital balance of the McCann Funds.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 9, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 13.

21. By returning the undeployed McCamn Funds to McCann, Cash Store would avoid
incurring interest and other costs in connection with holding funds that were neither its property
nor generating interest or fees. This repayment arranigement was struck by Mr. MoCann and Mr.
Reykdal, and it was confirmed in writing on February 26, 2014. However, the McCann Funds

were not repaid to McCann as agreed or at all.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 9, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 13.
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22.  As recently as mid-March 2014, Carlstrom assured McCann that undeployed portions of
the McCann Funds were secure and remained available to McCann and that Cash Store was
administering McCann's property in accordance with the Broker Agreement. During this period,
Mr. Reykdal continued to assure Mr. McCann that the McCann Funds were segregated and safe.
Mr. Reykdal reiterated this representation to Mr. McCann on March 24, 2014. In addition to
representing that the McCann Funds were safe and properly segregated, Mr. Reykdal represented
that the only reason McCann was not being repaid was instructions from the Special Committee.

None of this was disclosed in the Carlstrom Affidavit.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at paras 12-13, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawceit
Affidavit, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 14.

McCann Affidavit at paras 9-10, McCarin Application Record, Tab 1, pp 2-3.

23. Based on all of the above, Carlstrom's assertion that McCann only belatedly sought
segregation of its funds is simply incorrect. In fact, McCann sought and received assurances that
the McCann Funds would be segregated from Cash Store's own funds. And it has always
understood and been advised that the McCann Funds and the McCann Loans, as McCann's
property, were trust monies provided to Cash Store as broker to be used for the sole purpose of,

and in the manner stipulated in, the Broker Agreement.

McCann Affidavit at para 18, McCann Application Record, Tab 1, p 4.

C. The Applicants Induce McCann to Make the McCann Funds Available

24.  Under the Broker Agreement, McCann owned loans made in the name of TPLs which
were brokered by Cash Store on behalf of the Customers using funds made available by McCann
for that purpose. McCann also owned advances originated by Cash Store and subsequently

purchased with the McCann Funds and certain loans and advances originated by Cash Store and
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subsequently assigned to McCann as capital protection or otherwise. McCann was entitled to

receive a stated rate of 59 per cent interest under these loans from the Customers.

Transcript of the Cross-Examination of Sharon Fawcett dated May 21, 2014 (the
"Faweett Cross") at Q 131, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 2, p 34.

Transcript of the Cross-Examination of J. Murray McCann dated May 21, 2014
(the "McCann Cross") at Qs 40-41, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 3, p 11.

25. By their nature, the McCann Loans were risky. Accordingly, Cash Store historically
made inducement payments to TPLs—referred to by Cash Store as "retention payments"—to
induqe TPLs to continue to make their funds available to Cash Store which, in turn, enabled Cash
Store to éarn broker fees. In other words, these payments were intended to ensure that the TPLs

were receiving a return commensurate with the considerable risk they were assuming.

Fawcett Cross at Qs 131-132, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 2, p 34.

26.  Cash Store made these inducement payments in the ordinary course on a monthly basis.

Absent these payments, McCann would have elected to withdraw the McCann Funds, as was its

right under the Broker Agreement.

. Fawcett Cross at Q 131, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 2, p 34.

D. The Applicants Misappropriate McCann's Property

27.  Until March 2014, McCann received monthly statements indicating the cash that McCann
had made available fo Cash Store and the amount that was deployed in loans to Customers. The
statement from February 2014 shows that $6,449,420 in undeployed cash remained available to
MecCann as at February 28, 2014. Subsequently, McCann was advised that a further $831,000
had been collected on McCann's third-party loan portfolid between March 1 and March 16, 2014.

This increased McCann's undeployed cash balance to $7,280,420. Between March 17, 2014, and
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the present, further collection would have occurred increasing McCann's undeployed cash

balance accordingly.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 10, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett
Affidavit, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 14.

28.  In the Carlstrom Affidavit, Carlstrom acknowledged that so-called "Restricted Cash" in
Cash Store's bank account—that is, cash belonging to the TPLs—totaled $12,961,000 as at
February 28, 2014. However, by close-of-business on April 11, 2014, this amount had dwindled

to approximately $2.9 million.

Carlstrom Affidavit at paras 48, 156, Application Record, pp 69, 106.

29. Carlstrom did not disclose in his affidavit that, in breach of the Broker Agreement and
without the knowledge or consent of McCann and contrary to the multiple representations made
to McCann, Cash Store had misappropriated the TPL$' monies and spent them on the Applicants'
operating and professional costs leading up to the CCAA filing. This misappropriation was not
disclosed to this Court in the evidencevﬁled in support of the Initial Order and in support of the

Amended and Restated Initial Order.

30.  When the Applicants sought the Initial Order and the Amended and Restated Initial
Order, they did not disclose to this Court that Cash Store was in breach of the broker agreements

when théy sought permission to continue o make advances using funds provided by TPLs.

Carlstrom Affidavit at paras 76-86, Application Record, pp 78-83.

31. On cross-examination, Carlstrom admitted that, as at the end of March 2014 and up to the
date of the CCAA filing, Cash Store had used monies advanced by the TPLs for the sole purpose
of brokering loans to Customers for purposes not authorized by the TPLs. These purposes

included, among other things, the payment of salaries, outside lawyers, consultants, advisors and
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rent. Remarkably, Carlstrom estimated that approximately $10 million of the TPLs' monies had
been used for these unauthorized purposes. This fact had not been disclosed to this Court when it

isstied the Initial Order or the Amended and Restated Order in this proceeding.

Carlstrom Cross at Qs 258-273, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 1, pp 61-63.

32.  Moreover, and again undisclosed in the Carlstrom Affidavit, the Special Committee must
have made the decision to use the McCann Funds knowing that Cash Store and Cash Store
Financial were acting in breach of the Broker Agreement and that they had misrepresented that

McCann's monies had-been properly segregated.

April 22 Fawcett Affidavit at para 5, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 8.

33.  The Special Committee took steps to ensure that the owners of the TPL funds, including
the McCann Fundé, were not apprised of the misrepresentations to enable Cash Store and Cash
Store Financial to spend most of their funds. On or around March 31, 2014, the Special
Committee instructed management not to speak with Sharon Fawcett or Murray McCann.
Although a request was made on April 4, 2014, to allow PwC to inspect Cash Store's records on
behalf of McCann pursuant to its rights under the Broker Agreement, PwC was not allowed

access for inspection until after the Initial Order was obtained.

April 22 Faweett Affidavit at para 6, McCann Application Record, Tab 2,p 8.
MecCanh Affidavit at para 11, McCann Application Record, Tab 1, p 3.

34.  Digging into the numbers in the Carlstrom Affidavit and the Monitor's Pre-Filing Report
exposes the depth of the problem and the extent to which Cash Store Financial and Cash Store
have misappropriated the TPLs' funds. It is undisputed that Cash Store received approximately
$42 million of TPL monies to broker. Nevertheless, in the Monitor's Pre-Filing Report, the

Monitor reported that only $18.66 million of brokered loans were outstanding and that Cash

193




- 12 -

Store only had $2.94 million cash on hand. $18.66 million and $2.94 million equals $21.6

million. All or part of the remaining $20.4 million was misappropriated.

Carlstrom Affidavit at para 78, Application Record, p 79.

Monitor's Pre-Filing Report at para 28.
35. At paragraph 22 of the Monitor's Pre-Filing Report, the Monitor estimates that Cash
Store's so-called "Restricted Cash" totaled approximately $14.7 million as at March 31, 2014.
Given that actual cash on hand was only $2.94 million, this means that Cash Store Financial and
Cash Store misappropriated ét least $11.76 million—more than the $10 million estimated by

Carlstrom during his cross-exarination—of TPL monies to fund their operations and pay

professional and other expenses not authorized by the TPLs, in breach of the broker agreements

and their numerous representations that the TPLs' funds were safe, segregated and protected.

Monitor's Pre-Filing Report at para 22.

36.  The remaining shortfall in TPL funds is explained at paragraph 22 of the Monitor Pre-
Filing Report. At this paragraph, the Monitor states that there are amounts totaling approximately
$8.5 million in loans to Customers under the broker agreements that the company considers "bad
Joans" and that the Monitor indicates have been outstanding since at least 2012. These loans are
unlikely to be recovered, although they have not yet been written off. The fact that these losses
were booked to the third-party lenders evidences Cash Store's view that the loans are property of

the TPLs.

Monitor's Pre-Filing Report at para 22.
37.  As referenced in the Carlstrom Affidavit, Cash Store had a consistent pre-filing practice
of inducing the TPLs to continue to ‘advance capital by protecting the TPLs' capital through

either an expensing or purchasing mechanism that ultimately insulated the TPLs from "any
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losses arising from brokered loans that remain unpaid after 90 days". On cross-examination,
Carlstrom admitted that these two mechanisms were consistently applied to protect the capital of
TPLs and had been applied since he had been at the company. In other words, the réceivables
and losses belonged to and were bookéd to the TPLs, subject to safeguards designed to protect

the capital of the TPLs.

Carlstrom Affidavit at para 84(2), Application Record, p 32.

Carlstrom Cross at Qs 145-152, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 1, pp 35-37.

38,  Given that Cash Store admittedly always made the TPLs whole from losses on bad loans
that had remained unpaid after 90 days, they should have made the TPLs whole for the $8.5
million in "bad loans". Accordingly, this money ought to equally be added to the amount of
Restricted Cash set out in paragraph 22 of the Monitor's Pre-Filing Report providing a true
Restricted Cash Amount of $23.2 million (calculated by adding the $14.7 million reported by the
Monitor to the $8.5 million in bad loans that would have been protected by Cash Store according
to its own evidence). Given that there is only $2.94 million in cash on hand, Cash Store Financial

arid Cash Store actually misappropriated at least $20.26 of TPL monies.

39.  Had McCamn been notified earlier that its monies were being spent on Cash Store
Financial's general operations or to fund other unauthorized expenses, it would have immediately
attended at Court to protect its monies—as it ultimately did in the application it commenced in
Alberta on April 11, 2014, to restrain the use of its funds. In fact, McCann engaged counsel and
brought the application in Alberta as reéuired by the Broker Agreement within three days of
learning that Cash Store no longer regarded the McCann Funds as trust monies or segregated

brokerage funds.
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April 22 Fawcett Affidavit at paras 7-8, McCamn Application Record, Tab 2, pp
8-9.

McCann Affidavit at para 13, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 3.

E.  The May 13" Order Puts the TPLs at Further Risk

40.  Paragraph 7 of the Order of this Court dated May 13, 2014 (the "May 13™ Order"),
approved the cessation of the Applicants' brokered loan business in all jurisdictions in which
they operated that business. Also, the Chief Restructuring Officer (the "CRO"), in consultation

with the Monitor, was authorized to take steps to conduct an orderly cessation of that business.

41.  With recent legislative and policy changes which have negatively affected payday loan
businesses and the rates that they can charge (including in Ontario), it is highly doubtful that
Cash Store's operations will be as profitable as they once were or that a viable business is even
possible, let alone probable. The brokered line of credit product has been discontinued in Ontario
and no lending activity is currently occurring in Ontario due to issues regulatory compliance
issues. Further, Cash Store is currently not making any active efforts to collect outstanding TPL
loans in Ontario until after they mature 12 months after the loan was made, ostensibly to comply

with the Ontario regulator's position on this issue.

Affidavit of William E Aziz sworn May 9, 2014 at paras 26, 36, Exhibit B to the
Third Affidavit of William E Aziz, sworn May 15, 2014, Motion Record of the
Applicants, Tab 2, pp 9, 13.

42,  Not only did the TPLs not agree to allow their monies and receivables to be held and
used by an insolvent Cash Store, the May 13 Order puts the TPLs in even greater jeopardy as it
purports to create charges against the TPLs' property and treat it as if it is the Applicants'
property. Paragraph 6 of the May 13® Order provides that the TPL Charge is capped at $2.94

million and ranks third (parri passu with the DIP Lenders) after the Administrative Charge and
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the Directors' Charge (up to a maximum of $1,250,000). This increases the risk that the costs of
these proceedings will be paid out of the TPLs' remaining monies, after many millions of dollars
of TPL funds were already misappropriated by Cash Store for payment of costs not authorized

by the TPLs leading up to the CCAA filing.
III. ISSUES

43. On this motion and cross-motion, this Court is asked to confirm that McCann owns the
McCann Property and to permit McCann or its agents to assume administration of the McCann

Loans to maximize realizations in accordance with McCann's contractual rights.

44, This Court is also asked to dismiss the DIP Lenders' cross-motion for a declaration that '

the Applicants are the beneficial owners of the McCann Funds and the McCann Loans and that
transactions (oceurring in the ordinary course for legitimate business reasons) between McCann

and Cash Store constitute preferences under federal and provincial legislation.
IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT
A. Ownership of the McCann Property |
1L McCann Owns the McCann Property

45,  The DIP Lenders seek a declaration that the McCann Funds and the McCann Loans
(together with accounts receivable in respect of the McCann Loans and the amounts actually
received by Cash Store from its Customers in repayment of the MéCann Loans, the "McCann
Property") are beneficially owned by the Applibants. This transparent cash grab attempt by the

DIP Lenders must fail.
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46.  The Broker Agreement expressly recognizes that ownership of the McCann Property
remained with McCann at all times. This éwnership arrangement is corroborated by the
evidentiary record. In fact, Cash Store's own evidence, past statements, public filings and
conduct leave little doubt that the McCann Property belongs to M¢Cann. The DIP Lenders do not
offer a single compelling legal theorﬁz for their claim that the Applicants are the beneficial

owners of the McCann Property.

47.  McCann advanced the McCann Funds to Cash Store for a single purpose: the brokering
of loans to Customers. McCann always understood that the McCann Funds were segregated from
Cash Store's operating funds. This understanding was grounded in the Broker Agreement, and it
was reinforced by numerous representations by Cash Store and Cash Store Financial that the
McCann Funds would be maintained in a designated TPL account separate and apart from Cash

Store's operating funds.

Broker Agreement, art 2.10, Exhibit H to the Carlstrom Affidavit, Application
Record, p 508.

April 11 Fawcett Affidavit at para 6, Exhibit 1 to the April 22 Fawcett Affidavit,
McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 12.

Email exchange confirming Designated Broker Bank Account, Exhibit 2 to the
April 22 Fawcett Affidavit, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 18,

48.  Bven if the McCann Property has been comingled with Cash Store's operating funds in
breach of the Broker Agreement and without McCann's knowledge or consent, the McCann
Funds have always been accounted for separately. The McCann Funds were treated as
"Restricted Cash". The Applicantsf creditors could always discern the amount of the McCann

Funds that were deployed as loans to Customers or held as a float for future loans.

Email exchange confirming Designated Broker Bank Account, Exhibit 2 to the
April 22 Fawcett Affidavit, McCann Application Record, Tab 2, p 18.
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Carlstrom Affidavit at paras 46, 48, 49, 56, Application Record Tab 2, pp 69, 72.

49.  The DIP Lenders have always known the nature of the relationship between the
Applicants and the TPLs. They lent funds in CCAA proceedings with full knowledge that the
Applicants did not view the TPL loans as their property to which the DIP Lenders' charge could
attach. It does not lie in their mouths to now argue that the TPL funds and loans are the
Applicants' property and, thus, potentially subject to their security interests. Although this
applies to all secured‘ creditors of the Applicants, it applies a fortiori to the DIP Lenders which
are transparently seeking to appropriate assets to which they have no entitlement to secure

repayment of their DIP loans.

50. At all times, Cash Store was to broker the McCann Funds. For years, the Applicants'
secured creditors, inchiding the DIP Lenders in their respective capacities as holders of debt
under the Senior Credit Agreement and Senior Secured Notes, benefitted from the broker fees
paid by Customers on the McCann Loans. The DIP Lenders knew that these loans had been
made with the McCann Funds. They cannot complain when things go badly, and they should not

be permitted to benefit from Cash Store's breaches of the Broker Agreement.
2. Indicia of Ownership

51. By definition, a broker does not own the property in question but, rather, acts as an
intermediary or agent between prospective buyers and sellers. A broker is not entitled to
appropriate the property for its own. use, and it breaches its duties as a broker if it does so. Just as
an insolvent securities brokerage firm would not be entitled to use its clients’ property to finance
its restructuring or pay other creditors, the Applicants should not be permitted to use the McCann

Property to finance their restructuring or pay other creditors.
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Clarke v Baillie, [1911] 45 SCR 50 at paras 8§9-90, 1911 CarswellOnt 733.

52.  Parliament has specifically addressed this issue in the context of an insolvent securities
brokerage firm in Part XII of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (the "BIA™). This part of the
BIA provides that, other than "customer name securities" as defined in the BIA, all securities and
cash held by a bankrupt securities firm are to be pooled in a "customer pool fund" and distributed
among all customers of the firm on a pro rata basis. The customer pool fund is paid out before
any creditors of the brokerage firm are paid at all. This part of the BIA is instructive: it reflects
Parliament's clear intention to prevent brokerage firms from using their clients' property to
satisfy their debts and pay their creditors.

Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 19835, ¢ B-3, ss 253 (defn of "customer
name securities"), 261-262 [BIA].

53.  While Cash Store may not be a securities firm for the purposes of Part XII of the BIA, the
treatment of such brokerage busﬁesses and property held by them on behalf of third parties is
equally applicable. The property rights attending the broker-lender relationship between McCann
and Cash Store can also be understood by way of analogy to a true consignment of goods or a
true sale of receivables. In both instances, a secured creditor has no interest in the goods or
receivables consigned or sold. Equally, the DIP Lenders and other secured creditors have no

interest in the McCann Property in the present case.

54,  The leading Canadian case considering when the transfer of financial assets constitutes a
true sale or a loan is Metropolitan Toromnto Police Widows and Orphans Fund v. Telus
Communications Inc. ("BC Tel"). In this case, Justice Ground of this Court addressed whether an
assignment of trade receivablgs was a true sale or a financing. Although this Court in not asked

to do the same here, the indicia of ownership set out in BC Tel are instructive.
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Metropolitan  Toromto Police Widows and Orphans Fund v Telus
Communications Inc (2003), 30 BLR (3d) 288, 2003 CarswellOnt 168 (Sup Ct),
rev'd on other grounds (2005), 75 OR (3d) 784, 5 BLR (4th) 251 (CA), leave 1o
appeal to SCC refid [2005] SCCA No 379, 216 OAC 399 (note) ("BC Tel").

55.  In this case, Justice Ground concluded that the assignment of receivables had been a true

sale rather than a financing. In so concluding, Justice Ground considered six factors:

(a)

(b)

©)

(d)

®

Intention of the Parties — The intention of the parties as evidenced by the

language of the agreement andsubsequent conduct of the parties;

Ownership Risk and Recourse — ‘Whether the risks of ownership are transferred to

the purchaser and the extent and nature of recourse to the seller;

Right to Surplus — The right of the seller to surplus collections;
Determination of Price — Certainty of determination of the purchase price;
Identification of Assets — The extent to which the assets are identifiable; and

Collection of Receivables — Whether the seller has a right to redeem the

receivables on payment of a specified amount.

BC Tel at paras 40, 41, 51, 57, 61, 67.

56. By applying these indicia of ownership to the broker-lender relationship between

McCann and Cash Store, it becomes clear that McCann retained ownership of the McCann

Property at all times.

57.  In BC Tel, Justice Ground cautioned that courts must consider the intention of the parties

as expressed in the written contract but also as revealed by "the factual matrix or the
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circumstances existing at the-time the contract was entered into". Courts must consider the

substance of the transaction, not merely the form.

BC Tel at paras 38, 40.

58.  The Broker Agreement expressly limited the Applicants' permitted use of the McCann
Funds to the brokering of loans to Customers. It also anticipated the segregation of these funds
from the Applicants' other accounts. On cross-examination, Sharon Fawcett confirmed that
McCann always expected and understood that its funds would be segregated, which
understanding was reinforcéd by representations by the Applicants. The factual matrix of the
Broker Agreement thus underscores the clear intention of both parties to the Broker Agreement
that McCann would rétain ownership of the McCann Property at all times. This was a broketing

arrangement, not a financing,

Fawcett Cross at Qs 33, 37, 75, 80 Brief of Transeripts, Tab 2, p 10, 11-12, 22-
23, 23-24.

59.  Itis equally clear that McCann took the credit risk on the McCann Loans. It had so-called
"had loans" in its loan portfolio as evidenced by the Applicants' own records and account
statements. In BC Tel, Justice Ground noted: "In any true sale transaction, there must be a
transfer of ownership risk to the purchaser. In the case of the sale of accounts receivable, the risk
with regard to the non-payment of the receivable must pass to the purchaser subject to whatever
forms of recourse the purchaser may have against the vendor". Here, ownership risk was not

contractually transferred to the Applicants.

Carlstrom Affidavit at para 77, Application Record, Tab 2, p 78.

BC Tel atpara 41.
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60. BC Tel also stands for the proposition that the absence of a right to retain the surplus
from the collection of accounts receivable is not fatal to a determination that the transaction in

question was a true sale. McCann received the principal and interest paid on the McCann Loans.

BC Tel at para 56.

61.  Courts shquld consider all of the indicia of ownership set out in BC Tel. However,
whether the seller has a right of redemption is the "ultimate test" to determine if a transaction is a
true sale or a loan. Here, the Broker Agreement does not allow the Applicants tc; redeem the
McCann Loans. To the contrary, it grants McCann the right to take back its funds at any time on
120 days notice and to take over the administration of the McCann Loans on the termination of

the Broker Agreement.

BC Tel at para 67.

62.  Justice Ground found in BC Tel that the fact that a seller acts as the collection agent is not
inconsistent with interpreting a transaction as a true sale. As in BC Tel, the arrangement between
McCann and Cash Store involving the latter acting as the collection agent was simply "logical

and efficient” in the circumstances.

BC Tel atpara 66.

63.  Turning to the analogy of a true consignment, the supplier of the consigned goods in such .

a transaction retains legal title until those goods are sold and title passes directly from the
consignor to the ultimate purchaser. Similarly, the Broker Agreement between McCann and Cash
Store established a commercial and legal relationship pursuant to which McCann entered into a

direct debtor-creditor relationship with each Customer.
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64. In Access Cash International Inc. v. Elliot Lake and North Shore Corporation for

Business Development ("Access Cash"), this Court identified various indicia that courts should

consider in determining whether a transaction constitutes a consignment (which merely creates a -

security interest) or a true consignment (which involvés the supplier of the consigned goods
rétaining legal title to those goods until sold to the ultimate purchaser). The indicia indicating a
true consignment include the following:
. The goods are shown as an asset in the books and records of the supplier and are
not shown as an asset in the books and record of the merchant;

. It is apparent in the merchant's dealings with others that the goods belong to the
supplier rather than the merchant;

. Title of goods remains with the supplier;

. The supplier has the right to demand the return of the goods at any time;
. The merchant has the right to return unsold goods to the supplier;

J The merchant is required to segregate the supplier's goods from his own;

. The merchant is required to maintain separate books and records in respect of the
supplier's goods;

. The merchant is required to hold sale proceeds in trust for the supplier;

. The supplier has the right to stipulate a fixed price or a price floor for the goods;
and

0 The merchant has the right to inspect the goods and the premises in which they
are stored.

Access Cash International Inc v Elliot Lake & North Shore Corp for Business
Development (2000), 1 PPSAC (3d) 209 at para 21, 2000 CarswellOnt 2824
(Sup Ct).

65.  As with the indicia of ownership from BC Tel, the true consignment indicia identified in
Access Cash strongly militate for interpreting the Broker Agreement as creating a relationship

pursuant to which McCann retained ownership of the McCann Property at all material times.
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McCann has the contractual right to demand the return of the McCann Funds, and Cash Store
was required to hold the McCann Funds in a segregated account and to account for those funds
separately. Further, the loan documentation evidences a direct debtor-creditor relationship

between McCann and each Customer.

66. - For all of these reasons, McCann is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the McCann

Property and should be recognized as such by this Court.
3. McCann Should be Permitted to Realize on the McCann Loans

67.  Since the Applicants have initiated an "orderly cessation" of their brokering business,
they do not have any use—or any legitimate use—for the McCann Funds. Despite this fact, the
DIP Lenders insist that the Applicants are entitled to collect the McCann Loans in circumstances
in which the Applicants either cannot or will not make new loans available to Customers, in

contrast to other potential servicers.

68.  The Applicants admit that their inability to make new loans has "significantly impaired"
their ability to collect outstanding accounts receivable. This significant impairment will apply to
all jurisdictions in which the Applicants operated their brokering business, as confirmed in the

Monitor's Third Report.

Carlstrom Affidavit at para 101, Application Record, Tab 2,p 87.

69.  The Applicants are similarly unable to take all necessary steps to ensure that collections
on the McCann Loans are maximized. The May 13 Order approved the cessation of the
Applicants' brokered loan business in all jurisdictions in which it is currently carried out, and the

CRO has been authorized to take all steps to conduct an orderly cessation of that business. The
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brokered line of credit product has b?en discontinued in Ontario, and no lending activity is
currently occurring in Ontario due to issues regarding compliance with regulat(;ry requirements.
The CRO has stated that Cash Store's ability to collect on Ontario brokered loans "has been
curtailed" and that he can only take "reasonable steps to effect the receipt of outstanding
brokered loan receivables in a manner that preserves, to the extent possible, the value of the
[TPL] receivables". Cash Store is currently not making any active efforts to collect outstanding

TPL loans in Ontario until after they mature.

Affidavit of William E Aziz sworn May 9, 2014 at paras 26, 36, 38, Exhibit B to
the Third Affidavit of William B Aziz, sworn May 15, 2014, Motion Record of
the Applicants, Tab 2, pp 10, 13, 14.

70.  The CRO owes duties to numerous stakeholders. He is thus understandably concerned
with the costs and management resources necessary to préserve the value of the TPL loans,
including the McCann Loans. But his refusal or inability to take all necessary steps to ensure that
collections on the McCann Loans are maximized should not prejudice MéCann when McCann is

willing to take those steps.

71.  McCann owns the McCann loans. It is therefore prepared to invest the time and resources
necessary to maximize recoveries from those loans, which is in McCann's own interest. This will
assist the CRO and the Applicants by eliminating the cost and related inconvenience of
collecting the McCann Loans. If granted, the relief sought by McCann would relieve the
Applicants, the CRO and the Monitor of this burden, and it would allow them to focus on
restructuring those parts of the Applicants' business that the Applicants believe continue to be
viable. It will also allow McCann to take the steps that it deems necessary to facilitate the orderly
and efficient collection of, and to realize the maximum recovery from, the McCann Loans at

McCann's own expense.
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72.  Under the Broker Agreement, McCann has the right to take over the administration of the
McCann Loans. Unbelievably, the Applicants now seek to improperly retain the McCann Loans
and to force McCann to allow them to realize on them despite the fact that the Applicants can

neither maximize recoveries nor minimize costs.

73.  In Cliffs Over Maple Bay Investments Ltd. v. Fisgard Capital Corp. ("CIiffs"), Justice
Tysoe of the British Columbia Court of Appeal lucidly articulated the idea that, notwithstanding
the broad scope of the CCAA, there are circumstances in which granting a stay or continuation
of a stay will not be justified:
[TThe ability of the court to grant or continue a stay under s. 11 is not a free standing
remedy that the court may grant whenever an insolvent company wishes to undertake a
"restructuring”, a term with a broad meaning including such things as refinancing, capital
injections and asset sales and other downsizing. Rather, s. 11 is ancillary to the

fundamental purpose of the CCAA, and a stay of proceedings freezing the rights of
creditors should only be granted in furtherance of the CCAA's fundamental purpose.

Cliffs Over Maple Bay Investments Ltd v Fisgard Capital Corp, 2008 BCCA
327 atpara 26, 296 DLR (4th) 577.

74,  In essence, the Applicants seek this Court's assistance to terminate the Broker Agreement
and, at the same time, to block McCann from mitigating its damages by assuming administration
of the McCann Loans, as is McCann's right pursuant to the Broker Agreement. The CCAA was
not intended to accommodate conduct of this kind. The Court ought not to extend the CCAA stay

to McCann's prejudice in these circumstances.

75.  Recently, Cliffs was cited with approval by Justice Brown of the Ontario Superior Court
of Justice in Romspen Investment Corporation v. 6711162 Canada Inc. In this decision, Justice

Brown faced competing applications by, on the one hand, the secured creditors for the
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appointment of a receiver and, on the other hand, the debtor company for an initial CCAA order.

Tustice Brown noted as follows:

At a high level, a certain unfairess characterizes the plan of the CCAA Applicants. Under
their plan, they would see the development of the Midland Condo Project to its end and use
the unit sales proceeds to pay off Romspen in full and, evidently, to pay most of the amounts
sought by the lien claimants. They would then develop out the other secured properties to
propose a plan to the other unsecured creditors, but according to Soorty most of the
unsecured debt consists of shareholders loans from Cocov and himself. Reduced to its
essence, the plan seems to bé no more than asking the court to impose on Romspen an
extension of the term of the Loan beyond its 2-year term and to allow management to
continue operating as they have in the past. In other words, the CCAA Applicants do not
propose the compromise of debt or the liquidation of part of their businesses — they want to
carry on just as they have in the past.

I accept the evidence of Romspen about the unfairness of such an approach. Romspen stated
that it had “absolutely no confidence” in the ability of Soorty and Cocov to manage the
affairs of the CCAA Applicants during any stay périod, pointing to them letting the first
general contractor on the Midland Condo Project, Dineen, place liens on it, and allowing
subsequent contractors to do so as well.

Romspen Investment Corporation v 6711162 Canada Inc, 2014 ONSC 2781 at
paras 72-73, 2014 CarswellOnt 5836.

76.  Justice Brown concluded that the initial order should not be granted. He cited Re Dondeb
Inc. in which Justice Campbell also determined that CCAA relief should not be granted to the
applicant company. In reaching this conclusion, Justice Campbell made the following statement
at the end of his reasons:

The CCAA is a flexible instrument, which with judicial discretion, is capable of

permitting restructuring, including in appropriate situations, liquidation.

In my view the use of the CCAA for the purpose of liquidation must be used with caution

when liquidation is the end goal, particularly when there are alternatives such as an
overall less costly receivership that can accomplish the same overall goal.

Re Dondeb Inc, 2012 ONSC 6087 at paras 33-34, 2012 CarswellOnt 15528.
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77.  In his earlier decision in Romspen Investment Corp. v. Edgeworth Properties, Justice
Campbell granted the applicant declaratory relief over the objections of investors who challenged

the validity of the applicant's security with the following effect:

(@  The applicant, who held a mortgage over certain of the debtor company's real

propeérty, was effectively carved out of the CCAA proceeding;
(b)  The validity and priority of the applicant's mortgage was recognized; and

(¢)  The applicant was permitted to proceed with judicial salé/foreclosure proceedings

in respect of the real property subject to its security.

Romspen Investment Corp v Edgeworth Properties, 2012 ONSC 4693, 222
ACWS (3d) 854.

78.  The Aﬁplicanté do not intend to restructure their brokering business. Rather, they have
shut down that business altogether, pur‘sﬁant to the Order of this Court dated May 13, 2014.
There is no benefit to the Applicants in continuing to administer the McCann Loans, whereas
there is significant prejudice to McCann and the TPLs if the CCAA stay continues to obstruct the

efficient and effective collection of their loans.
79.  The prejudice to McCann includes, without limitation:

(a)  the fact that Cash Store cannot broker new loans, which will "significantly

impair” its ability to collect the McCann Loans;

(b)  the fact that Cash Store intends to take no steps to collect in Ontario and only

limited steps in other jurisdictions;
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(© the enormous professional fees and other expenses associated with any liquidation

- conducted under the CCAA; and

. (d)  the risk that the Applicants' restructuring is unsuccessful and that the task of
collecting the McCann Loans will be left for yet another futuie (and potentially

costly) insolvency proceeding.

80.  The CCAA's fundamental purpose—namely, to facilitate compromises and arrangements
between companies and their creditors—is not advanced by permitting the Applicants to
continue administering the McCann Loans because there is no reasonable prospect that the
brokering business will be restructured. McCann should therefore be permitted to realize on the

McCann Loans at its own éxpense.
B. Preferences
""" 1. The Preference Issue is not Properly Before this Court

- 81.  The DIP Lenders seek a declaration that two categories of transactions which occurred

between the TPLs and the Applicants constitute preferences:

(a)  The designation by the Applicants of any advances or loans, including brokered

loans, as advances or loans in the names of the TPLs; and

(b)  Any assignment, whether as capital protection or otherwise, by the Applicants to
the TPLs, or in their names, of non-brokered loans made in the name of the

Applicants (together with (a), the "Transactions").
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82.  The preference issue is not properly before the Court, and so the DIP Lenders are not
entitled to the relief requested. The only issue properly before the Court is the question of

ownership of the TPLs' property.

83.  Under sections 95 and 96 of the BIA, a trustee in bankruptcy has the right to impugn a
payment or transaction as a preference or transfer at undervalue. Section 36.1 of the CCAA
extends this right to a CCAA Monitor. It does not extend it to individual creditors of the CCAA
estate. The Monitor has not challenged any transaction involving tﬂe TPLs as a preference, and

the DIP Lenders have no right to the relief requested.

84.  No Canadian court has allowed a preference challenge by a creditor in the context of a
CCAA proceeding. The case law is clear that a trustee in bankruptcy is the only party who can
bring a preference challenge in bankruptcy proceedings and, as a result, a monitor is the only
party who can bring a preference motion in CCAA proceedings pursuant to section 36.1 of the
CCAA. The DIP Lenders simply cannot arrogate to themselves the Monitor's statutory right to

challenge transactions as preferences or transfers at undervalue.

Tucker v Aévo Inventory (UK) Ltd, 2011 ONSC 4223 at paras 65, 137, 151, 166,
338 DLR (4th) 577 (Sup Ct). *

Verdellen v Monaghan Mushrooms Ltd, 2011 ONSC 5820 at para 46, 207
ACWS (3d) 553 (Sup CY).

Re Dilollo, 2013 ONSC 578 at para 26, 97 CBR (5th) 182 (Sup CY), affd 2013
ONCA 550, 117 OR (3d) 81.

85.  The DIP Lenders clearly lack any status to request this relief under the CCAA. However,
the DIP Lenders could not challenge the Transactions even if they had a right to do so. A

"preference" is a payment made to one creditor to the prejudice of another creditor. When the
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Transactions occurred, the DIP Lenders were not creditors of the Applicants as DIP Lenders.

They could not therefore have been prejudiced by the Transactions as DIP Lenders.

86.  The DIP Lenders are post-CCAA-filing lenders who lent money to the Applicants based
on the Applicants' assets as at and after the CCAA filing date. By‘ impugning the Transactions,
which occurred prior to the CCAA filing date, the DIP Lenders are now trying to appropriate
assets to which they have no entitlemént to secure repayment of their DIP loans, including

exorbitant fees and interest rates.

87.  Since the CCAA filing date, McCann's property has essentially been frozen and -no
payment or transfer of any kind has been made to McCann. Therefore, no transaction involving
McCann could possibly have worsened the DIP Lenders' position. This Court should not allow
the motion for the return of the TPLs' property to be sidetracked by an improper motion by the

post-CCAA-filing DIP Lenders.
2. The Transactions ave not Void as Preferences or Otherwise

88.  Even if the preference issue is properly before the Court, the Transactions are not
preferences, transfers at undervalue or otherwise void under any legal theory advanced by the

DIP Lenders in their cross-motion.
89. The DIP Lenders seek to void or set aside the Transactions as:

(a)  preferences under section 95 of the BIA;
(b)  transfers at undervalue under section 96 of the BIA; or

©) void transactions under section 2 of Ontario's Fraudulent Conveyances Act,
section 4 of Ontario's Assignments and Preferences Act and/or sections 2 and 3 of
Alberta's Fraudulent Preferences Act (Alberta).
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BIA, ss 95, 96.
Fraudulent Conveyances Act, RSO 1990, c F.29, s 2 ("FCA™).
Assignments and Preferences Act, RSO 1990, ¢ A.33,54 ("APA").

Fraudulent Preferenceés Act, RSA 2000, ¢ F-24, ss 2, 3 ("FPA").

i, Section 95 of the BIA

90.  Under section 95 of the BIA, a trustee in bankruptcy is empowered to attack a payment,
transfer of property or provision of services by a debtor before the date of bankruptcy (or, in a
CCAA. proceeding, before the date on which the CCAA proceedings are commenced) that

advantages one creditor (or multiple creditors) over others.

BIA, s 95.

91. A pre-CCAA-filing transaction is void under section 95 if three conditions are met:

(8)  Prescribed Period — The transaction was made within the prescribed period

before the date of bankruptcy;
®) Insolvent — The debtor was insolvent on the date of the impugned payment; and

(¢)  Dominant Intention — The debtor intended to prefer one creditor over another.

Reith G Collins Ltd v Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 2011 MBCA 41 at
para 19, 268 Man R (2d) 30.

Touche Ross Lid v Weldwood of Canada Sales Ltd, 48 CBR (NS) 83 at paras 3-
7, 1983 CarswellOnt 214 (SC) [Touche Ross].

92.  For the first condition, the prescribed period under section 95 depends on whether the
creditor in question was arm's length or non-arm's length. For arm's length creditors, the
prescribed period is three months before the date of the initial bankruptcy event. For non-arm's

length creditors, the prescribed period is one year before the date of the initial bankruptcy event.
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93.  The third condition is called the "dominant intention" test. It requires an objective
assessment of the debtor's intention at the time of the transaction. Justice Bastin furnished the

quintessential statement of this test in Re Holt Motors Ltd.:

The test which I consider should be applied is an objective and not & subjective one, that
is to say, the intention which should be attributed to the parties will always be that which
their conduct bears a reasonably construed and not that which, long after the event, they
claim they believe was present in their minds.

Re Holt Motors Ltd (1966), 57 DLR (2d) 180 at para 8, 56 WWR 182 (Man
QB).

Thorne Riddell v Fleishman, 47 CBR (NS) 233 at para 26, 1983 CarswellOnt
201 (Sup Ct).

94,  Under section 95(2) of the BIA, the debtor's intention to prefer one creditor over another
is presumed where the effect of the impugned trénsaction is to give the creditor a preference over
other creditors.
BIA, s 95(2).

95.  In the present case, the Transactions were outside of the prescribed period. McCann is
arm's length from the Applicants. The prescribed period is thus three months from the CCAA
filing date—namely, April 15, 2014. McCann did not receive any payments or other transfers of
property from the Applicants between January 15 and April 15, 2014. Even if McCann were a
related party (which it is not) and the one-year period applied, most of the Transactions would

still fall outside of the prescribed period and, thus, could not be challenged under section 95.

96. In addition, McCann denies that Cash Store was insolvent when the Transactions
occurred. TPL monies were crucial to Cash Store's business. Without receipt of the payments to

which McCann was entitled, McCann would have withdrawn its money.
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97. In any event, vthe evidentiary record makes clear that the Applicants did not intend to
prefer McCann through the Transactions. Further, McCann is and has always been the sole legal
and beneficial owner of the McCann Property. Cash Store has confirmed this in numerous public
statements and in evidence filed with this court, including the Carlstrom Affidavit a:qd the cross-
examination of Mr Carlstrom on that affidavit. Accordingly, this is not a situation in which

property of the debtor company's has been improperly transferred to McCann.

Carlstrom Affidavit at paras 46, 48, 49, 56, Application Record Tab 2, pp 69,
72,

Carlstrom Cross at Qs 110-120, Brief of Transcripts, Tab 1, pp 26-29.

98. Each and every one of the Transéctions between Cash Store and McCann occurred in the
ordinary course of business and pursuant to the Broker Agreement. This has been a decisive

factor in cases under section 95 of the BIA.

See e.g. Touché Ross.

99. Paymen’tS in the ordinary course of business are usually made so that the debtor company
can take advantage of favourable payment terms or to secure a continued supply of goods or
services so that the debtor company can continue in business. In such circumstances, the debtor
company's expectation that the transaction would permit it to remain in business and buy some
time to extricate itself from its financial difficulties will strongly nﬁlitate against finding an

intent to prefer.

Re AR Colquhoun & Son Ltd, [1937] WWR 222, 18 CBR 124 (Sask KB).

Re Norris (1994), 23 Alta LR (3d) 397 at para 7, 28 CBR (3d) 167 (QB), rev'd
on other grounds (1996), 45 Alta LR (3d) 1, 193 AR 15 (CA).

100. Therefore, the DIP Lenders cannot rely on section 95 of the BIA to seek a declaration

that the Transactions are void.
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il Seéction 96 of the BIA

101, Section 96 of the BIA provides a trustee in bankruptcy with a mechanism for challenging

a transaction involving a disposition of property or a provision of services for which either no
consideration is received by the debtor company or for which the consideration received by the
debtor company is conspicuously below fair market value. These transactions are referred to as

"transfers at undervalue”.

102. The BIA provides no definition as to the meaning of a conspicuous difference in value.
Case law has construed "conspicuous" to mean plainly evident or attracting notice and hence
eminent, remarkable or noteworthy. Whether there is a conspicuous difference in value depends
on all of the circurnstances, and it is not possible to say that any particular percentage difference

will necessarily result in a finding of a conspicuous difference in value.

Skalbania (Trustee of) v Wedgewood Village Estates Ltd (1988), 31 BCLR (2d)
184, 70 CBR (NS) 232 (SC), aff'd (1989), 37 BCLR (2d) 88, 60 DLR (4th) 43
(CA), leave to appeal to SCC refd (1989), 40 BCLR (2d) xxxiii (note), 62 DLR.
(4th) viii (note) (SCC).

103. The requirements of section 96 depend on whether the parties to the impugned
transaction were dealing at arm's length. As discussed above in the context of section 95, the
broker-lender relationship between McCamn and Cash Store was arm's length at all times. Under

section 96(1)(2) of the BIA, an impugned transaction between arm's length parties is void if three

conditions are met:

(@) The transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that is one year

before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and that ends on the date of the

bankruptcy;
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(b)  The debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or was rendered insolvent by

it; and
© The debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor.

BIA, 5 96(1)(a).
104. In Conte Estate v. Alessandro, Justice Rouleau outlined the proper approach to
determining a debtor company's intent with respect to a transaction under section 95 of the BIA.

He made the following comments:

In this type of case it is unusual to find direct proof of intent to defeat, hinder or delay
creditors. It is more common to find evidence of suspicious facts or circumstances from
which the court infers a fraudulent intent.

‘These suspicious facts or circumstances are sometimes referred to as the "badges of
fraud." These badges of fraud are evidentiary indicators of fraudulent intent and their
presence can form the prima facie case needed to raise a presumption of fraud...

The presence of one or more of the badges of fraud rajses the presumption of fraud. Once
there is a presumption, the burden of explaining the circumstantial evidence of fraudulent
intent falls on the parties to the conveyance. '

Conte Estate v Alessandro, 2002 CarswellOnt 4507 at paras 20-22, [2002] OJ
No 5080 (Sup Ct) [Conte Estate].

105. Justice Anderson's classic articulation in Re Fancy of the role of the "badges of fraud"

analysis in determining intent under section 96 is frequently cited:

Whether the intent exists is a question of fact to be determinéd from all of the
circumstances as they existed at the time of the conveyance. Although the primary burden
of proving his case on a reasonable balance of probabilities remains with the plaintiff, the
existence of one or more of the traditional "badges of fraud" may give rise to an inference
of intent to defraud in the absence of an explanation from the defendant. In such
circumstances there is an onus on the defendant to adduce evidence showing an absence
of fraudulent intent, Where the impugned transaction was, as here, between close
relatives under suspicious circumstances, it is prudent for the court to require that the
debtor's evidence on bona fides be corroborated by reliable independent evidence.

Re Fancy (1984), 46 OR (2d) 153 at para 19, 8 DLR (4th) 418 (SC).
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106. The Canadian case law identifies the following circumstances as badges of fraud for

ascertaining the intention of the debtor company:

()

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

(h)

The transferor has few remaining assets after the transfer;
The transfer was made to a non-arm's length person;

There are actual or potential liabilities facing the transferor, he is insolvent or he

is about to enter upon a risky undertaking;
The consideration for the transaction is grossly inadequate;

The transferor remains in possession or occupation of the property for his own use

after the transfer;
The deed of transfer contains a seélf-serving and unusual provision;
The transfer was effected with unusual haste; or

The transaction was made in the face of an outstanding judgment against the

debtor company.

Conte Estate at para 43.
Boudreau v Marler, 18 RPR (4th) 1635 at para 70, 48 CBR (4th) 188 (CA).

Montor Business Corp (Trustee of) v Goldfinger, 2013 ONSC 6635 at para 262,
237 ACWS (3d) 296.

107. In the present case, the Transactions bear none of the badges of fraud which would tend

to indicate the requisite intention to "defraud, defeat or delay a creditor”.
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108. The Applicants' secured creditors had notice of the business arrangements between Cash
Store and McCann, including the fact that McCann retained ownership of the McCann Property.
The secured creditors did not therefore suffer any prejudice. Rather, they understood (or
reasonably should have understood) the risks of lending into a structure in which these TPL
arrangements were in place. Indeed, the Applicants happily took the benefit of the broker fees
earned on loans brokered to Customers with TPL monies, which were in turn used to make
interest payments to Cash Store's secured creditors. The secured lenders cannot now seek to
improperly appropriate the McCann Property simply because the inherent risks in their

investments materialized into real losses.

109. As explored in more detail above, the evidence of the TPLs is that they are, and have
always been, the sole legal and beneficial owners of the TPL property. The Applicants did not
transfer their property to the TPLs. Further;, there was a contract in place between the parties
according to which the interest actually paid to the TPLs of 17.5 per cent was below the interest
rate of 59 per cent to which the TPLs were entitled. Thus, in participating in the Transactions, the
debtor company's intent was not to prefer McCann. Its intention was to make payments pursuant
to a contractual relationship and established business practices in the ordinary course of business

and without the intent to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor.

1ii. The Provincial Statutes

110. To attack transactions as preferences or transfers at undervalue under the BIA, the
transactions must have occurred within the prescribed period. If a transaction falls outside the
prescribed period, it cannot be challenged as a preference or transfer at undervalue under

sections 95 and 96 of the BIA.
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111. Since McCann is at arm's length from the Applicants, the prescribed period in this case is
three months before the CCAA filing date for challenges under section 95 and one year before

the CCAA filing date for challenges under section 96.

112. The DIP Lenders cannot invoke sections 95 and 96 of the BIA to impeach the
Transactions. Withinh the three-month period preceding the CCAA filing date, McCann did not
receive any payments from the Applicants. Instead, the Applicants impfoperly used segregated
funds belonging to McCann to fund exorbitant professional costs leading up to the CCAA filing
date, without McCann's knowledge or consent. Within the one-year period preceding the CCAA
filing date, any payments made to McCann were made in the ordinary course of business and
pursuant to the Broker Agreement. Fﬁrther, the DIP Lenders were not even creditors of the

Applicants qua DIP Lenders when the Transactions occurred.

113. Unlike the BIA, Ontario's Fraudulent Conveyances Act (the "FCA") and Assignments
and Preferences Act (the "APA™) do not prescribe periods for challenging transactions. So long
as actions are not statute barred under the applicable provincial limitations regime, it may be

possible to challenge a transaction under one or both of these statutes.

Robinson v Countrywide Factors Ltd (1977), [1978] 1 SCR 753, 72 DLR (3d)
500.

Re Garrett, 30 CBR (NS) 150 at para 2, 1979 CarswellOnt 195 (SC).

Indcondo Building Corp v Sloan, 2010 ONCA 890 at para 9, 103 OR (3d) 445.

114.  Section 2 of the FCA provides:

2. Every conveyance of real property or personal property and every bond, suit,
judgment and execution heretofore or hereafter made with intent to defeat, hinder, delay
or defraud creditors or others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts,
damages, penalties or forfeitures are void as against such persons and their assigns.
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FCA,s2.

115. Section 2 of the FCA requires the DIP Lenders to prove intent to "defeat, hinder, delay or
defraud" creditors. For convéyances made for good consideration, the DIP Lendérs must prove
the fraudulent intent of both parties to the transaction. For voluntary conveyances, the DIP

Lenders need to prove the fraudulent intent of the maker of the conveyance.

Oliver v McLaughlin, 24 OR 41, [1893] OT No 11 (CA).

Bank of Montreal v Peninsula Broilers Ltd, 177 ACWS (3d) 405 at para 88,
2009 CarswellOnt 2906 (Sup Ct).

116. Justice Sedgwick expanded on what is required o prove intent to "defeat, hinder, delay or

defraud" creditors in Dapper Apper Holdings Ltd. v. 895453 Ontario Ltd. as follows:

If the court is satisfied that a conveyance is made with intent on the part of the grantor to
defeat, hinder, delay or defraud creditors and others, the parties to the conveyance (the
grantor and the grantees) must show that it was made for good consideration and good
faith and to a person (or persons) who was (or were) without notice or knowledge of the
grantor's fraudulent intent. Bank of Montreal v. Jory (1981), 39 C.B.R. (N.S.) 30 (B.C.
S.C.). Otherwise, the conveyance is void against creditors of the grantor.

Dapper Apper Holdings Ltd v 895453 Ontario Ltd (1996), 38 CBR (3d) 284 at
para 57, 11 PPSAC (2d) 284 (Gen Div).

117.  Section 4(1) of the APA provides:

4. (1) Subject to section 5, every gift, conveyance, assignment or transfer, delivery over
or payment of goods, chattels or effects, or of bills, bonds, notes or securities, or of
shares, dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any
other property, real or personal, made by a person when insolvent or unable to pay. thie
person’s debts in full or when the person knows that he, she or it is on the eve of
insolvency, with intent to defeat, hinder, delay or prejudice creditors, or any one or more
of them, is void as against the creditor or creditors injured, delayed or prejudiced.

APA, s 4(1).

118. Therefore, to set aside a transaction under this provision, the plaintiff must prove three

elements:

221



(@)

(b)

(©

- 40 -

There was a conveyance of property;

There was an intent to "defeat, hinder, delay or prejudice” creditors; and

At the time of the transaction, the debtor company was insolvent or unable to pay

his, her or its debts in full or knew that he, she or it was on the eve of insolvency.

119.  Section 4(2) permits challenges to transactions intended to give a creditor an "unjust

preference” over other creditors. There is a presumption of intention under section 4(3) if three

elements are satisfied;

(a)

(b)

©

The debtor was insolvent at the time of the transaction;
The transaction had the effect of providing the creditor with a preference; and

An action or proceeding was brought within sixty (60) days to impeach or set

aside such transaction.

APA, 5 4(2), 4(3).

120. In Alberta, the FPA sets out rules which are substantially similar to those in Ontario.

Under section 2 of the FPA, the applicant must show that there was a transfer of property by a

person who is insolvent (or on the eve of insolvency) to a creditor with the intent of giving that

creditor a preference over other creditors. Where direct evidence of the debtor company's intent

is msufficient, courts can consider the badges of fraud.

Burton v R & M Insurance Ltd (1977), 5 Alta LR (2d) 14, 9 AR 589 (SC TD).

Alberta (Divector of Employment Standards) v Sanche, 134 AR 149, 5 Alta IR
(3d) 243 (QB).

Dwyer v Fox, 190 AR 114 at para 26, 43 Alta LR (3d) 63 (QB).
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121. Under section 3 of the FPA, a transaction is void if, within one year of the impugned
transaction, an action is commenced to set it aside, the debtor company was in insolvent
circumstances or unable to pay debts in full or was on the eve of insolvency, and the transaction

had the effect of giving a creditor a preference.

Taylor & Associates Ltd v Louis Bull Tribe No 439, 2011 ABQB 213 at paras
12-13, 46 Alita LR (5th) 182.

Maki Megbiz, KFT v Osprey Energy Ltd, 2006 ABQB 630, 405 AR 165
(Master).

122.  Again, the factual circumstances prove that there was no intention on the part of the
Applicants to defeat, hinder, delay, defraud, prefer or prejudice their creditors. Further, to the
extent that such a finding is necessary,v the evidentiary record is clear that McCann had no such
intent to defeat, hinder, delay, defraud, prefer or prejudice their creditors in participating in the

Transactions.

123. Even if the requisite intent can be established as against the Applicants, the Transactions

occurred upon good consideration, in good faith and without notice or knowledge of the

Applicants' intent within the meaning of section 3 of the FCA.

124. The TPLs did not knowingly participate in any fraudulent scheme or preference. They
were lending money to individual borrowers through contractual brokerage arrangements of

which all of the secured creditors had notice.

C. McCann's Legal Fees

125. Historically, an administration charge was granted pursuant to the Court's inherent
jurisdiction. Section 11.52 of the CCAA now provides statutory jurisdiction to grant an

administration charge. It provides as follows:
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11.52 (1) On notice to the secured creditors who are likely to be affected by the security
or charge, the court may make an order declaring that all or part of the property of a
debtor company is subject to a security or charge — in an amount that the court considers
appropriate — in respect of the fees and expenses of

(a) the monitor, including the fees and expenses of any financial, legal or
other experts engaged by the monitor in the performance of the monitor’s
duties;

(b)  any financial, legal or other experts engaged by the company for the
purpose of proceedings under this Act; and

(©) any financial, legal or other experts engaged by any other interested

person if the court is satisfied that the security or charge is necessary for -

their effective participation in proceedings under this Act.
CCAA, s 11.52(1).

Re Canwest Publishing Inc/Publications Canwest Inc, 2010 ONSC 222 at para
53, 184 ACWS (3d) 684.

126.  Pursuant to subsection (c) of this provision, the Initial Order should be varied or amended
to require payments by the Applicants of McCann's legal and other professional fees incurred in
or in connection with this CCAA proceeding. Further, it should be varied or amended to include
McCann and its legal counsel as benéﬁciaries of the Administration Charge, as that term is
defined in the Initial Order, ranking pari passu. in priority with all other parties entitled to the

benefit of the Administration Charge.

127. These orders are warranted and necessary to safeguard fairness in this CCAA proéeeding.
McCann is both a TPL and a holder of the first lien debt. There is no rational basis upon which
other creditors, such as the bondholders, who rank behind McCann in respect of the first lien
debt and in respect of the McCann Property, should have their professional fees paid while
McCann does not. This creates an uneven and unfair playing field that allows the bondholders an

advantage in what has essentially become a priority dispute over the TPL loans.
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128. McCann has been forced to expend considerable time and money in seeking to protect its
position by participating in this CCAA proceeding, often in connection with other parties to this
proceeding seeking adjournments of the comeback hearing originally scheduled for April 25,
2014. The issues that McCann raised in connection with this initial hearing date have still not

been heard, and they are now to be heard on June 11, 2014.

129. For these reasons, the Applicants should be required to pay McCann's legal and other
professional fees incurred in or in connection with this CCAA proceeding to ensure an even and

fair playing field moving forward.
V. ORDER REQUESTED
130. For all of the above reasons, McCann respectfully submits that it should be granted:

(@)  an order granting a declaration that the McCann Property, including without
limitation the McCann Property as defined in McCann's notice of motion dated
May 15, 2014 (the "Notice of Motion"), is owned by MecCann free of any
interests or claims of any creditor of the Applicants including, without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, any encumbrances or charges created by the Order

of the Honourable Regional Senior Justice Morawetz dated April 14, 2014;

(b) an order that the Applicants shall forthwith execute and deliver such
documentation as is necessary or desirable to evidence the fact that McCann is the

sole legal and beneficial owner of the McCann Property;

() an order that the Applicants shall forthwith transfer the McCann Funds and the

McCann Receipts, as defined in the Notice of Motion, to McCann;

225



226
- 44 -

(6] an order that the Applicants shall forthwith, at McCann’s expense, provide such
assistance to McCann as is necessary or desirable to facilitate the transfer of the
administration of the McCann Loans and the McCann Accounts Receivable to

another service provider;

(e) aii order that Mc¢Cann's legal and other professional fees incured in or in
connection with this CCAA proceeding shall be paid by the Applicants and shall

be covered by the Administration Charge granted in the Initial Order;
® an order that the Applicants shall pay McCann’s costs of this motion; and

(g)  an order that McCann reserves all rights to assert any arguments and claims in this
© proceeding or otherwise in relation to claims (whether they be trust, proprietary or
otherwise) it has against the Applicants and any other persons resulting from or

relating to monies it advanced to make third party loans.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 30™ day of May, 2014,

BENNE{DT JONES LLP
Lawyers for 0678786 B.C. Ltd.
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SCHEDULE "B"
STATUTORY REFERENCES

ASSIGNMENTS AND PREFERENCES ACT, RSO 1990, C A.33
Nullity of gifts, transfers, etc., made with intent to defeat or prejudice creditors

4. (1) Subject to section 5, every gift, conveyance, assignment or transfer, delivery over or
payment of goods, chattels or effects, or of bills, bonds, notes or securities, or of shares,
dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any other property,
real or personal, made by a person when insolvent or unable to pay the person’s debts in full or
when the person knows that he, she or it is on the eve of insolvency, with intent to defeat, hinder,
delay or prejudice creditors, or any one or more of them, is void as against the creditor or
creditors injured, delayed or prejudiced.

Unjust preferences

(2) Subject to section 5, every such gift, conveyance, assignment or transfer, delivery over or
payment made by a person being at the time in insolvent circumstances, or unable to pay his, her
or its debts in full, or knowing himself, herself or itself to be on the eve of insolvency, to or for a
creditor with the intent to give such creditor an unjust preference over other creditors or over any
one or more of them is void as against the creditor or creditors injured, delayed, prejudiced or
postponed.

When there is presumption of intention if transaction has effect of unjust preference

(3) Subject to section 5, if such a transaction with or for a creditor has the effect of giving that
creditor a preference over the other creditors of the debtor or over any one or more of them, it
shall, in and with respect to any action or proceeding that, within sixty days thereafter, is
brought, had or taken to impeach or set aside such transaction, be presumed, in the absence of
evidence to the contrary, to have been made with the intent mentioned in subsection (2), and to
be an unjust preference within the meaning of this Act whether it be made voluntarily or under
pressure.

BANKRUPTCY AND ﬂVSOLVENCYACT, RSC 1985, C B-3
Preferences

95. (1) A transfer of property made, a provision of services made, a charge on property made, a
payment made, an obligation incutred or a judicial proceeding taken or suffered by an insolvent
person

(a) in favour of a creditor who is dealing at arm’s length with the insolvent person, or a
person in trust for that creditor, with a view to giving that creditor a preference over
another creditor is void as against — or, in Quebec, may not be set up against — the
trustee if it is made, incurred, taken or suffered, as the case may be, during the period
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beginning on the day that is three months before the date of the initial bankruptcy event
and ending on the date of the bankruptcy; and

(b) in favour of a creditor who is not dealing at arm’s length with the insolvent person, or
a person in trust for that creditor, that has the effect of giving that creditor a preference
over another creditor is void as against — or, in Quebec, may not be set up against — the
trustee if it is made, incurred, taken or suffered, as the case may be, during the period
beginning on the day that is 12 months before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and
ending on the date of the bankruptcy.

Preference presumed

) If the transfer, charge, payment, obligation or judicial proceeding referred to in paragraph
(1)(a) has the effect of giving the creditor a preference, it is, in the absence of evidence to the
contrary, presumed to have been made, incurred, taken or suffered with a view to giving the
creditor the preference —- even if it was made, incurred, taken or suffered, as the case may be,
under pressure — and evidence of pressure is not admissible to support the transaction.

Exception

(2.1) Subsection (2) does not apply, and the parties are deemed to be dealing with each other at
arm’s length, in respect of the following:

(a) a margin deposit made by a clearing member with a clearing house; or

(b) a transfer, charge or payment made in connection with financial collateral and in
accordance with the provisions of an eligible financial contract.

Definitions
(3) In this section,

“clearing house”

« chambre de compensation »

““clearing house” means a body that acts as an intermediary for its clearing members in effecting
securities transactions;

“clearing member”

« membre »

“clearing member” means a person engaged in the business of effecting securities transactions
who uses a clearing house as intermediary;

“creditor”
« créancier »
“creditor” includes a surety or guarantor for the debt due to the creditor;

. “margin deposit”
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« dépot de couverture »

“margin deposit” means a payment, deposit or transfer to a clearing house¢ under the rules of the
clearing house to assure the performance of the obligations of a clearing member in connection
with security transactions, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
transactions respecting futures, options or other derivatives or to fulfil any of those obligations.

Transfer at undervalue

96. (1) On application by the trustee, a court may declare that a transfer at undervalue is void as
against, or, in Quebec, may not be set up against, the trustee — or order that a party to the
transfer or any other person who is privy to the transfer, or all of those persons, pay to the estate
the difference between the value of the consideration received by the debtor and the value of the
consideration given by the debtor — if

(a) the party was dealing at arm’s length with the debtor and

(@) the transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that is one year
before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and that ends on the date of the
bankruptey,

(ii) the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or was rendered insolvent
by it, and

(iii) the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor; or
(b) the party was not dealing at arm’s length with the debtor and

(1) the transfer occurred'd‘uring the period that begins on the day that is one year
before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and ends on the date of the
bankruptcy, or

(ii) the transfer occurred during the period that begins on the day that is five years
before the date of the initial bankruptcy event and ends on the day before the day
on which the period referred to in subparagraph (i) begins and

(A) the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or was rendered
insolvent by it, or

(B) the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor.

Establishing values

(2) In making the application referred to in this section, the trustee shall state what, in the
trustee’s opinion, was the fair market value of the property or services and what, in the trustee’s
opinion, was the value of the actual consideration given or received by the debtor, and the values
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on which the court makes any finding under this section are, in the absence of evidence to the
contrary, the values stated by the trustee.

Meaning of “person who is privy”

(3) In this section, a “person who is privy” means a person who is not dealing at arm’s length
with a party to a transfer and, by reason of the transfer, directly or indirectly, receives a benefit
or causes a benefit to be received by another person.

[...]
Definitions
253. In this Part,
[.]

“customer name securities” means securities that on the date of bankruptcy of a securities firm
are held by or on behalf of the securities firm for the account of a customer and are registered or
recorded in the appropriate manner in the name of the customer or are in the process of being so
registered or recorded, but does not include securities registered or recorded in the appropriate
manner in the name of the customer that, by endorsement or otherwise, are negotiable by the
securities firm;

[...]

1

Vesting of securities, efc., in trustee

261. (1) If a securities firm becomes bankrupt, the following securities and cash vest in the
trustee:

(a) securities owned by the securities firm;
(b) securities and cash held by any person for the account of the securities fixm; and

(c) securities and cash held b’yb the securities firm for the account of a customer, other
than customer name securities.

Establishment of a customer pool fund and a general fund

(2) Where a securities firm becomes bankrupt and property vests in a trustee under subsection (1)
or under other provisions of this Act, the trustee shall establish

(a) a fund, in this Part called the “customer pool fund”, including therein
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(i) securities, including those obtained after the date of the bankruptcy, but
excluding customer name securities and excluding eligible financial contracts to
which the firm is a party, that are held by or for the account of the firm

(A) for a securities account of a customer,

(B) for an account of a person who has entered into an eligible financial

contract with the firm and has deposited the securities with the firm to
assure the performance of the person’s obligations under the contract, or

(C) for the firm’s own account,
(ii) cash, including cash obtained after the date of the bankruptcy, and including

(A) dividends, interest and other income in respect of securities referred to
in subparagraph (i),

(B) proceeds of disposal of securities referred to in subparagraph (i), and

(C) proceeds of policies of insurance covering claims of customers to
securities referred to in subparagraph (1),

that is held by or for the account of the firm
(D) for a securities account of a customer,

(E) for an account of a person who has entered into an eligible financial
contract with the firm and has deposited the cash with the firm to assure
the performance of the person’s obligations under the contract, or

(F) for the firm’s own securities account, and

(iii) any investments of the securities firm in its subsidiaries that are not referred
to in subparagraph (i) or (ii); and

(b) a fund, in this Part called the “general fund”, including therein all of the remaining
vested property.

Allocation and distribution of cash and securities in customer pool fund

262. (1) Cash and securities in the customer pool fund shall be allocated in the following
priority:

(a) for costs of administration referred to-in paragraph 136(1)(b), to the extent that
sufficient funds are not available in the general fund to pay such costs;
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(b) to customers, other than deferred customers, in proportion to their net equity; and
(¢) to the general fund.

Where property deposited with securities firm under an EFC

(1.1) Where

(8) a person has, under the terms of an eligible financial contract with the securities firm,
deposited property with the firm to assure the performance of the person’s obligations
under the contract, and

(b) that property is included in the customer pool fund pursuant to paragraph 261(2)(a),

that person shall share in the distribution of the customer pool fund as if the person were a
customer of the firm with a claim for net equity equal to the net value of the property deposited
that would have been returnable to the person after deducting any amount owing by the person
under the contract.

Distribution

(2) To the extent that securities of a particular type are available in the customer pool fund, the
trustee shall distribute them to customers with claims to the securities, in proportion to their
claims to the securities, up to the appropriate portion of their net equity, unless the trustee
determines that, in the circumstances, it would be more appropriate to sell the securities and
distribute the proceeds to the customers with claims to the securities in proportion to their claims
to the securities. '

Compensation in kind
(2.1) Subject to subsection (2), the trustee may satisfy all or part of a customer’s claim to
securities of a particular type by delivering to the customer securities of that type to which the

customer was entitled at the date of bankruptcy. For greater certainty, the trustee may, for that
purpose, exercise the trustee’s power to purchase securities in accordance with section 259.

Allocation of property in the general fund
(3) Property in the general fund shall be allocated in the following priority:
(a) to preferred creditors in the order set out in subsection 136(1);

(b) rateably

() to customers, other than deferred customers, having claims for net equity
remaining after distribution of property from the customer pool fund and property
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provided by a customer compensation body, where applicable, in proportion to

claims for net equity remaining,

(ii) where applicable, to a customer compensation body to the extent that it paid
or compensated customers in respect of their net equity, and

(iii) to creditors in proportion to the values of their claims;

(c) rateably to creditors referred to in section 137; and

(d) to deferred customers, in proportion to their claims for net equity.
COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, RSC 1985, C. C-36
Security or charge relating to director’s indemnification
11.51 (1) On application by a debtor company and on notice to the secured creditors who are
likely to be affected by the security or charge, the court may make an order declaring that all or
part of the property of the company is subject to a security or charge — in an amount that the
court considers appropriate — in favour of any director or officer of the company to indemnify

the director or officer against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as a director or
officer of the company after the commencement of proceedings under this Act.

Priority

(2) The court may order that the security or charge rank in priority over the claim of any secured
creditor of the company.

Restriction — indemnification insurance

(3) The court may not make the order if in its opinion the company could obtain adequate
indemnification insurance for the director or officer at a reasonable cost.

Negligence, misconduct or fault
(4) The court shall make an order decléring that the security or charge does not apply in respect
of a specific obligation or liability incurred by a director or officer if in its opinion the obligation

or liability was incurred as a result of the director’s or officer’s gross negligence or wilful
misconduct or, in Quebec, the director’s or officer’s gross or intentional fault.

[...]
Application of sections 38 and 95 to 101 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
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36.1 (1) Sections 38 and 95 to 101 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act apply, with any
modifications that the circumstances require, in respect of a compromise or-arrangement unless
the compromise or arrangement provides otherwise.

Interpretation

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), a reference in sections 38 and 95 to 101 of the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act

(a) to “date of the bankruptey” is to be read as a reference to “day on which proceedings
" commence under this Act”;

(b) to “trustee” is to be read as a reference to “monitor”; and

(¢) to “bankrupt”, “insolvent person” or “debtor” is to be read as a reference to “debtor
company”.

FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES ACT, RSO 1990, C. F.29
Where conveyances void as against creditors

2. BEvery conveyance of real propefty or personal property and every bond, suit, judgment and

execution heretofore or hereafter made with intent to defeat, hinder, delay or defraud creditors or.

others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties or forfeitures are
void as against such persons and their assigns.

Where s. 2 does not apply
3. Section 2 does not apply to an estate or interest in real property or personal property conveyed

upon good consideration and in good faith to a person not having at the time of the conveyance
to the person notice or knowledge of the intent set forth in that section.

FRAUDULENT PREFERENCES ACT, RSA 2000, C. F-24
Intent to prefer

2. Subject to sections 6 to 9, every gift, conveyance, assignment, transfer, delivery over or
payment of goods, chattels or effects or of bills, bonds, notes or securities or of shares,
dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any other property,
real or personal, made

(a)bya person at a time when the person is in insolvent circumstances or is unable to pay
the person’s debts in full or knows that the person is on the eve of insolvency, and

(b) to or for a creditor with intent to give that creditor preference over the other creditors
of the debtor or over any one or more of them,
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is void as against the creditor or creditors injured, delayed, prejudiced or postponed.

Preferential effect

3. Subject to sections 6 to 9, every gift, conveyance, assignment, transfer, delivery over or
payment of goods, chattels or effects or of bills, bonds, notes or securities or of shares,
dividends, premiums or bonus in any bank, company or corporation, or of any other propérty,
real or personal, made

(a) by a person at a time when the person is in insolvent circumstances or is unable to pay
the person’s debts in full or knows that the person is on the eve of insolvency, and

(b) to or for a creditor and having the effect of giving that creditor a preference over the
other creditors of the debtor or over any one or more of them,

is, in and with respect to any action that within one year after the transaction is brought to
impeach or set aside the transaction, void as against the creditor or creditors injured, delayed,
prejudiced or postponed. :

[...]
Bona fide transactions
6. Nothing in sections 1 to 5 applies to

(a) a bona fide sale or payment made in the ordinary course of trade or calling to innocent
purchasers or parties, or

(b) a payment of money to a creditor, or a bona fide conveyance, assignment, transfer or
delivery over of any goods, securities or property, of any kind as above mentioned, that is
made in consideration .of a present actual bona fide sale or delivery of goods or other
property or of a present actual bona fide payment in money, or by way of security for a
present actual bona fide advance of money,

if the money paid or the goods or other property sold or delivered bear a fair and reasonable
relative value to the consideration for it.

Payment to creditor

7. When there is a valid sale of goods, securities or property and the consideration or part of it is
paid or transferred by the purchaser to the creditor of the vendor under circumstances that would
render the payment or transfer void if it were made by the debtor personally and directly, the
payment or transfer, even though valid as respects the purchaser, is void as respects the creditor
to whom it is made.
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Restoration of security to creditor

8. When a payment that is void under this Act has been made and a valuable security has been
given up in consideration of the payment, the creditor is entitled to have the security restored or
its value made good to the creditor before or as a condition of the return of the payment.

Saving of payment to creditor
9. Nothing in this Act

(a) affects a payment of money to a creditor when the creditor by reason or on account of
the payment has lost or been deprived of or has in good faith given up a valid security
that the creditor held for the payment of the debt so paid, unless the value of the security
is restored to the creditor,

(b) affects the substitution in good faith of one security for another security for the same
debt so far as the debtor’s estate is not lessened in value to the other creditors because of

the substitution, or

(c) invalidates a security given to a creditor for the pre-existing debt when, by reason or
on account of the giving of the security, an advance is made in money to the debtor by
the creditor in the bona fide belief that the advance will enable the debtor to continue the
debtor’s trade or business and pay the debtor’s debts in full.
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PART I - OVERVIEW

1. Trimor Annuity Focus Limited Partnership #5 (“Trimor”) seeks to assume
administration of the Trimor Loans' and the Trimor Receipts® (collectively, the “Trimor Loans
and Receipts”) to ensure that they do not vanish like the millions of dollars in Trimor’s cash that

has already disappeared.

2. It is clear that Trimor owns the Trimor Loans and Receipts and other stakeholders should
not be allowed to use nebulous preference claims as an excuse to lock the Trimor Loans and
Receipts in a business with no future, which has huge realization costs and which, according to
the Applicants’ own evidence, cannot reasonably be expected to maximize recoveries. Trimor

should be allowed to realize on its property in the most efficient and effective manner possible.

3. The Applicants say they have already initiated an “orderly cessation” of their brokering
business. Accordingly, they have no use for the third party lenders’ funds. They are nonetheless
insisting that the Applicants be entitled to collect the Trimor Loans despite the fact that, unlike
other potential servicers, they are unable or unwilling to make new loans available to their

former customers.

4, The Applicants’ own evidence is that their inability to make new loans in Ontario has

resulted in their “ability to collect outstanding customer accounts receivable [being] significantly

! «“Trimor Loans” means any loan in existence immediately prior to the effective time of the Initial Order (in accordance
with paragraph 34 of the Amended and Restated Initial Order): i) for which Trimor is listed as the lender; ii) which are
attributable to Trimor according to the Applicants’ records; or (i) which have been assigned to Trimor, (See paragraphs 3
and 4 of the April 30, 2014 Additional TPL Protection Order).

2 “Trimor Receipts” means any amounts received by Cash Store from Customers in repayment of the Trimor Loans.
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impaired”.® In fact, collections on the Trimor Loans decreased by 75 percent in Ontario from
January to March, 2014, and the proportion of Trimor Loans that are more than 30 days overdue
increased from 0 percent as at January 31, 2014 to 39 percent as at April 13, 2014.% As
highlighted in the Monitor’s Third Report,” the difficulties in collecting on accounts in Ontario
will now apply to all jurisdictions in which the Applicants previously operated the brokering

business.

5. In addition to this significant impairment arising from the fact that the Applicants can no
longer make new loans, the Applicants are also unable, or unwilling, to take all steps necessary
to ensure collections on the Trimor Loans are maximized. The Chief Restructuring Officer (the
“CRO”) has indicated that Cash Store's “ability to collect on Ontario brokered loans has been
curtailed”® and that outside Ontario he can only take “reasonable steps to effect the receipt of
outstanding brokered loan receivables in a manner that preserves, to the extent possible, the
value of the [third party lender] receivables”.” The CRO has duties to a number of stakeholders,
and is understandably concerned with the costs and management resources necessary to preser\;e
the value of the Trimor Loans. However, his reluctance to take the necessary steps to maximize

realizations should not prejudice Trimor.

3 Affidavit of Steven Carlstrom sworn April 14, 2014 (“Carlstrom Affidavit”) at para. 101; Motion Record of the
Applicants at Tab 1.

# Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers dated May 14, 2014 (the “PwC Report”) atp. 6 (internal); Motion Record of Trimor,
Tab 4.

5 Monitor’s Third Report at para. 39(c)(i).

§ Affidavit of William Aziz sworn May 9, 2014 (the “Aziz Affidavit™) at para. 26; Motion Record of the Applicants at Tab
2. We understand that the CRO relies on the Applicants’ interpretation of section 30.1 of the Payday Loan Act, 2008
regulations for this position.

7 Aziz Affidavit at para, 38.
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6. Because Trimor owns the Trimor Loans, it is prepared to invest the time and resources
necessary to maximize recoveries. Doing so will assist the CRO and the Applicants by
eliminating the cost and management resources needed to collect the Trimor Loans. The relief
sought by Trimor would relieve the Applicants, the CRO, and the Monitor of this burden and
allow them to focus on restructuring the parts of the business that the Applicants believe
continue to be viable. It will also allow Trimor to realize the maximum recove& from the Trimor

Loans at its own expense.

7. In the past two months, the third party lenders have seen the stated value of their loans
and restricted cash reduced from approximately $42 million to less than half of that amount.
Trimor is extremely concerned that if the issue of ownership is not determined on a timely basis
and administration of the loans is not assumed by an independent party with the capacity to make
new loans in regulated jurisdictions, then what little value is left will simply evaporate in a cloud

of bad debts and fees.

8. In light of the foregoing, Trimor respectfully requests that this Court grant a declaration
that Trimor owns the Trimor Loans and Receipts, and order that Cash Store immediately transfer

the Loans, and pay the Receipts, to Trimor or its designated administrator.

PART II - THE FACTS

9. Cash Store is a broker and lender of short-term loans. It also offers a range of other
products and services to help its customers (“Customers”) meet their day to day financial

service needs.®

8 Carlstrom Affidavit at para 4.
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10.  Cash Store brokers loans on behalf of the Customers under broker agreements with third
party lenders (“TPLs”), including Trimor. TPLs directly lend to Customers or purchase loans

that Cash Store has made to Customers.”

11.  Trimor transferred funds totalling $27,002,000 to Cash Store under the Broker
Agreements (as defined below) and for the sole purpose of brokering the loans to Customers (the
“Trimor Funds”)."® Other TPLs transferred funds to Cash Store for the purpose of brokering

loans to Customers (the “TPL Funds”).

The Broker Agreements

12.  Trimor is a party to the following broker agreements with Cash Store (the “Broker

Agreements”):"!

(a) broker agreement between Trimor and The Cash Store Inc. (“TCSI”) dated

February 1, 2012 and made as of June 5, 2012; and

(b)  broker agreement between Trimor and 1693926 Alberta Lid. dated September 24,

2012 and made as of June 5, 2012,

The Broker Agreements are similar (if not identical) to the broker agreements that Cash Store

has entered into with other TPLs, including 0678786 B.C. Ltd. (“067”).

® Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 76.

10 Affidavit of Erin Armstrong sworn April 13,2014 (the “Armstrong Affidavit”) at para. 9; Motion Record of Trimor,
Tab. 2.

1 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B”.
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Cash Store Expressly Stated that Trimor Owns the Trimor Loans and Receipts

13. In or about January 2012, TCSI offered $132.5 million in senior secured notes due in
2017 through a private placement (the “Secured Note Offering”). Cash Store’s Confidential
Preliminary Canadian Offering Circular dated January 12, 2012 (“Circular”) for the Secured
Note Offering advises potential investors that Cash Store “currently act[s] primarily as a broker
of short-term advances between our customers and third-party lenders, the effect of which is that
the loan portfolio we service is not financed on our balance sheet.”'* Cash Store further states
that “the advances provided by the third-party lenders are repayable by the customer fo the
third-pérty lenders and represent assets of the lenders; accordingly, they are not included on

our balance sheet,”!?

14. Cash Store repeated this express statement in its recent financial statements: When the
Company acts as a broker on behalf of income earning consumers seeking short-term advances,
the funding of short-term advances is provided by independent third party lenders. “The
advances provided by the third party lenders are repayable by the customer to the third party

lenders and represent assets of the lenders; accordingly, they are not included on the

12 Second Armstrong Affidavit sworn May 8, 2014 (“Second Armstrong Affidavit”), Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI
Circular at p. 4 (internal); Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 3.

B Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” at p. 38 (internal).
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Company’s balance sheet.”'* At no time has Cash Store included the Trimor Loans as assets on

its balance sheet."

15.  The Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (“PwC”) states that senior management of
Cash Store expressly advised PwC that Cash Store has always considered the TPL Funds, such

as the Trimor Funds, to be third party funds.'®

Cash Store is Merely a Broker — Trimor is the Owner of the Trimor Loans and Receipts

16.  When Trimor Funds are deployed as loans to Customers the creditor or lender is Trimor
and Cash Store takes a brokerage fee. The supporting agreements and disclosure statements
signed by Customers name Trimor as the credit grantor and the Customer as the borrower for the

. ]
Trimor Loans.'’

17. In its own financial statements and affidavit evidence filed in this and another

proceeding, Cash Store describes its relationship with the TPLs and Customers as follows:

(a) Cash Store “acts as either a broker between the customer and the third-party

lenders or as the direct lender to the customer;”"®

" Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” — Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the twelve and fifteen
months ended September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010 at p. F-11; Exhibit “B” — Financial Statements of TCSI for the
fifteen months ended September 30, 2010 and for the year ended June 30, 2009 at p. 8; Exhibit “C” — Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of TCSI for the three and twelve months ended September 30, 2011 at p. 26.

> pwC Report at p. 6 (internal). Affidavit of Murray McCann sworn April 22, 2014 (the “McCann Affidavit”) at para. 4;
Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 8.

1 pwC Report at p. 6 (internal).
7 PwC Report at p. 6 (internal).
18 second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 1 (internal).
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(b) Cash Store “serves as an alternative to traditional banks, acting either as a broker
between the customer and the third-party lenders or as the direct lender to the

customer;”19

(©) Under the broker agreements, “the TPLs make loans to Cash Store’s customers
and Cash Store provides services to the TPLs related to the collection of documents and
information from Cash Store’s customers, as well as loan repayment services. Cash Store

collects fees for brokering these transactions;””’

(d) “When an advance becomes due and payable, the [Broker Customer] must make
repayment of the principal and interest owing to the lender through [Cash Store], which

321

remits such amounts to the third party lender;””" and

(e) “[Cash Store] generates revenue by charging loan fees or broker fees and
interest... The third party lenders earn revenue through the interest charged and collected

on the short term advances to [Customers].”*

18.  In the Circular, Cash Store describes the relationship as follows:

(a) “The TPL Funds are deployed by Cash Store to broker customers, subsequently
received by Cash Store as repayment for such broker loans (subject to loan losses), and

then redeployed, repeating the process;”23

1% Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 1 (internal).

2 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 76.

2! Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at para. 25.
22 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at para. 26.
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(b)  “Similar to what is described above for brokered payday loans, TPLs provide the
funds for the line of credit, Cash Store arranges the line of credit, and Cash Store earns

9924

fees on these transactions;”™" and

©) In a chart setting out the relationship of certain stakeholders to Cash Store, the
TPLs’ amount is listed as $42.0 million with the following note: “Consisting of the TPL
Funds originally advanced, including funds deployed in brokered loans, Restricted Cash,

and cumulative losses.””

Trimor Could Refuse to Allow the Brokering of the Trimor Funds in its Sole Discretion

19. At any time during the term of the Broker Agreements, Trimor had the right to reduce the
funds it was willing to make available to Customers on 120 days notice. In other words, Trimor
could reduce the funds it made available for brokering to $0 and effectively terminate the Broker

Agreements on 120 days notice to Cash Store.”®

20.  The Broker Agreements further provide that Trimor may give notice to Cash Store that
Trimor Funds that have not yet been advanced as loans to Customers should not be advanced. In
addition, Trimor is not obligated to approve any particular loan or amount of loans.”” Lastly, as
stated in more detail below, the Broker Agreements also provide Trimor with the right to transfer

the Trimor Loans to another service provider.

B Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 78.

2 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 34.

25 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 58.

6 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 2.2,

27 Armstrong Affidavit at para. 13, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 2.3.
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21. In its Circular, Cash Store advised potential investors Trimor could reduce or withdraw
the Trimor Funds. The Circular states that “... our business will remain dependant on third-party
lenders who are willing to make funds available for lending to our customers. There are no
assurances that the existing or new third-party lenders will continue to make funds available

28
to our customers.”

22.  The TPLs, including Trimor, only made the TPL Funds available as a result of
representations that the funds were segregated, held in trust, and used for only a specific
purpose.?’ The TPLs relied on these representations by the Company, and, to the extent that these
representations were false, it should not be able to rely on those misrepresentations to Trimor and

the other TPLs’ detriment.

Trimor Assumed the Credit Risk of the Trimor Loans

23. Cash Store’s own evidence filed in this application is that, under the Broker Agreements,
“the TPLs are responsible for losses suffered due to uncollectible advances.”" Section 7.1 of
each of the Broker Agreements states that the TPLs assumed the credit risk of the loans (i.e. that
Customers would not repay), unless a loan was not repaid as a result of Cash Store’s improper

performance under the Broker Agreements.’!

2 gecond Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” at p. 16 (internal).

» Second Armstrong Affidavit at para. 6, Exhibit “G” and Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, questions 58 — 64.
3 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 77.

3! Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at para. 7.1 and Exhibit “T”, Affidavit of C. Warnock at para. 235.
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24.  If the interest received by the TPLs was less than 17.5 percent of the TPL funds, Cash
Store would make a payment to bring cash received up to 17.5 percent (a “Retention
Payment”). Cash Store made the Retention Payments as an inducement to ensure that TPLs

were receiving a return that was commensurate with the risk of lending.*

25.  In its Circular, Cash Store advised potential purchasers of its bonds that “we have made
the decision to voluntarily make retention payments to the third-party lenders as consideration
for continuing to advance funds to our customers.”” Although the third-party lenders have not
been guaranteed a return, “the decision has been made to voluntarily make retention payments to

the lenders to lessen the impact of loan losses experienced by the third-party lenders.”™*

26.  Cash Store’s practice of paying a retention payment to the TPLs implies that it
recognized the need to compensate the TPLs for the use of their funds and to encourage the TPLs

to continue to lend their funds to the Customers through Cash Store’s brokerage.>

27.  The DIP Lenders/Bond Holders were well aware of this practice and took no issue with

it.

Cash Store Represented that it Would Not Fund Operating Expenses with Trimor Funds

3 Transcript of Cross-Examination of Erin Armstrong on her affidavits sworn April 13 and May 8, 2014 held on May 21,
2014 (“Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript”), questions 53 — 55; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6. Transcript
of Cross-Examination of Sharon Fawecett on her affidavits sworn April 11 and 22, 2014 held on May 21, 2014 (“Fawcett
Cross-Examination Transcript”), question 131; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 7.

3 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” at p. 17 (internal).
34 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” at p: 38 (internal).
35 pwC Report atp. 11 (internal).
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28. Cash Store advised Trimor that it would not use Trimor Funds for any purpose other than
advancing loans in accordance with the Broker Agreements, unless Cash Store first obtained
Trimor’s written permission.*® Trimor always understood that Cash Store could not use Trimor
Funds for the payment of Cash Store’s general operating expenses.”” Cash Store also advised
Trimor that it had “never used [Trimor Funds] for any other purpose than loans to customers or

maintaining a loan float.”®

29. In a 2011 report to its auditors, the issue of using the Trimor Funds for operating
expenses was raised by and Trimor made it clear that Trimor Funds “are only to be used for

loans to broker customers.”’

30.  Further, Cash Store’s sworn evidence in a proceeding relating to one TPL is that the TPL
Funds would be accounted for as restricted cash and that “no operating expenses are funded from
any cash in the restricted cash account.”*® Cash Store definitively stated that its “finance team
monitors and reconciles the restricted and unrestricted cash accounts to ensure no operating

expenses are funded by any cash in the restricted cash account.”!

36 Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, questions 97, 98, 168 and Exhibits “17, “27, “3” and”9”,

37 Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, question 75.

¥ Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, Exhibit “3” and “9”.

¥ Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, Exhibit “2”,

 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at para. 36.
1 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at para. 36.
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Trimor Funds Were Held in a Segregated Account

31.  Any Trimor Funds or other TPL Funds that were not deployed as loans to Customers
were to be held separate and apart from Cash Store’s general operating account. The Broker
Agreements provide that all funds advanced by Trimor are to be held in a Designated Broker
Bank Account, which is a Cash Store bank account that is “designated by [Cash Store] for the
purposes of temporarily receiving funds from [Trimor]... before they are advanced to a

[Customer}.”42

32. Similarly, all payments made by Customers on account of any Trimor Loans are to be
deposited into a Designated Financier Bank Account, which is “the bank branch and account
designated by [Trimor] from time to time where (and into which) deposits of cash and cheques
received from [Customers], in respect of such [Trimor] funded loans, are to be cleared

(deposited) from time to time.”*

33. Cash Store advised another TPL, 067, that its funds would be held in an account that was

separate and apart from Cash Store’s own accounts and only contained TPL Funds.*

34.  Until January 2014 a separate bank account was used for deposit of TPL Funds, including
the Trimor Receipts, and the payment of Retention Payments.”” Cash Store’s own evidence filed

in another proceeding provides that TPL Funds were “pooled with all funds received from third

“2 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits A and B, s. 1.1(g) “Designated Broker Bank Account”.
3 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits A and B, s. 1.1(h) “Designated Broker Bank Account”.

“ Armstrong Affidavit at para. 17. Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, questions 39 —41. Fawcett Cross-
Examination Transcript, questions 33 — 38 and 48.

# pwC Report at p. 27 (internal).
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party lenders” and were “segregated and accounted for in the general ledger restricted cash
account.””*® Funds loaned directly to Customers by TPLs were drawn from the pool of available
TPL Funds in the account and transferred to the Customers. Cash Store collected interest and
loan repayments from the Customer on behalf of a TPL and deposited the funds into the pool.”*

Trimor understood that the Trimor Funds and Trimor Receipts were segregated and pooled in

this manner.*®

35.  In addition, PwC has confirmed that when Trimor Receipts were collected, and not yet
redeployed, they were segregated as restricted cash (the “Restricted Cash”) on Cash Store’s

balance sheet.*’

Cash Store Assured Trimor that it Held the Trimor Funds in Trust

36. Cash Store also assured Trimor that it would treat the Trimor Funds as being held in trust
for Trimor’s benefit. In an email from Michael Zvonkovic (former Vice-President, Financial
Reporting at TCSI) dated November 9, 2011, Mr. Zvonkovic stated that Cash Store “have not
use [sic] the [TPL Funds] for general operating expenses and is under the trust conditions as

outlined in the [Broker Agreements].”*® Trimor always understood that Cash Store agreed to

% Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 35 and 36.
4 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 37 and 43.
* Second Armstrong Affidavit at para. 10.

4 pwC Report at p. 6 (internal); Affidavit of Murray McCann sworn April 22, 2014 (the “McCann Affidavit”) at para. 4;
Motion Record of Trimor, Tab 8.

0 gecond Armstrong Affidavit at para. 6, Exhibit “G” — Email from Michael Zvonkovic dated November 9, 2011.
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hold the Trimor Funds and Receipts in trust for its benefit.’' Cash Store also represented to 067,

another TPL, that it would hold 067’s funds in trust and not co-mingle them with other funds.>

Broker Agreements are Terminated and Trimor is Entitled to Transfer Administration

37. The CRO has determined, in consultation with the Monitor, that it is necessary and
appropriate to implement a cessation of the brokered loan business and cease brokering new
loans in all jurisdictions in which the Cash Store operates.” Cash Store’s intention to cease all

brokered loan operations effectively terminates the Broker Agreements.

38.  Upon termination of the Broker Agreements, Trimor has the option to allow the
Applicants to continue to administer the Trimor Loans, transfer the administration of them to a
new service provider, or sell the Trimor Loans to a third party. Paragraph 6.4 of the Broker

Agreements provides that:

Upon the ending of the Term:

a. Unless [Trimor] determines to appoint a new broker (as contemplated by
Subsection 6.4(b)), [Cash Store] shall continue to provide the Broker Services
with respect to all Loans still outstanding as at the end of the Termy;

b. If [Trimor] notifies [Cash Store] that [Trimor] is designating a new broker to
handle the Loan portfolio (or [Trimor] is going to administer the Loan portfolio
directly or sell the Loan portfolio) and demands that [Cash Store] deliver the
Records related to the Loan portfolio, [Cash Store] shall, unless and to the extent
that the [Cash Store] elects to otherwise transfer the same under Section 2.10,
immediately deliver to [Trimor] (or the new broker or owner designated by
[Trimor]) all original Records related to all Loans and copies of all electronic
files containing information relating to the Loans. [Trimor] (or any new broker

5! Armstrong Cross-Examination Transcript, questions 64 and 95.
52 McCann Affidavit at paras. 4 and 5.
53 Aziz Affidavit at para. 29.
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or owner) shall be entitled to contact and carry out such realization actions
against the borrowers of the Loans which [Trimor] (or any new broker or
owner) determines in its complete discretion. The exercise by [Trimor] of this
right shall not diminish [Trimor’s] right to recover from [Cash Store] as a result of
breaches of this Agreement by [Cash Store] and to recover from [Cash Store]
under the indemnities set out in Article 7 (if applicable). [Emphasis added]*

39.  Trimor is accordingly entitled to treat the Broker Agreements as terminated and transfer

the administration of the Trimor Loans immediately.
Significant Prejudice to Trimor if the Trimor Loans are not Transferred

40.  Cash Store’s inability to broker new loans has already had a devastating impact on its
ability to collect payments due on the Trimor Loans. If Cash Store no longer brokers loans, there
is little incentive for Customers to repay.””> The CRO has already stated that the Applicants’
“ability to collect on Ontario brokered loans has been curtailed.””® Cash Store admits that “the
TPLs will likely encounter some difficulty collecting outstanding loans, as the Ontario Cash
Store branches are currently unable to broker new loans for customers™’ and “its ability to

collect outstanding customer accounts receivable has...been significantly impaired.”®

54 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at paras. 6.4.
5% Second Armstrong Affidavit at para. 12.
¢ Aziz Affidavit at para. 26,

57 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 175; Transcript of Cross-Examination of Steven Carlstrom held April 22, 2014, questions
286-292, 307 and 314; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6.

58 Carlstrom Affidavit at para, 101.
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41,  In fact, both Trimor and 067 collections have been declining significantly since January
2014.%° Trimor’s collections in Ontario decreased by 75 percent from January to March, 2014,

while its outstanding loan balance has only declined by 15 percent during this same period.

42.  Trimor’s loan position has also been declining rapidly since January 2014. The
proportion of Ontario Trimor Loans that are more than 30 days overdue (the “Overdue Loans™)
increased from 0 percent as at January 31, 2014 to 39 percent as at April 13, 2014.%° This decline
was caused by Cash Store’s inability to relend in Ontario and the same will occur in other

jurisdictions now that the brokering business is being shut down.

No Evidence of Prejudice to the Applicants if Trimor Loans Transferred

43.  There is no direct evidence of prejudice to the Applicants if Trimor takes the Trimor
Loans, and the related customer information, and commences collection activities to preserve
their value. In fact, the only evidence is that this is what the Applicants agreed to when they

entered into the Broker Agreements.

44,  As stated above, the Applicants have agreed that upon termination they would
“immediately deliver to [Trimor] (or the new broker or owner designated by [Trimor]) all
original Records related to all Loans and copies of all electronic files containing information
relating to the Loans. [Trimor] (or any new broker or owner) shall be entitled to contact and

carry out such realization actions against the borrowers of the Loans which [Trimor] (or any

% PwC Report at p. 19 (internal).
8 pwC Report at pp. 6 and 15 (internal).
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new broker or owner) determines in its complete discretion.” Trimor is simply seeking to take

the steps that the Applicants have agreed to. This is in no way prejudicial to the Applicants.

PART III - ISSUES AND LAW

45.  On this motion, the Court is asked to confirm Trimor’s ownership of the Trimor Loans
and Receipts and to allow Trimor or its agent to assume administration of the Trimor Loans to

maximize realizations in accordance with Trimor’s contractual rights.

A. Trimor Owns the Trimor Loans

46.  The evidence clearly demonstrates that Trimor owns the Trimor Loans and Receivables.
The Trimor Funds were made available and lent directly to the Customers pursuant to the Broker
Agreements. Cash Store merely facilitated and brokered the Trimor Loans on behalf of the

Customers. Cash Store did not acquire an interest in the Trimor Loans.*!

47.  Although proceeds from the Trimor Loans and Receipts may have been co-mingled with
other TPL Funds and Cash Store’s general operating funds in breach of the terms of the Broker
Agreements, the Trimor Funds have always been accounted for separately. The Trimor Funds
were segregated with all funds received from third party lenders and accounted for as restricted

cash. As a result, the Applicant’s creditors and other stakeholders could always discern from

6! pwC Report at p. 6 (internal). Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 1 (internal).
Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 25 and 26.
Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 76.
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public sources the amount of Trimor Funds that were deployed as loans to Customers or held as

a float for future loans.®?

48,  The Bondholders, the DIP Lender, and the other secured lenders (collectively the
“Secured Creditors”) have always known the nature of the relationship between Cash Store and
the TPLs. It is absurd for these parties to now claim that the Trimor Loans are property of Cash

Store and thereby potentially subject the Secured Creditors’ security interests.

49.  The Secured Creditors have benefitted from the broker fees paid on TPL loans for years.
They had knowledge that the TPL loans were being made with TPL Funds. They cannot
complain about the state of affairs when things go badly for Cash Store. Further, the Secured
Creditors should not be permitted to benefit from Cash Store’s breaches of its Broker

Agreements.

50.  While the nature of the relationship between Trimor and Cash Store is not typical, the
position of Trimor is analogous to that of a consignor of goods under a true consignment or a
purchaser of a true sale of receivables. A secured creditor of a consignee of goods under a true
consignment or of a purchaser of receivables under a true sale has no interest in the goods or
receivables consigned or sold. Similarly, the Secured Creditors have no interest in the TPL Loans

or their proceeds.

82 Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 35 to 37, 43.
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i) True sale of receivables

51.  The leading decision on the factors that a court should consider when determining

whether a transfer of financial assets is a sale or loan is Metropolitan Toronto Police Widows and

Orphans Fund v. Telus Communications Inc. (“Metropolitan”).63 In Metropolitan, the Court

considered whether the assignment of certain trade receivables was a true sale or a financing.

While the issue in the present motion is not the nature of an assignment, the indicia of ownership

set out in Metropolitan provides guidance on the factors to be considered when determining

ownership of the Trimor Loans.

52, The Court in Metropolitan set out the following factors as indicia of ownership:

(a) The intention of the parties as evidenced by the language of the agreement and
subsequent conduct of the parties (para. 40);

(b)  Whether the risks of ownership are transferred to the purchaser and the extent and
nature of recourse to the seller (para. 41);

(c) The right of the seller to surplus collections (para. 51);

(d) Certainty of determination of the purchase price (para. 57);

(e) The extent to which the assets are identifiable (para. 61); and

® Whether the seller has a right to redeem the receivables on payment of a specified

amount (para. 67).

53.  With respect to those factors, the Court noted the following:

63 (2003), 30 B.L.R. (3d) 288, 2003 CarswellOnt 168 (Sup. Ct.) rev’d on other grounds (2005) 75 OR (3d) 784; 5 B.L.R.
(4th) 251 (ONCA) leave to appeal to SCC refused.
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(a) When interpreting a contract, one must look not only to the intention of the parties
as expressed by the language of the contract itself but also to “the substance of the

transaction and not merely to the form” (paras. 38 and 40).

The Broker Agreements and evidence of all parties involved in the implementation of
those agreements demonstrate that it was a brokering arrangement, not a financing
agreement. 64

(b) “In any true sale transaction, there must be a transfer of ownership risk to the
purchaser. In the case of the sale of accounts receivable, the risk with regard to the non-
payment of the receivable must pass to the purchaser subject to whatever forms of

recourse the purchaser may have against the vendor” (para. 41).

Trimor took the credit risk on the Trimor Loans and has over $8 million in bad loans in
its loan portfolio according to Cash Store’s records.®’ The Secured Creditors take the
position that any limited capital protection that Trimor was to receive from Cash Store
was voluntary and, if they are to be believed, illusory.

() The absence of a right of the purchaser to retain the surplus from collection of
accounts receivable is not fatal to the transaction being categorized as a true sale (para.

56).

Trimor received the principal and interest paid on the Trimor Loans.%

 pwC Report at p. 6 (internal). Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 1 (internal).
Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 25 and 26.
Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 76.

65 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 77. Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at para. 7.1 and Exhibit “T”, Affidavit of C.
Warnock at para. 25.

8 Transcript of Cross-Examination of Erin Armstrong on her affidavits sworn April 13 and May 8, 2014 held on May 21,
2014 (“Armstrong Cross-Examination Transeript”), questions 53 — 55; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 6. Transcript
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(d) While all the factors must be considered, whether the seller has a right of
redemption is “the ultimate test to be applied to determine whether a particular

transaction should be interpreted as a secured loan or as a true sale” (para 67).

There is no provision in the Broker Agreements that allows the Applicants to redeem the
Trimor Loans. Instead, under the Broker Agreements Trimor has the right both to take
back its funds at any time on 120 days notice and to take over the administration of the
Trimor Loans upon the termination of Broker Agreement.®’

54.  The Court also made it clear that the fact that the seller acts as the collection agent is not

inconsistent with a finding that the transaction was a true sale (para. 66).

ii) Consignment of goods under a non-security “true” consignment

55, The relationship of a credit broker and credit grantor outlined in the Broker Agreements
is analogous to that of a non-security consignment, otherwise known as a “true” consignment. In
a true consignment the supplier of the consigned goods retains legal title until goods are sold and
title passes directly from the consignor to the ultimate purchaser. Similarly, the Broker
Agreements establish a commercial and legal relationship whereby the funds available for
lending to the Customers are supplied by the TPLs, like Trimor, who enter directly into a
debtor/creditor relationship with each of the Customers. In differentiating between a
consignment, which is in substance a security interest, and a true consignment which is not,

courts have set out several key indicia.

of Cross-Examination of Sharon Fawcett on her affidavits sworn April 11 and 22, 2014 held on May 21, 2014 (“Fawcett
Cross-Examination Transcript”), question 131; Motion Record of Trimor at Tab 7.

7 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss, 2.2 and 6.4,
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56. In Access Cash International Inc. v Elliot Lake and North Shore Corporation for

Business Development, the Court set out the following key indicia that differentiate a true

consignment from a security consignment:68

a)

b)

g)

h)

)

The goods are shown as an asset in the books/records of the supplier and are not
shown as an asset in the books/records of the merchant.

It is apparent in the merchant’s dealings with others that the goods belong to the
supplier rather than the merchant.

Title of goods remains with the supplier.

The supplier has the right to demand the return of the goods at any time.
The merchant has right to return unsold goods to the supplier.

The merchant is required to segregate the supplier’s goods from his own.

The merchant is required to maintain separate books and records in respect of the
supplier’s goods.

The merchant is required to hold sale proceeds in trust for the supplier.
The supplier has the right to stipulate a fixed price or a price floor for the goods.

The merchant has the right to inspect the goods and the premises in which they
are stored.

57. A number of the above indicia exist in respect of the relationship between Trimor and

Cash Store, including the fact that Trimor has the right to demand the return of the Trimor

Funds® and the fact that Cash Store is required to segregate the Trimor Funds and were only

allowed to use them for brokering.”® Further, the loan documentation in respect of the Trimor

58 (2000), 1 P.P.S.A.C. (3d) 209, 2000 CarswellOnt 2824 at para. 21 (Sup. Ct.) [4ccess Cash].
5 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 2.2.
0 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 1.1(g) and (h).
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Loan is directly between the Customers and Trimor.”! Paragraph 4 of the April 30, 2014 order

makes it clear that any non-Ontario loans that were advanced after that Order was made belong

to Trimor.
B. Trimor Should be Allowed to Realize on the Trimor Loans
58.  The Broker Agreements make it clear that upon termination Trimor has the option to take

over the administration of the Trimor Loans.”* Despite this fact, the Applicants are seeking to
trap the Trimor Loans with Cash Store and allow them to realize on the Trimor Loans in a

situation where it is clear that Cash Store cannot maximize recoveries or minimize costs.

59.  Although the CCAA is broad in scope, its scope it not limitless and there are
circumstances, such as here in respect of the Trimor Loans, in which the granting of a stay or

continuation of a stay is not justified.

60.  As Justice Tysoe said on behalf of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in Cliffs Over

Maple Bay Investments Ltd. v. Fisgard Capital Corp. (“Cliffs”),”

[...] the ability of the court to grant or continue a stay under s. 11 is not a free
standing remedy that the court may grant whenever an insolvent company wishes to
undertake a “restructuring”, a term with a broad meaning including such things as
refinancings, capital injections and asset sales and other downsizing. Rather, s. 11 is
ancillary to the fundamental purpose of the CCAA, and a stay of proceedings
freezing the rights of creditors should only be granted in furtherance of the CCAA’s

7' pwC Report at p. 6 (internal). Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “A” - Preliminary TCSI Circular at p. 1 (internal).
Second Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibit “I” — Affidavit of C. Warnock sworn September 30, 2013 at paras. 25 and 26.
Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 76.

72 Armstrong Affidavit, Exhibits “A” and “B” at ss. 6.4,
32008 BCCA 323, 2008 CarswellBC 1756 at para. 26.
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fundamental purpose.

61.  The Applicants are seeking the Court’s assistance to allow them to effectively terminate
the Broker Agreements, but at the same time refusing to allow Trimor to mitigate its damages by
assuming administration of the Trimor Loans in accordance with the terms of the Broker
Agreement. This is not conduct that the CCAA stay was intended to accommodate and the Court

ought not to extend the ambit of the CCAA stay in this manner to the prejudice of Trimor.

62. Cliffs was cited with approval in a recent decision of the Ontario Superior Court in
Romspen Investment Corporation v. 6711162 Canada Inc.,”* where the Court was faced with
competing applications by the secured creditor for the appointment of a receiver and the debtor
company for an initial CCAA order. In coming to the conclusion that an initial order ought not to

be granted, Justice Brown made the following observations:”

At a high level, a certain unfairness characterizes the plan of the CCAA Applicants.
Under their plan, they would see the development of the Midland Condo Project to its
end and use the unit sales proceeds to pay off Romspen in full and, evidently, to pay
most of the amounts sought by the lien claimants. They would then develop out the
other secured properties to propose a plan to the other unsecured creditors, but
according to Soorty most of the unsecured debt consists of sharcholders loans from
Cocov and himself, Reduced to its essence, the plan seems to be no more than asking
the court to impose on Romspen an extension of the term of the Loan beyond its 2~
year term and to allow management to continue operating as they have in the past. In
other words, the CCAA Applicants do not propose the compromise of debt or the
liquidation of part of their businesses — they want to carry on just as they have in the
past.

I accept the evidence of Romspen about the unfairness of such an approach. Romspen
stated that it had “absolutely no confidence” in the ability of Soorty and Cocov to
manage the affairs of the CCAA Applicants during any stay period, pointing to them

742014 ONSC 2781, 2014 CarswellOnt 5836 [Romspen).
™ Romspen at paras, 72 and 73.
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letting the first general contractor on the Midland Condo Project, Dineen, place liens
on it, and allowing subsequent contractors to do so as well [...].

63.  In concluding that CCAA relief was not appropriate in the circumstances, the Court also
cited the decision in Dondeb Inc. (Re) (“Dona’eb”),76 where the Court also determined that
CCAA relief should not be granted to the applicant company. At the conclusion of his reasons in

Dondeb, Justice Campbell stated as follows:”’

The CCAA is a flexible instrument, which with judicial discretion, is capable of
permitting restructuring, including in appropriate situations, liquidation.

In my view the use of the CCA4 for the purpose of liquidation must be used with

caution when liquidation is the end goal, particularly when there are alternatives
such as an overall less costly receivership that can accomplish the same overall goal.

64. In his earlier decision in Romspen Investment Corporation v. Edgeworth Properties et
al.,”® Justice Campbell determined that a better alternative in that case was to carve the applicant,
who held a mortgage over certain of the debtor companies’ real property, out of the CCAA
proceeding, to make a declaration as to the validity and priority of the applicant’s mortgage, and
to permit the applicant to proceed with judicial sale/foreclosure proceedings in respect of the real
property subject to its security. Justice Campbell made this order over the objections of certain

investors in the debtor companies who challenged the validity of the applicant’s security.

65. Cash Store does not intend to carry out a restructuring of the brokering business. It

intends to close that business down. In fact, it states in its materials that it has already

769012 ONSC 6087, 2012 CarswellOnt 15528 [Dondeb].
" Dondeb at paras. 33 and 34.
78 2012 ONSC 4693, 2012 CarswellOnt 10902.
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commenced that process without prior consultation with the TPLs. There is no benefit to Cash

Store continuing to administer the TPL Loans. There is, however, significant prejudice to

Trimor and the other TPLs if the CCAA stay continues to stand in the way of the efficient and

effective collection of the TPL Loans. This prejudice arises from, among other things:

66.

(a the fact that the Cash Store cannot broker new loans, which will “significantly

impair” its ability to collect the Trimor Loans;”

(b) the fact that the Cash Store intends to take no steps to collect in Ontario and only

limited steps in other jurisdictions;go

(c) the potential for huge professional fees and other expenses associated with any
liquidation conducted under the CCAA, and the projected fees for these proceedings in

particular; and

(d)  the risk that Cash Store’s restructuring may not succeed and that the task of
collecting the Trimor Loans will be left for yet another future (and potentially costly)

insolvency proceeding.

The fundamental purpose of the CCAA is not advanced by permitting Cash Store to

continue to administer the TPL loans as there is to be no restructuring of that business.

67.

Trimor should be allowed to take over the administration of its loans at its cost.

7 Carlstrom Affidavit at para. 101.
8 Aziz Affidavit at para. 38.
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ORDER REQUESTED

68.  For the reasons set out above, Trimor respectfully requests that this Court grant a
declaration that Trimor owns the Trimor Loans and Receipts, and order that Cash Store

immediately transfer the Loans, and pay the Receipts, to Trimor or its designated administrator.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 30™ day of May, 2014.

e

Brett Harrison and Adam Maerov
McMillan LLP

Lawyers for Trimor Annuity Focus Limited
Partnership #5
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SCHEDULE “B”
RELEVANT STATUTES

Payday Loans Act, 2008 regulations

30.1 (1) A licensee shall not request or require the borrower under a payday loan
agreement to do any of the following or suggest to the borrower that the borrower do any
of the following:

1. Repay or pay the advance or any part of it to the lender or anyone else until the
end of the term of the agreement.

2. Pay the cost of borrowing or any part of it to anyone until the end of the term of
the agreement.

(2) A licensee shall not, directly or indirectly on behalf of any other person, request or
require the borrower under a payday loan agreement to do any of the actions described in
paragraph 1 or 2 of subsection (1) or suggest to the borrower that the borrower do any of
those actions.

(3) If a licensee contravenes subsection (1) or (2), the borrower is only required to repay
the advance to the lender and is not liable to pay the cost of borrowing.
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